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Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 6-K contains forward-looking statements. James Hardie Industries plc (the “company”) may from time to time make forward-looking statements in its periodic
reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, on Forms 20-F and 6-K, in its annual reports to shareholders, in offering circulars, invitation
memoranda and prospectuses, in media releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by the company’s officers, directors or employees to analysts,
institutional investors, existing and potential lenders, representatives of the media and others. Statements that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements and
such forward-looking statements are statements made pursuant to the Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Examples of forward-looking statements include:

. statements  about the company’s future
performance;

. projections of the company’s results of operations or financial
condition;

. statements regarding the company’s plans, objectives or goals, including those relating to strategies, initiatives, competition, acquisitions, dispositions and/or its
products;

. expectations concerning the costs associated with the suspension or closure of operations at any of the company’s plants and future plans with respect to any
such plants;

. expectations concerning the costs associated with the significant capital expenditure projects at any of the company’s plants and future plans with respect to

any such projects;

. expectations regarding the extension or renewal of the company’s credit facilities including changes to terms, covenants or
ratios;

. expectations concerning dividend payments and share buy-
backs;

. statements concerning the company’s corporate and tax domiciles and structures and potential changes to them, including potential tax
charges;

. statements regarding tax liabilities and related audits, reviews and

proceedings;

. statements regarding the possible consequences and/or potential outcome of legal proceedings brought against us and the potential liabilities, if any,
associated with such proceedings;

. expectations about the timing and amount of contributions to AICF, a special purpose fund for the compensation of proven Australian asbestos-related personal
injury and death claims;

. expectations concerning the adequacy of the company’s warranty provisions and estimates for future warranty-related
costs;
. statements regarding the company’s ability to manage legal and regulatory matters (including but not limited to product liability, environmental, intellectual

property and competition law matters) and to resolve any such pending legal and regulatory matters within current estimates and in anticipation of certain third-
party recoveries; and

. statements about economic conditions, such as changes in the US economic or housing market conditions or changes in the market conditions in the Asia
Pacific region, the levels of new home construction and home renovations, unemployment levels, changes in consumer income, changes or stability in housing
values, the availability of mortgages and other financing, mortgage and other interest rates, housing affordability and supply, the levels of foreclosures and
home resales, currency exchange rates, and builder and consumer confidence.
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Words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “target,” “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “forecast,” “guideline,” “aim,” “will,” “should,” “likely,” “continue,” “may,”
“objective,” “outlook” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements and all such forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the following
cautionary statements.

Forward-looking statements are based on the Company’s current expectations, estimates and assumptions and because forward-looking statements address future results,
events and conditions, they, by their very nature, involve inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are unforeseeable and beyond the Company’s control. Such known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors may cause actual results, performance or other achievements to differ materially from the anticipated results, performance
or achievements expressed, projected or implied by these forward-looking statements. These factors, some of which are discussed
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under “Risk Factors” in Section 3 of the Form 20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 18 May 2017, include, but are not limited to: all matters relating to
or arising out of the prior manufacture of products that contained asbestos by current and former Company subsidiaries; required contributions to AICF, any shortfall in AICF
and the effect of currency exchange rate movements on the amount recorded in the Company’s financial statements as an asbestos liability; the continuation or termination
of the governmental loan facility to AICF; compliance with and changes in tax laws and treatments; competition and product pricing in the markets in which the Company
operates; the consequences of product failures or defects; exposure to environmental, asbestos, putative consumer class action or other legal proceedings; general
economic and market conditions; the supply and cost of raw materials; possible increases in competition and the potential that competitors could copy the Company’s
products; reliance on a small number of customers; a customer’s inability to pay; compliance with and changes in environmental and health and safety laws; risks of
conducting business internationally; compliance with and changes in laws and regulations; currency exchange risks; dependence on customer preference and the
concentration of the Company’s customer base on large format retail customers, distributors and dealers; dependence on residential and commercial construction markets;
the effect of adverse changes in climate or weather patterns; possible inability to renew credit facilities on terms favorable to the Company, or at all; acquisition or sale of
businesses and business segments; changes in the Company’s key management personnel; inherent limitations on internal controls; use of accounting estimates; the
integration of Fermacell into our business; and all other risks identified in the Company’s reports filed with Australian, Irish and US securities regulatory agencies and
exchanges (as appropriate). The Company cautions you that the foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive and that other risks and uncertainties may cause actual results to
differ materially from those referenced in the Company’s forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made and are
statements of the Company’s current expectations concerning future results, events and conditions. The Company assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking
statements or information except as required by law.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

James Hardie Industries plc
Date: 22 May 2018 By: /s/ Natasha Mercer
Natasha Mercer
Company Secretary
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Exhibit 99.1
Results for Announcement to the Market

James Hardie Industries plc
ARBN 097 829 895

Appendix 4E - Preliminary Final Report Year Ended 31 March 2018

Key Information Year Ended 31 March

2018 2017

USSM USSM Movement
Net Sales From Ordinary Activities 2,054.5 1,921.6 Up 7%
Profit From Ordinary Activities After Tax Attributable to Shareholders 146.1 276.5 Down 47%
Net Profit Attributable to Shareholders 146.1 276.5 Down 47%
Net Tangible (Liabilities) Assets per Ordinary Share US$(0.52) US$(0.51) Down 2%

Dividend Information

A FY2018 second half ordinary dividend (“FY2018 second half dividend”) of US30.0 cents per security is payable to CUFS holders on 3 August
2018.

A FY2018 first half ordinary dividend (“FY2018 first half dividend”) of US10.0 cents per security was paid to CUFS holders on 23 February
2018.

The record date to determine entitlements to the FY2018 second half dividend is 7 June 2018 (on the basis of proper instruments of transfer received by the Company’s
registrar, Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd, Level 4, 60 Carrington Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia, by 5:00pm if securities are not CHESS approved, or
security holding balances established by 5:00pm or such later time permitted by ASTC Operating Rules if securities are CHESS approved).

The FY2018 first half dividend, the FY2018 second half dividend and future dividends will be unfranked for Australian taxation
purposes.

The company will be required to deduct Irish DWT (currently 20% of the gross dividend amount) from this dividend and future dividends, unless the beneficial owner has
completed and returned a non-resident declaration form (DWT Form).

The Australian currency equivalent amount of the FY2018 second half dividend to be paid to CUFS holders will be announced after the record date. The amount payable to
shareholders who have elected to receive their dividend in NZ dollars or British pounds will also be announced on the same date.

No dividend reinvestment plan is currently in operation for the FY2018 second half
dividend.

The FY2017 second half ordinary dividend (‘FY2017 second half dividend”) of US28.0 cents per security was paid to CUFS holders on 4 August
2017.

Movements in Controlled Entities during the year ended 31 March 2018

The following entities were created or acquired:

James Hardie NL1 B.V. (27 October 2017), James Hardie NL2 B.V. (27 October 2017), James Hardie NL3 B.V. (27 October 2017), James Hardie Germany GmbH (30 October 2017),
James Hardie Technology Holdings 1 Limited (24 January 2018), James Hardie Technology Holdings 2 Limited (24 January 2018)

Audit

The results and information included within this Preliminary Final Report have been prepared using US GAAP and have been subject to an independent audit by external auditors.

Results for the 4th Quarter and Year Ended 31 March 2018
Contents

Media Release

Management's Analysis of Results
Management Presentation
Consolidated Financial Statements

o bd -~

James Hardie Industries plc is incorporated under the laws of Ireland with its corporate seat in Dublin, Ireland. The liability of members is limited. The information contained in the above documents should be read in conjunction
with the James Hardie 2018 Annual Report which can be found on the company website at www.jameshardie.com.
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Exhibit 99.2

James Hardie Announces Adjusted Net Operating Profit of
US$81.1 million for Q4 Fiscal Year 2018 and US$291.3 million for the full year ended 31 March 2018

James Hardie announces a fiscal year 2018 second half dividend of US 30.0 cents per security

James Hardie today announced results for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018 and the full year ended 31 March 2018:

« Group Adjusted net operating profit of US$81.1 million for the quarter and US$291.3 million for the full year, an increase of 49% and 17%,
respectively, compared to the prior corresponding periods (“pcp”);

«  Group Adjusted EBIT of US$103.0 million for the quarter and US$397.5 million for the full year, an increase of 34% and 12%, respectively,
compared to pcp;

»  Group net sales of US$525.9 million for the quarter and US$2,054.5 million for the full year, an increase of 6% and 7%, respectively,
compared to pcp;

*  North America Fiber Cement Segment volume increased 1% for the quarter and full year, compared to
pcp;

» North America Fiber Cement Segment net sales of US$410.1 million for the quarter and US$1,578.1 million for the full year, an increase of
6%, compared to pcp;

* North America Fiber Cement Segment EBIT margin of 25.2% for the quarter and 24.2% for the full

year;
» International Fiber Cement Segment EBIT margin of 23.1% for the quarter and 23.5% for the full year;
and
« The Fermacell acquisition closed on 3 April
2018.

CEO Commentary

James Hardie CEO Louis Gries said, “Our North America Fiber Cement Segment for the quarter and full year delivered top line growth of 6%, driven
primarily by higher net prices. In the first half of the year, our exterior volume growth was below our expectations and lower than market growth, as
volume was significantly impacted by our capacity constrained position. However, in the second half of the year we began to build momentum and
exteriors volume for the second half of the year grew in-line with our market index. Additionally, we exited fiscal year 2018 with an EBIT margin at
the top end of our target range and our manufacturing performance within expected levels, despite input costs which continue to increase."

He continued, “We enter fiscal year 2019 with no constraints on capacity and are focused on driving improved primary demand growth.”

He added, “Within our International Fiber Cement business, net sales increased 9% for the quarter and 12% for the full year due to strong growth in
our Asia Pacific business. Furthermore, EBIT increased 10% for the quarter and 14% for the full year, primarily driven by the strong performance of
our Australian business.”

Mr. Gries concluded, “Our group results reflect strong Adjusted EBIT growth for the quarter and full year, driven by improving North America results
as the year progressed and consistently strong Asia Pacific business results throughout the year. In addition to the financial results for fiscal year
2018, James Hardie made a significant strategic acquisition of Fermacell, which positions the Company for meaningful long-term growth in Europe.”

Media Release: James Hardie - Full Year ended 31 March 2018
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Outlook

We expect to see the steady growth in the US housing market to continue into fiscal year 2019. The single family new construction market and repair
and remodel market are expected to grow similarly to the year-on-year growth experienced in fiscal year 2018. The Company expects new
construction starts between approximately 1.2 and 1.3 million.

We expect our North America Fiber Cement segment EBIT margin to be in the top end of our stated target range of 20% to 25% for fiscal year 2019.
This expectation is based upon the Company continuing to achieve strong operating performance in its plants, stable exchange rates and a
moderate inflationary trend for input costs.

Net sales from the Australian business are expected to trend in line with the average growth of the domestic repair and remodel and single family
detached housing markets in the eastern states of Australia.

Further Information

Readers are referred to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Analysis of Results for the fourth quarter and full
year ended 31 March 2018 for additional information regarding the Company’s results, including information regarding income taxes, the asbestos
liability and contingent liabilities.

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Information; Australian Equivalent Terminology

This Media Release includes financial measures that are not considered a measure of financial performance under generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (GAAP), such as Adjusted net operating profit and Adjusted EBIT. These non-GAAP financial measures should not be
considered to be more meaningful than the equivalent GAAP measure. Management has included such measures to provide investors with an
alternative method for assessing its operating results in a manner that is focused on the performance of its ongoing operations and excludes the
impact of certain legacy items, such as asbestos adjustments. Additionally, management uses such non-GAAP financial measures for the same
purposes. However, these non-GAAP financial measures are not prepared in accordance with US GAAP, may not be reported by all of the
Company’s competitors and may not be directly comparable to similarly titled measures of the Company’s competitors due to potential differences in
the exact method of calculation. For additional information regarding the non-GAAP financial measures presented in this Media Release, including a
reconciliation of each non-GAAP financial measure to the equivalent US GAAP measure, see the section titled “Non-US GAAP Financial Measures”
included in the Company’s Management’s Analysis of Results for the fourth quarter and full year ended 31 March 2018.

In addition, this Media Release includes financial measures and descriptions that are considered to not be in accordance with US GAAP, but which
are consistent with financial measures reported by Australian companies, such as operating profit, EBIT and EBIT margin. Since the Company
prepares its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with US GAAP, the Company provides investors with a table and definitions
presenting cross-references between each US GAAP financial measure used in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements to the equivalent
non-US GAAP financial measure used in this press release. See the sections titled “Non-US GAAP Financial Measures” included in the Company’s
Management’s Analysis of Results for the fourth quarter and full year ended 31 March 2018.

Media Release: James Hardie - Full Year ended 31 March 2018 2
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Media Release contains forward-looking statements and information that are necessarily subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many
factors could cause the actual results, performance or achievements of James Hardie to be materially different from those expressed or implied in
this release, including, among others, the risks and uncertainties set forth in Section 3 “Risk Factors” in James Hardie’s Annual Report on Form 20-F
for the year ended 31 March 2018; changes in general economic, political, governmental and business conditions globally and in the countries in
which James Hardie does business; changes in interest rates, changes in inflation rates; changes in exchange rates; the level of construction
generally; changes in cement demand and prices; changes in raw material and energy prices; changes in business strategy and various other
factors. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary
materially from those described herein. James Hardie assumes no obligation to update or correct the information contained in this Media Release
except as required by law.

END

Media/Analyst Enquiries:
Jason Miele
Vice President, Investor and Media Relations

Telephone: +61 2 8845 3352
Email: media@jameshardie.com.au

Media Release: James Hardie - Full Year ended 31 March 2018
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Exhibit 99.3

Management’s Analysis of Results

This Management’s Analysis of Results forms part of a package of information about James Hardie Industries plic’s results. It should be read in
conjunction with the other parts of this package, including the Media Release, the Management Presentation and the consolidated financial
statements. Except as otherwise indicated in this Management's Analysis of Results, James Hardie Industries plc is referred to as “JHI plc.” JHI plc,
together with its direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, are collectively referred to as “James Hardie,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us.”
Definitions for certain capitalized terms used in this Management's Analysis of Results can be found in the section titled “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures.”

This Management's Analysis of Results includes financial measures that are not considered a measure of financial performance under generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States (“US GAAP”). These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered to be more
meaningful than the equivalent US GAAP measures. Management has included such measures to provide investors with an alternative method for
assessing its operating results in a manner that is focused on the performance of its ongoing operations and excludes the impact of certain legacy
items, such as asbestos adjustments. Additionally, management uses such non-GAAP financial measures for the same purposes. However, these
non-GAAP financial measures are not prepared in accordance with US GAAP, may not be reported by all of the Company’s competitors and may not
be directly comparable to similarly titted measures of the Company’s competitors due to potential differences in the exact method of calculation. For
additional information regarding the non-GAAP financial measures presented in this Management’s Analysis of Results, including a reconciliation of
each non-GAAP financial measure to the equivalent US GAAP measure, see the section titled “Non-US GAAP Financial Measures.” In addition, this
Management’s Analysis of Results includes financial measures and descriptions that are considered to not be in accordance with US GAAP, but
which are consistent with financial measures reported by Australian companies. Since James Hardie prepares its consolidated financial statements
in accordance with US GAAP, the Company provides investors with a table and definitions presenting cross-references between each US GAAP
financial measure used in the Company’s consolidated financial statements to the equivalent non-US GAAP financial measure used in this
Management’s Analysis of Results. See the section titled “Non-US GAAP Financial Measures.”

These documents, along with an audio webcast of the Management Presentation on 22 May 2018, are available from the Investor Relations area of
our website at hitp./www.ir jameshardie.com.au

Media/Analyst Enquiries:
Jason Miele
Vice President, Investor and Media Relations

Telephone: +61 2 8845 3352
Email: media@jameshardie.com.au

Management's Analysis of Results: James Hardie - 4th Quarter and Full Fiscal Year 2018



GROUP RESULTS

James Hardie Industries plc

®JamesHardie

Results for the 4th Quarter and Full Year Ended 31 March

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change % FY18 FY17 Change %
Net sales 5259 | $ 494.3 6 $ 2,0545 | $ 1,921.6 7
Cost of goods sold (334.8) (333.5) — (1,324.3) (1,246.9) 6)
Gross profit 191.1 160.8 19 730.2 674.7 8
Selling, general and administrative expenses (85.1) (75.9) (12) (311.3) (291.6) (7)
Research and development expenses (8.9) (8.1) (10) (33.3) (30.3) (10)
Asbestos adjustments (192.9) 1.4 (156.4) 40.4
EBIT (95.8) 78.2 229.2 393.2 (42)
Net interest expense (7.9) (7.2) (10) (29.5) (27.5) (7)
Loss on early debt extinguishment! — — (26.1) —
Other income 0.5 0.1 0.7 1.3 (46)
Operating (loss) profit before income taxes (103.2) 711 174.3 367.0 (53)
Income tax benefit (expense) 45.6 (26.6) (28.2) (90.5) 69
Net operating (loss) profit (57.6) | $ 445 $ 1461 | $ 276.5 (47)
Earnings per share - basic (US cents) (13) 10 33 62
Earnings per share - diluted (US cents) (13) 10 33 62
Volume (mmsf) 715.7 704.5 2 2,767.5 2,702.6 2

11n December 2017, we redeemed our 5.875% senior notes due 2023 and recorded a loss on early debt extinguishment in connection with this redemption. Readers are referred to
Note 9 of our 31 March 2018 consolidated financial statements for further information related to long-term debt.

Net sales for the quarter and full year increased 6% and 7%, respectively, from
the prior corresponding periods to US$525.9 million and US$2,054.5 million,
respectively. For both periods, net sales were favorably impacted by a higher
average net sales price and higher sales volumes in the North America Fiber
Cement segment, as well as higher sales volumes in the International Fiber
Cement segment.

Gross profit of US$191.1 million for the quarter and US$730.2 million for the full
year increased 19% and 8%, respectively, when compared to the prior
corresponding periods. Gross profit margin of 36.3% for the quarter and 35.5% for
the full year increased 3.8 percentage points and0.4 percentage points,
respectively, when compared with the prior corresponding periods.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) of US$85.1 million for the quarter
and US$311.3 million for the full year increased 12% and 7%, respectively, when
compared to the prior corresponding periods. For the quarter, the increase is
primarily driven by acquisition costs and higher stock compensation expense. For
the full year, the increase is primarily driven by acquisition costs and higher labor
costs. Acquisition costs relate to our previously announced acquisition of
Fermacell and its subsidiaries.

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses for the quarter andfull year
increased 10% when compared to the

prior corresponding periods, primarily due to an increase in R&D spend for the
Other Businesses segment, as well as an increase in the overall number of
projects undertaken by the R&D team.

Asbestos adjustments for the quarter and full year primarily reflects the
unfavorable movement in the actuarial adjustment of US$195.8 million recorded
at year end in line with KPMGA's actuarial report.

Other income for the quarter andfull year reflects the gains and losses on
interest rate swaps.

Net operating (loss) profit for the quarter moved to a loss compared to the prior
corresponding period, primarily driven by the unfavorable movement in asbestos
adjustments and acquisition costs, partially offset by an income tax benefit and
the favorable underlying performance of the operating business units.

Net operating profit for thefull year decreased compared to the prior
corresponding period, primarily driven by the unfavorable movement in asbestos
adjustments, the loss on early debt extinguishment and acquisition costs, partially
offset by lower income tax expense and the favorable underlying performance of
the operating business units.

Management's Analysis of Results: James Hardie - 4th Quarter and Full Fiscal Year 2018
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®JamesHardie

North America Fiber Cement Segment

Operating results for the North America Fiber Cement segment were as follows:

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change FY18 FY17 Change

Volume (mmsf) 586.8 578.6 1% 2,238.8 2,215.4 1%
Average net sales price per unit (per msf) US$692 Us$662 5% US$698 Us$665 5%
Net sales 4101 387.7 6% 1,578.1 1,493.4 6%
Gross profit 23% 8%
Gross margin (%) 5.2 pts 0.6 pts
EBIT 103.4 76.1 36% 381.9 343.9 11%
EBIT margin (%) 252 19.6 5.6 pts 242 23.0 1.2 pts

Net sales for the quarter and full year were favorably impacted by a higher average net sales price and slightly higher volumes. The increase in
average net sales price primarily reflects the annual change in our strategic pricing effective April 2017, as well as a favorable product mix.
Additionally, the marginal growth in volume for the quarter and the full year, compared to the prior corresponding periods, was due to dampened
demand driven by our capacity constraints in the prior fiscal year and first half of fiscal year 2018, as well as the discontinuation of an interior
product line. Our exterior volume trend continues to improve and grew in line with our market index in the current quarter.

We note that there are a number of data sources that measure US housing market growth. At the time of filing our results for the period ended 31
March 2018, only US Census Bureau data was available. According to the US Census Bureau, single family housing starts for the quarter were
193,900, or 7% above the prior corresponding period. For the full year ended 31 March 2018, single family housing starts were 861,400, or 9%
above the prior corresponding period.

While we have provided US Census Bureau data above, we note that this data can be different from other indices we use to measure US housing
market growth, namely the McGraw-Hill Construction Residential Starts Data (also known as Dodge), the National Association of Home Builders and
Fannie Mae.

The change in gross margin for the quarter and full year can be attributed to the following components:

For the Three Months Ended 31 March 2018:

Higher average net sales price 2.1 pts
Lower start up costs 0.9 pts
Lower production costs 2.2 pts
Total percentage point change in gross margin 5.2 pts
For the Full Year Ended 31 March 2018:

Higher average net sales price 2.9 pts
Lower start up costs 0.2 pts
Higher production costs (2.5 pts)
Total percentage point change in gross margin 0.6 pts

Management's Analysis of Results: James Hardie - 4th Quarter and Full Fiscal Year 2018
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Gross margin for the quarter increased 5.2 percentage points compared to the prior corresponding period, primarily due to lower production costs,
higher average net sales price and lower start up costs. The lower production costs compared to the prior corresponding period were primarily driven
by favorable plant performance and lower freight costs, partially offset by higher input costs. Lower freight costs were driven by efficiencies in freight
management as we were capacity constrained in the prior corresponding quarter, partially offset by higher market prices in the current quarter.

Gross margin for the full year increased 0.6 percentage points compared to the prior corresponding period, primarily driven by higher average net
sales price, partially offset by higher production costs. The higher production costs for the full year were primarily driven by higher freight costs and
higher input costs. While production costs were favorable for the second half of fiscal year 2018 as compared to the prior corresponding period, this
favorability was more than offset by the unfavorable performance during the first half of fiscal year 2018. The higher production costs in the first half
of fiscal year 2018 were driven by elevated spending in freight, labor and raw materials, as well as production inefficiencies across the
manufacturing network.

EBIT for the quarter and full year increased 36% and 11%, respectively, compared to the prior corresponding periods, primarily driven by a 23% and
8% increase in gross profit, respectively.

EBIT margin for the quarter and full year increased 5.6 percentage points and 1.2 percentage points to 25.2% and 24.2%, respectively, when
compared to the prior corresponding periods, driven primarily by the increase in gross margin as described above. In addition, as a percentage of
sales, SG&A expenses decreased 0.4 percentage points and 0.6 percentage points for the quarter and full year, respectively, when compared to the
prior corresponding periods.

International Fiber Cement Segment

The International Fiber Cement Segment is comprised of the following businesses: (i) Australia Fiber Cement, (i) New Zealand Fiber Cement,
(iii) Philippines Fiber Cement, and (iv) Europe Fiber Cement.

Operating results for the International Fiber Cement segment in US dollars were as follows:

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change FY18 FY17 Change

Volume (mmsf) 128.9 125.9 2% 528.7 487.2 9%
Average net sales price per unit (per msf) US$773 US$757 2% US$774 US$775 —%
Net sales 112.5 102.8 9% 461.7 411.8 12%
Gross profit 7% 12%
Gross margin (%) (0.7 pts) (0.2 pts)
EBIT 26.0 23.6 10% 108.4 95.1 14%
EBIT margin (%) 231 23.0 0.1 pts 235 231 0.4 pts

Volume for the quarter and full year increased 2% and 9%, respectively, compared to the prior corresponding periods. Volume for the quarter was
primarily driven by volume growth in our Australian business, partially offset by a decrease in volume in Europe. Volume growth for the full year was
primarily driven by strong growth in our Australian and Philippines businesses.

Net sales for the quarter and full year increased 9% and 12%, respectively, compared to the prior corresponding periods, primarily due to higher
volume. Additionally, net sales for the quarter was also impacted by higher average

Management's Analysis of Results: James Hardie - 4th Quarter and Full Fiscal Year 2018
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net sales price in US dollars. The higher average net sales price was primarily driven by strategic pricing strategies and favorable product mix.
Gross profit for the quarter and full year increased 7% and 12%, respectively, compared to the prior corresponding periods. The increase for the
quarter and full year was primarily driven by strong volume growth and higher average net sales price in our Australian business, partially offset by
higher production costs in New Zealand. The higher production costs in New Zealand were primarily driven by unfavorable plant performance and
higher input costs.

The change in gross margin for the quarter and full year can be attributed to the following components:

For the Three Months Ended 31 March 2018:

Higher average net sales price 1.2 pts
Higher production costs (1.9 pts)
Total percentage point change in gross margin (0.7 pts)

For the Full Year Ended 31 March 2018:
Lower average net sales price (0.1 pts)
Higher production costs (0.1 pts)
Total percentage point change in gross margin

)
(0.2pts

EBIT for the quarter and full year increased 10% and 14%, respectively, when compared to the prior corresponding periods, to US$ 26.0 million and
US$108.4 million, respectively, due to the increase in gross profit described above, partially offset by higher SG&A expenses. The increase in SG&A
expenses for the quarter and full year was primarily driven by an increase in labor related costs; however, as a percentage of sales, SG&A expense
decreased 1.1 percentage points and 0.7 percentage points for the quarter and full year, respectively, when compared to the prior corresponding
periods.

Country Analysis
Australia Fiber Cement

Net sales for the quarter and full year increased primarily due to a higher average net sales price and an increase in volume. The key driver of
volume growth was continued market penetration, as we gained market share during the year.

EBIT for the quarter and full year increased 32% and 26%, respectively, when compared to the prior corresponding periods. The increase in EBIT is
primarily driven by improved gross profit due to higher net sales, partially offset by higher SG&A expenses primarily from labor related costs.

According to Australian Bureau of Statistics data, approvals for detached houses, which are a key driver of the Australian business’ sales volume,
were 28,181 for the quarter, an increase of 6%, when compared to the prior corresponding quarter. For the full year, approvals for detached houses
were 119,339, an increase of 2% compared to the prior corresponding period. The other key driver of our sales volume is the alterations and
additions market, which increased 6% for the three months ended 31 March 2018 when compared to the prior corresponding period. For the full
year ended 31 March 2018, the alterations and additions market increased 6% compared to the prior corresponding period.
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New Zealand Fiber Cement

Net sales for the quarter decreased from the prior corresponding period, primarily driven by lower sales volumes. Net sales for the full year
increased from the prior corresponding period, primarily driven by higher sales volumes from addressable markets and favorable product mix.

EBIT for the quarter and full year decreased compared to the prior corresponding periods, primarily driven by unfavorable plant performance, higher
employment costs and higher freight costs.

Philippines Fiber Cement

Volume for the quarter and full year increased 9% and 19%, respectively, when compared to the prior corresponding periods, primarily as a result of
our tactical pricing strategies in the current year, as well as lower volumes in the prior corresponding period due to the penetration of competitor
imports within the Philippines market. EBIT for the quarter and full year was higher compared to the prior corresponding periods, driven by strong
volume growth and lower production costs, partially offset by the impact of unfavorable foreign exchange rates on our US$ reported sales and a
lower average net sales price due to tactical pricing strategies.

Europe Fiber Cement
Net sales for the quarter and the full year decreased from the prior corresponding periods, primarily driven by lower volume in certain regions and

lower average net sales price due to unfavorable product mix. EBIT for the quarter and full year decreased when compared to the prior
corresponding period, primarily driven by lower net sales and the impact of unfavorable foreign exchange rates.

Other Businesses Segment

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change FY18 FY17 Change
Net sales 3.3 3.8 (13%) 14.7 16.4 (10%)
Gross profit NM NM
Gross profit margin (%) (23.6 pts) (12.6 pts)
EBIT (2.8) (2.0) (40%) (8.6) (6.7) (28%)

We continue to invest in business development opportunities aligned with our long term strategy and continue to incur losses in our Other
Businesses segment. EBIT loss for the quarter increased 40% to a loss of US$2.8 million, when compared to the prior corresponding period. EBIT
loss for the full year increased 28% to a loss of US$8.6 million. We continue to invest in future growth through our commitment to building quality
manufacturing, product development capabilities and organizational capability.

Research and Development Segment

We record R&D expenses depending on whether they are core R&D projects that are designed to benefit all business units, which are recorded in
our R&D segment; or commercialization projects for the benefit of a particular business unit, which are recorded in the individual business unit’s
segment results.
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The table below details the expenses of our R&D segment:
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US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change % FY18 FY17 Change %
Segment R&D expenses $ 6.8)| $ 6.1) 1) 1% (25.4)| $ (22.6) (12)
Segment R&D SG&A expenses (0.5) (1.1) 55 (2.4) (2.9) 17
Total R&D EBIT $ (73)]| $ (7.2) 1) ]9 (27.8)| $ (25.5) 9)

The increase in segment R&D expenses for the quarter and full year are a result of increased R&D spend for the Other Businesses segment, as well
as, an increase in the number of core R&D projects being undertaken by the R&D team. The expense will fluctuate period to period depending on
the nature and number of core R&D projects being worked on and the AUD/USD exchange rates during the period.

Other R&D expenses associated with commercialization projects in business units are recorded in the results of the respective business unit

segment. Other R&D expenses associated with commercialization projects were US$2.1 million for the quarter and US$7.9 million for the full year,
compared to US$2.0 million and US$7.7 million for the prior corresponding periods.

General Corporate

Results for General Corporate were as follows:

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change % FY18 FY17 Change %

General Corporate SG&A expenses $ (16.3)| $ (13.4) 22) | $ (56.4)| $ (52.5) (7)
Fermacell acquisition costs? (5.3) — (10.0) —
Asbestos:

Asbestos adjustments (192.9) 1.4 (156.4) 40.4

AICF SG&A expenses? (0.6) (0.3) (1.9) (1.5) (27)
General Corporate EBIT $ (215.1)] $ (12.3) $ (224.7)| $ (13.6)

Relates to professional, legal and other fees incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of Fermacell and its subsidiaries.

2Relates to non-claims related operating costs incurred by AICF, which we consolidate into our financial results due to our pecuniary and contractual interests in AICF.
For the quarter, General Corporate SG&A expenses increased US$2.9 million, primarily due to higher stock compensation expenses.

For the full year, General Corporate SG&A expenses increased US$ 3.9 million, primarily due to foreign exchange gains in the prior year not
occurring in the current year, as well as, higher stock compensation expenses, partially offset by a US$3.4 million gain on the sale of a storage
building located near our Fontana facility.

Additionally, as part of our acquisition of Fermacell announced in the second quarter of fiscal year 2018, we have incurred acquisition costs of
US$5.3 million and US$10.0 million for the quarter and full year, respectively. Readers are referred to Note 19 of our 31 March 2018 consolidated
financial statements for further information related to the Fermacell acquisition.
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Asbestos adjustments for both periods primarily reflect the unfavorable actuarial adjustment recorded at year end in line with KPMGA's actuarial
report, as well as, the non-cash foreign exchange re-measurement impact on asbestos related balance sheet items, driven by the change in the
AUD/USD spot exchange rate from the beginning balance sheet date to the ending balance sheet date, for each respective period.

The AUD/USD spot exchange rates are shown in the table below:

FY18 FY17
31 March 2017 0.7644 (31 March 2016 0.7657
31 March 2018 0.7681 (31 March 2017 0.7644
Change ($) 0.0037 |Change ($) (0.0013)
Change (%) — [Change (%) —

For fiscal years 2018 and 2017, the asbestos adjustments recorded by the Company were made up of the following components:

Full Year ended 31 March
US$ Millions FY18 FY17
(Increase) decrease in actuarial estimate $ (151.4) 38.6
Effect of foreign exchange rate movements (3.9) 1.8
Asbestos research and education contribution (1.1) —
Asbestos adjustments $ (156.4) 40.4

Per the KPMGA actuarial report, the undiscounted and uninflated central estimate net of insurance recoveries increased to A$1.443 billion at
31 March 2018 from A$1.386 billion at 31 March 2017. The change in the undiscounted and uninflated central estimate of A$57.0 million or 4% is
primarily due to an increase in the projected number of mesothelioma claims, partially offset by the reduction in average claim size. In addition, the
estimate was further offset by the AFFA amendment in December 2017 which removed the allowance previously included in the Asbestos Liability
for legislation in Victoria enacted in the prior year which allowed compensation for gratuitous services costs.

During fiscal year 2018, mesothelioma claims reporting activity was above actuarial expectations and the prior corresponding period. One of the
more significant assumptions is the estimated peak period of mesothelioma disease claims, which was assumed to have occurred in the period
2014/2015 to 2016/2017. However, as claim numbers continue to be elevated, KPMGA has formed the view that the increases in the mesothelioma
claims reporting seen in recent years was a permanent effect, and therefore increased the projected number of future mesothelioma claims at 31
March 2018. Additionally, KPMGA has revised its modeling approach for mesothelioma claims to consider the claimant’'s age which resulted in a
higher number of projected claims, partially offset by a reduction in projected average claim size. However, changes to the valuation assumptions
may be necessary in future periods should mesothelioma claims reporting escalate or decline.

Potential variation in the estimated peak period of claims has an impact much greater than the other assumptions used to derive the discounted
central estimate. In performing the sensitivity assessment of the estimated incidence pattern reporting for mesothelioma, if the pattern of incidence
was shifted by two years, the central estimate could increase by approximately 18% on a discounted basis.

Management's Analysis of Results: James Hardie - 4th Quarter and Full Fiscal Year 2018



OPERATING RESULTS - SEGMENT ®JamesHardie

Asbestos gross cashflow expenditures of A$139.7 million for fiscal year 2018 were lower than the actuarial expectation of A$154.9 million, primarily
as a result of favorable average claim settlement sizes of non-large mesothelioma claims, together with lower than expected expenditures on large

claims in the year.

Readers are referred to Notes 2 and 11 of our 31 March 2018 consolidated financial statements for further information on asbestos adjustments.
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EBIT

The table below summarizes EBIT results as discussed above:

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change % FY18 FY17 Change %

North America Fiber Cement $ 1034 | $ 76.1 36 $ 3819 | $ 343.9 11
International Fiber Cement 26.0 23.6 10 108.4 95.1 14
Other Businesses (2.8) (2.0) (40) (8.6) (6.7) (28)
Research and Development (7.3) (7.2) (1) (27.8) (25.5) 9)
General Corporate’ (16.3) (13.4) (22) (56.4) (52.5) (7)
Adjusted EBIT 103.0 771 34 397.5 354.3 12
Asbestos:

Asbestos adjustments (192.9) 14 (156.4) 40.4

AICF SG&A expenses (0.6) (0.3) (1.9) (1.5) (27)
Fermacell acquisition costs (5.3) — (10.0) —
EBIT $ (95.8)( $ 78.2 $ 229.2 | $ 393.2 (42)
" Excludes Asbestos-related expenses and adjustments and Fermacell acquisition costs

Net Interest Expense
US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change % FY18 FY17 Change %

Gross interest expense $ (11.2)[ $ (7.5) 49) ] $ (37.7) $ (28.9) (30)
Capitalized interest 1.7 0.4 4.8 2.0
Interest income 0.7 0.2 1.5 0.5
Net AICF interest income (expense) 0.9 (0.3) 1.9 (1.1)
Net interest expense $ (7.9)| $ (7.2) (10) | $ (29.5)( $ (27.5) (7)

Gross interest expense for the quarter and full year increased US$3.7 million and US$8.8 million, respectively, when compared to the prior
corresponding periods, primarily due to the higher outstanding balance of our senior unsecured notes. Net AICF interest income for the quarter and
full year was US$0.9 million and US$1.9 million, respectively, primarily due to interest income on deposits and a decrease in the balance of AICF's
borrowings under its loan facility with New South Wales Government.

Other Income

Other income for the quarter and full year increased US$0.4 million and decreased US$0.6 million, respectively, to US$0.5 million and US$0.7
million, respectively, compared to the prior corresponding periods. The movements in other income are primarily driven by the valuation of our
interest rate swaps.
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Income Tax
Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 FY18 FY17
Income tax benefit (expense) (US$ Millions) 45.6 (26.6) (28.2) (90.5)
Effective tax rate (%) 442 374 16.2 24.7
Adjusted income tax expense ' (US$ Millions) (13.6) (15.7) (75.5) (80.6)
Adjusted effective tax rate’ (%) 14.4 22.3 20.6 24.5

Adjusted income tax expense represents income tax on net operating profit excluding asbestos, loss on early debt extinguishment, Fermacell acquisition costs and other tax
adjustments

Total income tax benefit for the quarter increased US$ 72.2 million and income tax expense for the full year decreased US$62.3 million, respectively,
when compared to the prior corresponding periods. The increase in income tax benefit for the quarter and the decrease in income tax expense for
the full year was primarily driven by the increase in the asbestos liability.

Total Adjusted income tax expense for the quarter and full year decreased US$2.1 million and US$5.1 million, respectively, when compared to the
prior corresponding periods. The decrease for the quarter and full year was driven by the US amortization of certain intangible assets arising from an
internal restructure undertaken during the quarter, partially offset by an increase in income.

US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

As a result of the enactment of the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act in December 2017, we recorded a provisional charge to income tax expense of an
estimated US$4.2 million resulting from deemed repatriated earnings of certain subsidiaries and the revaluation of our US-based net deferred tax
liability.

The impact of changes in US tax legislation on our future earnings is uncertain as it is subject to the potential effect of certain complex provisions,
and the issuance of regulatory guidance or clarifications that may be issued in the future in respect of these provisions, including the base erosion
and anti-abuse tax, global intangible low-taxed income, foreign derived intangible income and others, which we are currently reviewing. These
provisions will be in effect for us beginning fiscal year 2019, and it is possible that any impact of these provisions could materially reduce the benefit
of the reduction in the US federal corporate income tax rate. Due to the uncertain practical and technical application of many of these provisions, it is
currently not possible to reliably estimate whether these provisions will apply and if so, how it will impact us.

Readers are referred to Note 14 of our 31 March 2018 consolidated financial statements for further information related to income tax.
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Net Operating Profit

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change % FY18 FY17 Change %

EBIT $ (95.8) | $ 78.2 $ 229.2 [ $ 393.2 (42)
Net interest expense (7.9) (7.2) (10) (29.5) (27.5) (7)
Loss on early debt extinguishment' — — (26.1) —
Other income 0.5 0.1 0.7 1.3 (46)
Income tax benefit (expense) 45.6 (26.6) (28.2) (90.5) 69
Net operating (loss) profit (57.6) 44.5 146.1 276.5 (47)
Excluding:
Asbestos:

Asbestos adjustments 192.9 (1.4) 156.4 (40.4)

AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5 27

AICF interest (income) expense, net (0.9) 0.3 (1.9) 1.1
Loss on early debt extinguishment! — — 261 —
Fermacell acquisition costs 5.3 — 10.0 —
Tax adjustments? (59.2) 10.9 (47.3) 9.9
Adjusted net operating profit 81.1 54.6 49 291.3 248.6 17
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (US cents) 18 12 66 56

" In December 2017, we redeemed our 5.875% senior notes due 2023 and recorded a loss on early debt extinguishment in connection with this redemption. Readers are referred to
Note 9 of our 31 March 2018 consolidated financial statements for further information related to long-term debt.

2Includes tax adjustments related to Asbestos, loss on early debt extinguishment and other tax adjustments

Adjusted net operating profit of US$81.1 million for the quarter increased US$26.5 million, or 49%, compared to the prior corresponding period. The
increase was primarily due to the underlying performance of the operating business units, as reflected in the US$25.9 million increase in Adjusted
EBIT, and a lower Adjusted effective tax rate.

Adjusted net operating profit of US$291.3 million for the full year increased US$42.7 million, or 17%, compared to the prior corresponding period,
primarily due to the underlying performance of the operating business units, as reflected in the US$43.2 million increase in Adjusted EBIT and a
lower Adjusted effective tax rate.
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Cash Flow

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities increased US$2.9 million to US$295.0 million. The modest increase in cash provided by operating activities
was in-line with the modest increase in net income adjusted for non-cash items. The cash impact from movements in operating assets and liabilities
was minimal and reflects the normal course of business.The most notable impact to operating cash flow was an unfavorable movement from the
increase in our inventory balance as we built inventory ahead of the North America build season, as compared to the prior corresponding period
when we were capacity constrained and inventory balances were lower.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities increased US$91.6 million to US$200.6 million. The change in net cash used in investing activities was primarily
driven by an increase in the purchase of property, plant and equipment of US$101.8 million compared to the prior corresponding period, primarily
related to the greenfield expansion project on land adjacent to our Tacoma facility. This was partially offset by US$7.9 million in proceeds from the
sale of a storage building near our Fontana facility.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities increased US$325.2 million to US$112.5 million. The increase in cash provided by financing activities was
driven by the net proceeds from our senior unsecured notes in the current year of US$400.0 million, partially offset by the associated call redemption
premium and debt issuance costs of US$35.2 million, as well as, net repayments of credit facilities of US$ 75.0 million. This was further offset by the
repurchase of shares of common stock of US$99.8 million in the prior year, compared to nil in the current year.

Capacity Expansion

We continually evaluate the capacity required to service the North American housing market to ensure we meet demand and achieve our market
penetration objectives. During the current fiscal year we:

. Completed the start-up of the 3rd sheet machine at our Plant City facility, as well as recommissioned and completed the start-up of a
4th sheet machine at that facility;

. Commissioned our Summerville facility which continues to start-up as planned;
and

. Started and nearly completed the construction of a greenfield expansion project on land adjacent to our existing Tacoma facility, which
is expected to be commissioned in the first half of fiscal year 2019; and

. Continued the planning of our Prattville, Alabama facility, which is expected to be commissioned in the first half of fiscal year 2020.

Additionally, today we announced that this greenfield expansion project will add an additional 600 mmsf to our manufacturing capacity at
an estimated total cost of US$240.0 million.

In our International Fiber Cement segment, we are adding additional capacity in the Philippines with an estimated total cost of US$18.0 million,
which is expected to be completed in the first quarter of fiscal year 2019. Additionally, we began the planning and design of a brownfield expansion
project at our existing Carole Park facility in Australia with an estimated total cost of A$28.5 million. The new brownfield expansion project is
expected to be commissioned by the first quarter of fiscal year 2021.
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Liquidity and Capital Allocation

Our cash position increased from US$78.9 million at 31 March 2017 to US$281.6 million at 31 March 2018.

At 31 March 2018, we held three forms of debt: an unsecured revolving credit facility; a 364-day term loan facility; and senior unsecured notes. The
effective weighted average interest rate on our total debt was 4.7% and 4.8% at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, respectively. The weighted
average term of all debt, including undrawn facilities, was 6.9 years and 4.7 years at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, respectively.

At 31 March 2018, we had US$500.0 million available in an unsecured revolving credit facility. At 31 March 2018, a total of US$100.0 million was
drawn from the unsecured revolving facility, compared to US$175.0 million at 31 March 2017. The unsecured revolving credit facility's expiration
date is December 2022 and the size of the facility may be increased by up to US$250.0 million.

In December 2017, we entered into a 364-day term loan facility available in either Euro or US dollars with a maximum of €525.0 million (US$646.4
million based on the exchange rate at 31 March 2018) if drawn in Euro or US$630 million if drawn in US dollars. At 31 March 2018, there were no
amounts drawn under the 364-day term loan facility. Subsequent to fiscal year-end, on 3 April 2018, we drew €400.0 million (US$492.4 million
based on the exchange rate at 3 April 2018) from the 364-day term loan facility, and used these funds to complete the Fermacell acquisition. No
further drawdowns are permitted under this term loan facility.

In December 2017, we completed the sale of US$800.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes. The sale of the senior notes
were issued at par with US$400.0 million 4.75% senior notes due 15 January 2025 and US$400.0 million 5.00% senior notes due 15 January 2028.
The proceeds from the offering were used for general corporate purposes, including funding the redemption of our 5.875% senior notes due 2023,
the repayment of outstanding borrowings under the unsecured revolving credit facility and capital expenditures. We also used part of the net
proceeds from this offering to finance a portion of the Fermacell acquisition.

In connection with the redemption of 5.875% senior notes due 2023, we recorded a loss on early debt extinguishment of US$26.1 million during the
year, which included US$19.5 million of call redemption premiums and US$6.6 million of unamortized financing costs associated with these notes.

Based on our existing cash balances, together with anticipated operating cash flows arising during the year and unutilized committed credit facilities,
we anticipate that we will have sufficient funds to meet our planned working capital and other expected cash requirements for the next twelve
months.

We have historically met our working capital needs and capital expenditure requirements from a combination of cash flows from operations and
credit facilities. Seasonal fluctuations in working capital generally have not had a significant impact on our short or long term liquidity.
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The following table summarizes the dividends declared or paid in respect of fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016:

US$ Millions Uss;g:r?tt;l U:rﬁg:;fl Annog':t::mem Record Date Payment Date
FY 2018 second half dividend 0.30 132.5 22 May 2018 7 June 2018 3 August 2018
FY 2018 first half dividend 0.10 46.2 9 November 2017 13 December 2017 23 February 2018
FY 2017 second half dividend 0.28 131.3 18 May 2017 8 June 2017 4 August 2017
FY 2017 first half dividend 0.10 46.6 17 November 2016 21 December 2016 24 February 2017
FY 2016 second half dividend 0.29 130.2 19 May 2016 9 June 2016 5 August 2016
FY 2016 first half dividend 0.09 39.7 19 November 2015 23 December 2015 26 February 2016
FY 2015 special dividend 0.22 92.8 21 May 2015 11 June 2015 7 August 2015
FY 2015 second half dividend 0.27 114.0 21 May 2015 11 June 2015 7 August 2015

We will continue to review our capital structure and capital allocation objectives and expect the following prioritization to remain:

. invest in R&D and capacity expansion to support organic
growth;

. provide ordinary dividend payments within the payout ratio of 50-70% of net operating profit, excluding
asbestos;

. maintain flexibility for accretive and strategic inorganic growth and/or flexibility to manage through market cycles;
and

. consider other shareholder returns  when

appropriate.

Other Asbestos Information

Claims Data

Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 Change % FY18 FY17 Change %
Claims received 129 129 — 562 557 1)
Actuarial estimate for the period 144 156 8 576 625 8
Difference in claims received to actuarial estimate 15 27 14 68
Average claim settlement! (A$) 231,000 258,000 10 253,000 224,000 (13)
Actuarial estimate for the period? 283,000 327,000 13 283,000 327,000 13
Difference in claims paid to actuarial estimate 52,000 69,000 30,000 103,000

' Average claim settlement is derived as the total amount paid divided by the number of non-nil claim settlements

2This actuarial estimate is a function of the assumed experience by disease type and the relative mix of settlements assumed by disease type. Any variances in the assumed mix of
settlements by disease type will have an impact on the average claim settlement experience

For the quarter and full year ended 31 March 2018, we noted the following related to asbestos-related claims:

. Claims received were 10% and 2% below actuarial estimates for the quarter and full year,
respectively;
. Claims received during the quarter and full year were flat and 1% higher than prior corresponding periods,

respectively;
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. Mesothelioma claims reported for the full year were 5% above actuarial expectations and the prior corresponding
period;

. The average claim settlement for the quarter and full year were 18% and 11% below actuarial expectations,
respectively;

. Average claim settlement sizes were lower for most disease types, including for mesothelioma and asbestosis, compared to actuarial
expectations for fiscal year 2018; and

. The decrease in average claim settlement for the full year versus actuarial estimates was largely attributable to lower average claim

settlement sizes for non-large mesothelioma claims, together with favorable large claims experience for the full year.

AICF Funding

On 3 July 2017, we made a payment of A$135.1 million (US$102.2 million) to AICF, representing 35% of our free cash flow for fiscal year 2017.
Free cash flow, as defined in the AFFA, was equivalent to our fiscal year 2017 operating cash flows of US$292.1 million.

We anticipate that we will make a contribution of approximately US$103.0 million to AICF on 2 July 2018. This amount represents 35% of our free
cash flow of US$294.2 million as defined by the AFFA. Our free cash flow, as defined by the AFFA, is our operating cash flow per US GAAP in
effect during 2006. To reconcile our current year operating cash flow of US$295.0 million to 2006 US GAAP, a US$0.8 million adjustment is
required.

From the time AICF was established in February 2007 through 22 May 2018, we have contributed approximately A$1,055.0 million to the fund.

Readers are referred to Notes 2 and 11 of our 31 March 2018 consolidated financial statements for further information on asbestos.
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Financial Measures - US GAAP equivalents

This document contains financial statement line item descriptions that are considered to be non-US GAAP, but are consistent with those used by
Australian companies. Because we prepare our consolidated financial statements under US GAAP, the following table cross-references each non-
US GAAP line item description, as used in Management’s Analysis of Results and Media Release, to the equivalent US GAAP financial statement
line item description used in our consolidated financial statements:

Management’s Analysis of Results and Media Release Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) (US GAAP)

Net sales Net sales
Cost of goods sold Cost of goods sold

Gross profit Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses Research and development expenses
Asbestos adjustments Asbestos adjustments

EBIT* Operating income (loss)
Net interest income (expense)* Sum of interest expense and interest income
Other income (expense) Other income (expense)

Operating profit (loss) before income taxes™ Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit Income tax (expense) benefit

Net operating profit (loss)* Net income (loss)
*- Represents non-US GAAP descriptions used by Australian companies.

EBIT — Earnings before interest and tax.

EBIT margin — EBIT margin is defined as EBIT as a percentage of net sales.

Sales Volume

mmsf — million square feet, where a square foot is defined as a standard square foot of 5/16” thickness.

msf — thousand square feet, where a square foot is defined as a standard square foot of 5/16” thickness.
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This Management’s Analysis of Results includes certain financial information to supplement the Company’s consolidated financial statements which
are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“US GAAP”). These financial measures are
designed to provide investors with an alternative method for assessing our performance from on-going operations, capital efficiency and profit
generation. Management uses these financial measure for the same purposes. These financial measures include:

* Adjusted
EBIT;

* Adjusted EBIT
margin;

* Adjusted net operating
profit;

* Adjusted diluted earnings per
share;

* Adjusted operating profit before income
taxes;

* Adjusted income tax
expense;

+ Adjusted effective tax
rate;

* Adjusted
EBITDA;

* Adjusted EBITDA excluding
Asbestos;

* Adjusted selling, general and administrative expenses (“Adjusted SG&A”);
and

* Adjusted return on capital employed ("Adjusted
ROCE").

These financial measures are or may be non-US GAAP financial measures as defined in the rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
and may exclude or include amounts that are included or excluded, as applicable, in the calculation of the most directly comparable financial
measures calculated in accordance with US GAAP. These financial measures are not meant to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for
comparable US GAAP financial measures and should be read only in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with US GAAP. In evaluating these financial measures, investors should note that other companies reporting or describing similarly titled
financial measures may calculate them differently and investors should exercise caution in comparing the Company'’s financial measures to similar
titted measures by other companies.

Non-financial Terms

AFFA - Amended and Restated Final Funding Agreement

AICF — Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund Ltd
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NON-US GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

®JamesHardie

Financial Measures - US GAAP equivalents

Adjusted EBIT

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 FY18 FY17
EBIT $ (95.8) | $ 782 | $ 2292 | $ 393.2
Asbestos:
Asbestos adjustments 192.9 (1.4) 156.4 (40.4)
AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5
Fermacell acquisition costs 5.3 — 10.0 —
Adjusted EBIT $ 103.0 $ 771 $ 3975 | $ 354.3
Net sales 525.9 4943 2,054.5 1,921.6
Adjusted EBIT margin 19.6% 15.6% 19.3% 18.4%
Adjusted Net Operating Profit
US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 FY18 FY17
Net operating (loss) profit $ (57.6)( $ 45| $ 1461 | $ 276.5
Asbestos:
Asbestos adjustments 192.9 (1.4) 156.4 (40.4)
AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5
AICF interest (income) expense, net (0.9) 0.3 (1.9) 1.1
Loss on early debt extinguishment — — 26.1 —
Fermacell acquisition costs 5.3 — 10.0 —
Tax adjustments (59.2) 10.9 (47.3) 9.9
Adjusted net operating profit $ 811 | $ 546 | $ 2913 | $ 248.6
1Includes tax adjustments related to Asbestos, loss on early debt extinguishment, and other tax adjustments
Adjusted diluted earnings per share
Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q3 FY18 Q4 FY17 FY18 FY17
Adjusted net operating profit (US$ millions) $ 811 | $ 546 | $ 2913 | $ 248.6
Weighted average common shares outstanding - Diluted (millions) 443.0 4414 4423 443.9
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (US cents) 18 12 66 56
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NON-US GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

®JamesHardie

Adjusted effective tax rate

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 FY18 FY17
Operating (loss) profit before income taxes $ (103.2) | $ 711 $ 174.3 367.0
Asbestos:
Asbestos adjustments 192.9 (1.4) 156.4 (40.4)
AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5
AICF interest (income) expense, net (0.9) 0.3 (1.9) 11
Loss on early debt extinguishment — — 26.1 —
Fermacell acquisition costs 5.3 — 10.0 —
Adjusted operating profit before income taxes $ 947 | $ 70.3 $ 366.8 329.2
Income tax benefit (expense) 45.6 (26.6) (28.2) (90.5)
Tax adjustments (59.2) 10.9 (47.3) 9.9
Adjusted income tax expense $ (13.6) | $ (15.7) | $ (75.5) (80.6)
Effective tax rate 44.2% 37.4% 16.2% 24.7%
Adjusted effective tax rate 14.4% 22.3% 20.6% 24.5%
1Includes tax adjustments related to Asbestos, loss on early debt extinguishment, and other tax adjustments
Adjusted EBITDA excluding Asbestos
US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 FY18 FY17
EBIT $ (95.8) 782 | $ 229.2 393.2
Depreciation and amortization 23.4 20.7 92.0 83.2
Adjusted EBITDA $ (72.4)( $ 989 | $ 321.2 476.4
Asbestos:
Asbestos adjustments 192.9 (1.4) 156.4 (40.4)
AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5
Adjusted EBITDA excluding Asbestos $ 1211 | $ 978 | $ 479.5 437.5
Adjusted selling, general and administrative expenses (“Adjusted SG&A”)
US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q4 FY18 Q4 FY17 FY18 FY17
SG&A expenses $ 85.1 $ 75.9 $ 311.3 291.6
Excluding:
AICF SG&A expenses (0.6) (0.3) (1.9) (1.5)
Fermacell acquisition costs (5.3) — (10.0) —
Adjusted SG&A expenses $ 792 | $ 75.6 $ 299.4 290.1
Net sales $ 5259 | $ 4943 $ 2,054.5 1,921.6
SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales 16.2% 15.4% 15.2% 15.2%
Adjusted SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales 15.1% 15.3% 14.6% 15.1%
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NON-US GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES ®JamesHardie

Adjusted Return on Capital Employed ("Adjusted ROCE")

US$ Millions Full Year Ended 31 March’
FY18 FY17

Numerator
Adjusted EBIT $ 3975 | $ 354.3
Denominator

Gross capital employed (GCE) 1,272.0 1,107.6

Adjustment to GCE (24.3) 50.3
Adjusted gross capital employed 1,247.7 $ 1,157.9
Adjusted Return on Capital Employed 31.9% 30.6%

" Adjusted ROCE is used to assess annual financial results and therefore is not presented for the three months ended 31 March
2018
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SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ®.lamesHardie

As set forth in Note 11 of t he consolidated financial statements, the net AFFA liability, while recurring, is based on periodic actuarial determinations,

claims experience and currency fluctuations. The company’s management measures its financial position, operating performance and year-over-
year changes in operating results with and without the effect of the net AFFA liability. Accordingly, management believes that the following non-

GAAP information is useful to it and investors in evaluating the company’s financial position and ongoing operating financial performance. The
following non-GAAP table should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes contained therein.

US$ Millions

Restricted cash and cash equivalents — Asbestos
Restricted short term investments — Asbestos
Insurance receivable — Asbestos'

Workers compensation asset — Asbestos’
Deferred income taxes — Asbestos

Asbestos liability’

Workers compensation liability — Asbestos'
Income taxes payable’

Asbestos adjustments

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Net interest expense

Income tax expense

James Hardie Industries plc
Supplementary Financial Information
31 March 2018

(Unaudited)

Total Fiber Cement-

Excluding Asbestos Asbestos As Reported
Compensation Compensation (US GAAP)
$ = 26.6 26.6
— 38.4 38.4
— 57.9 57.9
— 30.9 30.9
— 382.9 382.9
— 1,215.1 1,215.1
= 30.9 30.9
50.2 (21.1) 29.1
— (156.4) (156.4)
(309.4) (1.9) (311.3)
(31.4) 1.9 (29.5)
(75.3) 471 (28.2)

1 The amounts shown on these lines are a summation of both the current and non-current portion of the respective asset or liability as presented on our consolidated balance sheets.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ®JamesHardie

This Management’s Analysis of Results contains forward-looking statements. James Hardie Industries plc (the “Company”) may from time to time make forward-looking statements in its
periodic reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, on Forms 20-F and 6-K, in its annual reports to shareholders, in offering circulars, invitation memoranda
and prospectuses, in media releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by the Company’s officers, directors or employees to analysts, institutional investors, existing
and potential lenders, representatives of the media and others. Statements that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements and such forward-looking statements are statements
made pursuant to the Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Examples of forward-looking statements include:

. statements  about the  Company's future
performance;
. projections of the Company’s results of operations or financial
condition;
. statements regarding the Company’s plans, objectives or goals, including those relating to strategies, initiatives, competition, acquisitions, dispositions and/or its
products;
- expectations concerning the costs associated with the suspension or closure of operations at any of the Company’s plants and future plans with respect to any such
plants;
- expectations concerning the costs associated with the significant capital expenditure projects at any of the Company’s plants and future plans with respect to any such
projects;
- expectations regarding the extension or renewal of the Company’s credit facilities including changes to terms, covenants or
ratios;
. expectations concerning dividend payments and share buy-
backs;
- statements concerning the Company’s corporate and tax domiciles and structures and potential changes to them, including potential tax
charges;
- statements regarding tax liabilities and related audits, reviews and
proceedings;
. statements regarding the possible consequences and/or potential outcome of legal proceedings brought against us and the potential liabilities, if any, associated with such
proceedings;
- expectations about the timing and amount of contributions to AICF, a special purpose fund for the compensation of proven Australian asbestos-related personal injury and death
claims;
. expectations concerning the adequacy of the Company’s warranty provisions and estimates for future warranty-related
costs;
- statements regarding the Company’s ability to manage legal and regulatory matters (including but not limited to product liability, environmental, intellectual property and competition

law matters) and to resolve any such pending legal and regulatory matters within current estimates and in anticipation of certain third-party recoveries; and

- statements about economic conditions, such as changes in the US economic or housing market conditions or changes in the market conditions in the Asia Pacific region, the
levels of new home construction and home renovations, unemployment levels, changes in consumer income, changes or stability in housing values, the availability of mortgages
and other financing, mortgage and other interest rates, housing affordability and supply, the levels of foreclosures and home resales, currency exchange rates, and builder and
consumer confidence.

Words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “target,” “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “forecast,” “guideline,” “aim,” “will,” “should,” “likely,” “continue,” “may,” “objective,”
“outlook” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. Readers are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements and all such forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the following cautionary statements.

Forward-looking statements are based on the Company’s current expectations, estimates and assumptions and because forward-looking statements address future results, events and
conditions, they, by their very nature, involve inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are unforeseeable and beyond the Company’s control. Such known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors may cause actual results, performance or other achievements to differ materially from the anticipated results, performance or achievements expressed,
projected or implied by these forward-looking statements. These factors, some of which are discussed under “Risk Factors” in Section 3 of the Form 20-F filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on 22 May 2018, include, but are not limited to: all matters relating to or arising out of the prior manufacture of products that contained asbestos by current and former
Company subsidiaries; required contributions to AICF, any shortfall in AICF and the effect of currency exchange rate movements on the amount recorded in the Company’s financial
statements as an asbestos liability; the continuation or termination of the governmental loan facility to AICF; compliance with and changes in tax laws and treatments; competition and
product pricing in the markets in which the Company operates; the consequences of product failures or defects; exposure to environmental, asbestos, putative consumer class action or
other legal proceedings; general economic and market conditions; the supply and cost of raw materials; possible increases in competition and the potential that competitors could copy the
Company'’s products; reliance on a small number of customers; a customer’s inability to pay; compliance with and changes in environmental and health and safety laws; risks of conducting
business internationally; compliance with and changes in laws and regulations; currency exchange risks; dependence on customer preference and the concentration of the Company’s
customer base on large format retail customers, distributors and dealers; dependence on residential and commercial construction markets; the effect of adverse changes in climate or
weather patterns; possible inability to renew credit facilities on terms favorable to the Company, or at all; acquisition or sale of businesses and business segments; changes in the Company’s
key management personnel; inherent limitations on internal controls; use of accounting estimates; the integration of Fermacell into our business; and all other risks identified in the
Company’s reports filed with Australian, Irish and US securities regulatory agencies and exchanges (as appropriate). The Company cautions you that the foregoing list of factors is not
exhaustive and that other risks and uncertainties may cause actual results to differ materially from those referenced in the Company’s forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they are made and are statements of the Company’s current expectations concerning future results, events and conditions. The Company assumes no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements or information except as required by law.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Management Presentation contains forward-looking statements. James Hardie Industries ple (the "Company”} may from time to time make forward-looking statements in its
periadic raports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, on Forms 20-F and 6-K, in its annual reports to shareholders, in offering circulars, invitation
memoranda and prospectuses, in media releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by the Company’s officers, directors or employees to analysts, institutional
investors, existing and potential lenders, representatives of the media and others. Statements that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements and such forward-looking
slatements are statements made pursuant 1o the Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,

Examples of forward-looking statements include:

. statements about the Company’s future performance;

" projections of the Company's results of operalions or financial condition;

. statements regarding the Company's plans, objectives or goals, including those relating to strategies, initiatives, competition, acquisitions, dispositions and/or its products;

" expectations conceming the cosls associated with the suspension or closure of operations at any of the Company’s plants and future plans with respect to any such plants;

. expeclalions concerning the costs associated with the significant capital expenditure projects at any of the Company’s plants and future plans with respect to any such projects;

" expectations regarding the extension or renewal of the Company's credit facililies including changes to terms, covenants or ratios;

. expectations conceming dividend payments and share buy-backs;

. statements concerning the Company’s corporate and tax domiciles and structures and potential changes to them, including potential tax charges:

. statements regarding tax liabilities and related audits, reviews and proceedings,

. statements regarding the possible consequences and/or potential outcome of legal proceedings brought against us and the potential liabilities, if any. associated with such
proceedings:

. expeclations about the timing and amount of contributions to Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund (AICF), a special purpose fund for the compensation of proven Australian
asbestos-related personal injury and death claims;

. expectations concerning the adequacy of the Company’s warranty provisions and estimates for future warranty-ralated costs:

. statements regarding the Company's ability to manage legal and regulatory matters (including but nat limited to product liability, envirenmental, intellectual property and
competition law matters) and to resolve any such pending legal and regulatory matters within current estimates and in anticipation of certain third-party recoveries; and

. statemnents about economic conditions, such as changes in the US economic or housing recovery or changes in the market conditions in the Asia Pacific region, the levels of
new home construction and home renovations, unemployment levels, changes in consumer income, changes or stakility in housing values, the availability of mortgages and

other financing, morngage and other interest rates, housing affordability and supply, the levels of foreclosures and home resales, currency exchange rates, and builder and
consumer confidence,
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” "plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “target,” “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” "forecast,” “guideling,” “aim." *will,” "should," "likely,” “continue,” ‘may,”
"objectiva,” "outlook™ and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-locking statements and all such forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the following
cautionary statements,

Forward-locking statements are based on the Company’s current expectations, estimates and assumptions and because forward-looking statements address future resulls, events
and conditions, they, by their very nature, involve inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are unforeseeable and beyond the Company's control. Such known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors may cause actual results, perfformance or other achievements to differ materially from the anticipated results, performance or achievements
expressed, projected or implied by these forward-looking statements. These tactors, some of which are discussed under “Risk Factors” in Section 3 of the Form 20-F filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on 22 May 2018, include, but are not imited to: all matters relating to or arising out of the prior manutacture of products that contained
asbestos by current and former Company subsidiaries; required contributions to AICF, any shortfall in AIGF and the effect of currency exchange rate movements on the amount
recorded in the Company’s financial statements as an asbestos liability; the continuation or termination of the govemmental loan facility to AICF; compliance with and changes in tax
laws and treatments; competition and product pricing in the markets in which the Company operates: the consequences of product failures or defects; exposure to environmental,
ashestos, putative consumer class action or other legal proceedings; general economic and market conditions:; the supply and cost of raw materials: possible increases in competition
and the potential that competitors could copy the Company's products; reliance on a small number of customers; a customer's inability to pay; compliance with and changes in
environmental and health and safety laws; risks of conducting business internationally; compliance with and changes in laws and regulations; currency exchange risks; dependence
on customer preterence and the concentration of the Company's customer base on large tormat retail customers, distributors and dealers; dependence on residential and commergial
construction markels; the effect of adverse changes in climate or weather patterns; possible inability to renew credit facilities on terms favorable to the Company, or at all; acquisition
or sale of businesses and business segments; changes in the Company's key management personnel; inherent limitations on internal controls; use of accounting estimates; the
integration of Fermacell inte our business; and all other risks identified in the Company's reports filed with Australian, Irish and US securities regulatory agencies and exchanges (as
appropriate). The Company cautions you that the foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive and that other risks and uncertainties may cause actual results to differ materially from
those reterenced in the Company's torward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made and are statements of the Company's current
axpectations concerming future results, events and conditions. The Company assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements or information except as required by
law,
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3 _"EF' NON-GAAP FINANCIAL INFORMATION; AUSTRALIAN

'ALENT TERMINOLOGY

This Management Presentation includes financial measures that are not considered a measure of financial performance under generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (US GAAP). These financial measures are designed to provide investors with an alternative method for assessing our performance
from on-going operations, capital efficiency and profit generation. Management uses these financial measures for the same purposes. These financial measures
include:

+  Adjusted EBIT;

+  Adjusted EBIT margin;

+  Adjusted net operating profit;

*  Adjusted diluted earnings per share;

+  Adjusted operating profit before income taxes;

. Adjusted income tax expense;

. Adjusted effective tax rate;

*  Adjusted EBITDA;

. Adjusted EBITDA excluding Asbestos;

. Adjusted selling, general and administrative expenses (“Adjusted SG&A”); and
+  Adjusted Return on Capital Employed (“Adjusted ROCE").

These financial measures are or may be non-US GAAP financial measures as defined in the rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and may
exclude or include amounts that are included or excluded, as applicable, in the calculation of the most directly comparable financial measures calculated in
accordance with US GAAP. These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered to be more meaningful than the equivalent US GAAP measure.
Management has included such measures to provide investors with an alternative method for assessing its operating results in a manner that is focused on the
performance of its ongoing operations and excludes the impact of certain legacy items, such as asbestos adjustments. Additionally, management uses such non-
GAAP financial measures for the same purposes. However, these non-GAAP financial measures are not prepared in accordance with US GAAP, may not be
reported by all of the Company’s competitors and may not be directly comparable to similarly titled measures of the Company’s competitors due to potential
differances in the exact method of calculation. For additional infarmation regarding the non-GAAP financial measures presented in this Management Presentation ,
including a reconciliation of each non-GAAP financial measure to the equivalent US GAAP measure, see the slide titled “Non-US GAAP Financial Measures”
included in the Appendix to this Management Presentation.

In addition, this Management Presentation includes financial measures and descriptions that are considered to not be in accordance with US GAAP, but which are
consistent with financial measures reported by Australian companies, such as operating profit, EBIT and EBIT margin. Since the Company prepares its
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with US GAAP, the Company provides investors with a table and definitions presenting cross-references between
each US GAAP financial measure used in the Company's Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements to the equivalent non-US GAAP financial measure used in
this Management Presentation. See the section titled *Non-US GAAP Financial Measures” included in the Appendix to this Management Presentation.
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« Overview and Operating Review — Louis Gries, CEO
« James Hardie Europe — Louis Gries, CEO
+ Financial Review — Matt Marsh, EVP and CFO

* Questions and Answers
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'!James Hardie

OVERVIEW AND OPERATING REVIEW
Louis Gries, CEO




Adjusted Net Operating Profit’ Adjusted Diluted EPS'

4th Qtr Full Year 4th Qi Full Year

Us$81.1M t 49%| US$291.3M t 17% US18 cents ' 50%| US66 cents t 18%
Adjusted EBIT 2 Net Operating Cash Flow

4th Qtr Full Year Full Year

us$103.0M t 34%| US$397.5M ' 12% US$295.0M t 1%
Adjusted EBIT Margin % *

4th Qtr Full Year

19.6% ' 4.0 pts | 19.3% t 0.9 pts

+ Higher volumes and net sales in North America Fiber Cement and International Fiber Cement segments

+ Higher average net sales price in North America Fiber Cement segment

+ North America Fiber Cement: Full year EBIT margin of 24.2%; volume/PDG improving, manufacturing stable
+ International Fiber Cement: Full year EBIT margin of 23.5%; strong performance

+ Closed Fermacell acquisition on 3 April 2018

' Excludes Asbestos related expenses and adjustments, loss on early debt extinguishment, acquisition costs and fax adjustments
2 Excludes Asbestos related expenses and adjustments and acquisition costs
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HAMERICA FIBER CEMENT SUMMARY

T 418 | FullYear

Net Sales US$410.1M  US$1,578.1M
| G B
Sales Volume 586.8 mmsf 2,238.8 mmst

f = | BRR

Average Price US$692 permsf US$698 per msf

1 s 1+ 5%

US$103.4M US$381.9M

| I | IRAL

EBIT
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Volume
« FY17 capacity constraint dampened 1H FY18 demand
+ 2H FY18 exterior volume growth in line with market index

Price
+ Favorably impacted by annual change in our strategic
pricing effective April 2017 and product mix

EBIT
« EBIT for Q4'18 increased compared to pep primarily due to:
+ Higher average net sales price, improved plant
performance and lower freight costs, partially offset by
higher input costs
« EBIT for FY'18 increased compared to pcp primarily due to:

* Higher average net sales price, partially offset by

higher freight and input costs




NORTH AMERICA DELIVERED UNIT COST

Delivered Unit Cost

Delivered unit cost improved in 2H FY18
+ Manufacturing performance within expected performance band
+ Continuing to experience higher input costs
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NORTH AMERICA FIBER CEMENT

Quarterly EBIT and EBIT Margin?

120 30
100 e = e im i mh in ok sk mh e in e ue s e e e St i et ]
80 ~WPagmm oo g e oo -B-B- -3 -2
=
2 60 15 =
= E
= g
a0 10
20 I I 5
0 0
F¥13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY1g

B ER|T  =—g==EBIT/Sales

YTD EBIT Margin % up 120 bps to 24.2% compared to pcp

! Excludes asset impairment charges of US$5.8 million in Q3 FY13 and US$11.1 million in Q4 FY13
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NORTH AMERICA FIBER CEMENT

Average Net Sales Price Top Line Growth?!
T00 3,000 31,600
g 2,500
E 41,200
B = nm s
H 5 [
g s "o1sm sz
= £ Lm H
g 400
; 500
S
500 ! ” - Wy o ~ L] #
FYi? FYi3 FYid F¥15 Y16 Fri7 Frif 2 o o b b o
IH Volume  s——Hausing Starts  =IH Revenue
« FY18 strategic price increase effective April 2017 * US housing conditions remain favorable

* Overall, satisfied with price positioning « New construction starts continue modest single-

« FY19 price increase implemented on 1 April 2018 digit growth

! Rolling 12 month average of seasonally adjusted estimate of housing starts by US Census Bureau
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INTERNATIONAL FIBER CEMENT SUMMARY

Volum
- Q418 Full Year  [aS
« Growth primarily in our Australian and Philippines

Net Sales UsS$112.5M US$461.7M

businesses
| | B
Price

+ Favorably impacted by modest annual changes in

Sales Volume 128.9 mmsf 528.7 mmsf  strategic pricing in Australia and product mix for the
' 2% ' 9%  quarter

+ Flat for the full year primarily due to strong average

. lespices sl of el it
Average Price  US$773 per msf US$774 per msf net sales price in Australia, offset by tactical pricing in

he Philippi
' 09, FLAT the Philippines
EBIT
« Strong results in our Australian business driven by
EBIT US$26.0M US$108.4M ‘ _
market penetration during the year
' 10% t 14%

« Partially offset by higher production costs in our New

Zealand business
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JATIONAL FIBER CEMENT (USD)

Australia

AW Australi Australi
{.fr e N oiume Tat8aka] EBT_J Volume tRtAymenam ' Good market and strong PDG performance
Q\ ) + EBIT favorably impacted by volume and price
[Tl V] 4
i o
e
u arie New Zealand
?" = Higher net sales for the full year driven by higher
‘b,r“ @ @ @ ' @ volume and favorable product mix
,/(:2 « EBIT unfavorably impacted by plant performance
(RJ and higher input costs
5 Qd'18 Full Year ilinni
Philippines Philippines Phl"pplnes
» Volume increase driven by tactical pricing
* EBIT favorably impacted by volume growth and
lower production costs
& 7 ey Europe (excludes Fermacell)
1; + Lower net sales driven by lower volume in certain

& sl @ @ @ regions and lower average net sales price from
; Ay unfavorable product mix

T ¢ + EBIT unfavorably impacted by lower net sales and
L unfavorable foreign exchange rates
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'!James Hardie

James Hardie Europe
Louis Gries, CEO




OVERVIEW

Before Acquisition Post Acquisition
2 - HR
Woiklores 1 /0employees woorreney "900+employees  ES
Presence « UK, FR, DK, DE L REREXTEREE + 12+ countries
* Residential New * Residential New Construction
Segments Consruction 4eeoeeece + Repair and Renovation
* Repair and Renovation + Commercial

L TR TRY .Flbercement
Products + Fiber Cement qeeeeecsasp o Fiber Gypsum

+ Cement Bonded

Revenue! €31 M B P - «~€300M

! ‘Before Acquisition’ revenue is based on unaudited James Hardie Europe financial records for 12 months ended 31 March 2018. ‘Post Acquisition’
revenue is a 12 month estimate based on unaudited James Hardie Europe financial records and unaudited Fermacell IFRS financial records for the
12 months ended 31 March 2018.
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BRAND ARCHITECTURE

[ James Hardie (Jj)

Fiber Fiber Cement | Fire
Gypsum Protection

fermacell’ @) JamesHardie® AESTUVER’

o,
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KEY LOCATIONS AND ORGANIZATION

Head Office and Manufacturing Footprint

Dusseldorf B &

ml
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|
Siglingen

Organization

+ Jack Truong - President, International

+ Jorg Brinkmann JH Europe Managing

Director
+ 7 years experience at Fermacell
+ 13 years industry experience

+ 7 person management team
+ 5 from Fermacell
+ 2 from James Hardie Australia

+ 900 total JH Europe employees

+ 200 person technical sales force




FINANCIALS AND FUTURE GROWTH

FY 18 Financials!

10 year objective
€ 1 billion in Revenue
with Hardie type returns

~10% EBIT
margin

FY18 Revenue Future Revenue

+ JH Europe Revenue ~ € 300 million
+ JH Europe EBIT margin ~10%

Future Growth

+ Fiber Gypsum
+ Existing Fiber Cement Products
+ New Fiber Cement Product Development

Other Data

+ Fermacell Historical revenue growth
W Fiber Gypsum  ® Existing Fiber Cement @ New Fiber Cement " 3 Year CAGH ,,50/0

+ Estimated integration costs in FY19
+ ~ €20 million

! FY18 financial estimates are based on unaudited James Hardie Europe financial records for the twelve months ended 31 March 2018 and
unaudited Fermacell IFRS financial records for the 12 months ended 31 March 2018.
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'!James Hardie

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Matt Marsh, EVP and CFO




KEY FINANCIAL MESSAGES

«  Strong 4" Quarter Results ; Adjusted EBIT up 34%
— Good operational momentum in North America Fiber Cement, strong performance in Australia
«  Solid full year cash flows
+ Capacity expansion and capital allocation on track
«  Second Half Dividend declared of 30 cents per share

«  FY18 Adjusted NOPAT of US$291.3 million compared to guidance at 2 February 2018

— Lower than anticipated Adjusted ETR of 20.6% ; approximate US$10 million favorable impact

- Internal restructuring transaction during Q4 FY18
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Adjusted EBIT'

operating profit F

Q4'18

525.9
1911
(95.8)

(57.6)

103.0

81.1

Three Months Ended 31 March

Q417
4943

160.8

782

44.5

771

54.6

1 Excludes Asbeslos related expenses and adjustments, and acquisiion costs

2 Excludes Ashestos refated axpenses and adjustments, loss on early dabt
extinguishmen!, acquisition costs, and ather tax adjustments
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RESULTS - 4" QUARTER FY18

Net sales increased 6%

* Higher average net sales price and volume in the North

America Fiber Cement segment and International Fiber

Cement segment

Gross profit increased 19%, gross margin % up
380 bps

Adjusted net operating profit increased 49%
+ North America Fiber Cement segment EBIT increased 36%

Versus pcp
+ International Fiber Cement segment EBIT increased 10%

Versus pcp
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RESULTS - FULL YEAR FY18

Full Year Ended 31 March

US$ Millions

Net sales
Gross profit

EBIT

Net operating
profit

Adjusted EBIT '

Adjusted net
operating profit g

FY18
2,054.5

730.2

229.2

146.1

397.5

291.3

FY17
1,921.6

674.7
393.2

276.5

354.3

248.6

% Change
7

8
(42)

(47)

12

17

1 Excludes Asbeslos related expenses and adjustments, and acquisiion costs

2 Excludes Ashestos refated axpenses and adjustments, loss on early dabt
extinguishmen!, acquisition costs, and ather tax adjustments
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Net sales increased 7%

+ Higher average net sales price in the North America
Fiber Cement segment

+ Strong volume growth in the International Fiber Cement

segment

Gross profit increased 8%, gross margin % up
40 bps

Adjusted net operating profit increased 17%

* North America Fiber Cement segment EBIT increased
11% versus pcp

* International Fiber Cement segment EBIT increased

14% versus pcp
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CHANGES IN AUD vs. USD

|

&6 J/\ -I M . h
! R o™
W Wy /

&
g ol
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L.ﬁ'\- o -
o
-
[N}
L]
ke
0 AR
3 ha18 S Jur 18 20 Sep 12 31 D 12 S Ka- 17 30 Jun 17 S0 Zep 1T 51 Dec 17 31K 1€
S B ronted Exclud:ng Tr??slatlon Translation Impact ?
pac
$ Favorable
US$ Millions FY18 FY17 % Change FY18 % Change | Untavorable} %
Net Sales $ 20545 19216 =~ 7% § 20477 ~ % 6.8
Gross Profit 730.2 6747 & gy 7274~ gy 28
Adjusted EBIT 3975 3543+ 12% 3958 <+ 1% 1.7
Mdjusted net operating profit ~ $  291.3 2486 ~ 17% § 2022 4 17% (0.9)

" As Reported FY18 figures converted using FY17 weighted average sxchange rates
# Reflects the difference between FY18 As Reported and FY18 using FY17 weighted average exchange rates
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NORTH AMERICA INPUT COSTS

Quarterly US Input Costs
1,400 10
. » Freight market prices up 23% compared to pcp
1,200 e &
Fa E
1000 1 & ; « The price of NBSK pulp up 19% compared to pcp
% 00 & E
: .
2 & . i * Cementprices up 3% compared to pcp
A
400 T3 ';
o — |*§ - Electricity prices up 2% compared to pcp
1
o+ 2 : . . . . v v i 1]

@6 04 QI QFU Q3 OF7 QIS 0218 QIS Q418 + Gas prices are down 12% compared to pcp

—pluLp GAS ===ELECTRIC ==—=CEMENT ===FREIGHT

The information underlying the table above is sourced as follows:

L =Tl




SEGMENT EBIT — 4"" QUARTER and FULL YEAR FY18

450
400 -
350 -

300
250

uUss Millions

150

100 -
50 -

120

105

0

US$ Millions

30
15
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200 -

75

45

North America Fiber Cement

352.2 3439
u Q4 EBIT
= Full Year
s s 103.4
FY16 FY17 FY18
International Fiber Cement
108.4
95,1
78.4
= Q4 EBIT
BFyll Year
] 26.0
195 236

FY186 FY17 FY18

North America Fiber Cement EBIT summary

« Q4 EBIT increased 36% and full year EBIT increased
11% compared to pcp

« Quarter increase primarily driven by lower production
costs and higher average net sales price

+ Full year increase primarily driven by higher net sales

price, partially offset by higher production costs

International Fiber Cement EBIT summary

+ Q4 EBIT increased 10% and full year EBIT increased
14% compared to pcp

+ Strong volume growth in Australia and the Philippines
during the year

+ Increased market penetration in Australia during the year;

gain in market share




SEGMENT EBIT — 4"" QUARTER and FULL YEAR FY18

g  OwerBusinesses Other Businesses
8.6) 8.6
o (8- + Continu investments  in  produc evelopment,
o (@ Continued  investments in  product development
g .
§ € manufacturing and organizational capabilities
@ @7 Q4 EBIT
2 @ 1 Fyll Year
0
FY16 FY17 FY18
Research and Development R&D
(30) (278) {
o5 | (@9 255) + On strategy to invest ~2-3% of net sales
]
5{201- + Increased spend for Other Businesses segment, and
= (19 1 *Q4EBIT : . ,
0o | overall increase in number of projects
B Full Year
(5) 1
0
FY16 FY17 FY18
?
Gensral ComorEls Caste General Corporate Costs
(60) - 525) 56.4)
o501 W4 + Change in foreign exchange gains and losses and higher
5(40) - ,
2 00) - — stock compensation expenses
B0 1 14 (13.4) (16.3 u Full Year + Partially offset by the gain on the sale of a storage building
(10) -
near our Fontana facility in Q1 FY18

0 .
FY16 FY¥17 FY18
! Excludes Asbestos related expenses and adjustments, and acquisition costs
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e 20.6% adjusted effective tax rate for the year

US$ Millions

Operating (loss) profit before taxes
Asbestos adjustments'

Loss on early debt extinguishment
Fermacell acqusition costs

Adjusted operating profit before
income taxes

Adjusted income tax entpe-ns.‘e2

Adjusted effective tax rate

Income tax benefit (expense)
Income taxes paid
Income taxes payable

Q418

(103.2)
1926

5.3
94.7
(13.6)

14.4%

45.6

Q417
711
©0.8)

70.3
(15.7)

22.3%

(26.6)

FY18

174.3
156.4
26.1
10.0

366.8

(75.5)

20.6%

(28.2)
49.1
29.1

FY17

367.0
(37.8)

329.2
(80.6)

24.5%

(90.5)
515
19

+ Full year Adjusted income tax expense decrease

driven by US amortization of certain intangible

assets arising from an internal restructure
undertaken during the quarter, offset by an

increase in income

Income taxes are paid and payable in Ireland, the
US, Canada, New Zealand and the Philippines

Income taxes are not currently paid or payable in
Europe (excluding Ireland) or Australia due to tax
losses. Australian tax losses primarily result from
deductions relating to contributions to AICF

" Includes Asbestos adjustments, AICF SG&A expenses and net AICF interest (income) expense
2 Excludes tax effects of Asbestos, loss on early debt extinguishment, acquisition costs and other tax adjustments

(7] vames Hardie
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+ In Q4 FY18, James Hardie undertook an internal restructuring transaction
+ Aligned certain intangible assets with our US business
* Resulted in the US amortization of those intangible assets
» Favorable impact on Income Tax Expense and Adjusted ETR for FY18

* How ETR is calculated under US GAAP is changing
+ Effective 1 April 2018 for James Hardie; impacts our financial statements in FY19, no impact in FY18
« Starting in Q1 FY19, we will be required to recognize a DTA arising from all previous intragroup transfers

+ Economic (cash taxes paid) impact of tax expected to remain constant or improve
« Future Adjusted ETR may be more volatile because of:
+ New US GAAP standards

+ Ongoing impacts of US Tax Reform
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NetIncome
Adjustment for non-cash items
Annual AICF contribution
Operating working capital
Other net operating activities
Cash Flow from Operations
Purchases of property, plant and equipment’

Proceeds from sale of property. plant and
equipment

Acquisition of assets
Free Cash Flow’
Dividends paid
Net repaymenis of credit facilifies
Net proceeds from senior unsecured notes®
Call redemption premium paid to note holders
Share related activities
Free Cash Flow after Financing Activities

Excludes AP related to capital expenditures
Includes capitalized interest

146.1
2206
(102.2)
(39.5)
700
295.0
(208.5)

79
944
(177.5)
(75.0)
3843
(19.5)
02
206.9

2765
90.1
(@1.1)
15
1541
2924
(103.9)

(8.1)
1831
(176.8)
(15.0)
7586

(96.5)
(29.6)

Modest increase in net operating cash flow
« Net income adjusted for non-cash items was flat compared to pcp

(47)

- Built inventory levels during FY18
(12) * Increase in the payment to AICF
- Favorable change in other net operating activities from normal

course of business

1
Higher investing activities

- Increase in capacity expansion related capital expenditures

- Includes proceeds from the sale of a storage building near our

) Fontana facility

* Cash provided by financing activities
- Driven by net proceeds of our senior unsecured notes
« Lower share buyback activity
- Net repayments of credit facilities, call redemption premium and

debt issuance costs

T
2
3 Distinct from the term defined by the AFFA for purposes of calculating our annual contribution to AICF
4

Includes debt issuance costs

(7] vames Hardie
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Full year CAPEX spend of US$203.7 million increased

CAPEX Spend US$101.8 million compared to pcp
0 7 + North America capacity projects:
60 « Started up the 3@ sheet machine at Plant City facility;
recommissioned and completed the start up of 4" sheet
machine

50 -
+ Commissioned our Summerville facility which continues to
start-up as planned

« Near completion of our greenfield expansion in Tacoma,
expected to be commissioned in 1H FY19

Uss Millions

= Continued the planning of US$240.0 million Prattville
Alabama facility, expected to be commissioned in 1H FY20

+ Continued to expand capacity at our Philippines facility, expected
to be completed in Q1 FY19

Q1 02 03 04 Q1 Q2 O3 04 ; s : : i
B/ BYL/ BYL/ BYLZ bVIE bvig bvie pvig * Began planning for a A$28.5 million brownfield expansion project

at our Carole Park facility in Australia, expected to be

B Capacity mMaintenance & Uther
commissioned by Q1 FY21
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SUPPORTING GROWTH

Strong Financial Disciplined Capital Liquidity and Funding
Management Allocation

O\fony faruths Al opetating Invest in R&D and capacity Conservative leveraging of balance

I e S sheet at a target within 1-2 times
cash flows grgwth b Adjusted EBITDA excluding

asbestos.
Strong governance and

transparenc Maintain ordinary dividends - "
st within the defined payout ratio US$500 million of unsecured

revolving credit facility;
US$800 million senior
unsecured notes at Q4 FY18

Investment-grade financial e
management Flexibility for:

i cRlIEAeL Yot Ry Weighted average maturity of

* Accretive and strategic 4. years on bank debt; 6.9
inorganic opportunities years on total debt at Q4 FY18

* Further shareholder returns On 3 April 2018, drew €400m
the Fermacell acquisition

Financial management consistent with investment grade credit
Ability to withstand market cycles and other unanticipated events
[(oamesvmrae N T




LIQUIDITY PROFILE AT 31 March 2018

Debt Profile Strong balance sheet
il . US$281.6 million cash
« US$602.8 million net debt?

Z} « 80% liquidity on bank debt

€525
Corporate debt structure

« US$400 million 4.75% senior unsecured notes
maturing January 2025

» US$400 million 5.00% senior unsecured notes

maturing January 2028
Available Facilities Outstanding Debt

= US$500 million unsecured revolving credit facility,

B Senior Notes M Bank Facilities [!Bridge Z2Accordion with a December 2022 maturity

= €525m bridge finance available?

up to US$250 million may be accessed vid an accordion featu

r the terms of the s al ement, Leve rage strategy

« 1.24x net debt to Adjusted EBITDA excluding

Inchudss dstt lssusnce costs (§15. 6 milon) e asbestos; within the 1-2x leverage target range

(7] vames Hardie




BESTOS COMPENSATION

KEY POINTS

+  Updated actuarial report completed as at 31 March 2018

«  Undiscounted and uninflated central estimate increased to A$1,443 million from A$1,386 million

+ Increase of A$113 million in NPV of estimate to A%$1,853 million, from A$1,740 million at 31 March 2017, reflecting:
+ Increase of A$269 million due to actuarial assumptions;

- Decrease of A$83 million due to the payments made by AICF during the year and less discounting cashflows; and
= Decrease of A$73 million due to AFFA amendment in December 2017 which removed the gratuitous service costs in Victoria

+  Total contributions of US$102 million (A$135 million) were made to AICF during FY2018 from our FY2017 free cash flow
*  From the time AICF was established in February 2007, we have contributed approximately A$1,055 million to the fund

+  We anticipate we will make a further contribution of approximately US$103 million to AICF on 2 July 2018. This amount
represents 35% of our free cash flow for financial year 2018, as defined by the AFFA
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ASBESTOS CLAIMS DATA

Claims Received

562 576 557
129 i4 129 I I I

Q418 Q418 Qa7 FY18 FY18 FY17
Actuals  Actuarial  Actuals  Actuals  Actuarial  Actuals
Estimates Estimates

Average Claim Settlement (AS)"
283,000 283,000

258,000 253,000
231,000 I I I | 224,000

Q418 Q418 Q417 FY18 FY18 FY17
Actuals  Actuaral  Actuals  Actuals  Actuaral  Actuals
Estimates Estimates

" Average claim settfement is derived as the lolal amount paid divided by the number of non-nif claim

(7] vames Hardie

Quarter and full year claims received were 10%
and 2% below actuarial estimates, respectively

Quarter and full year claims received were flat and
1% higher, respectively, compared to pcp

Mesothelioma claims reported for the full year:
+ 5% above actuarial estimates
+ 5% higher than pcp

Average claim settlement for the full year was 11%
below actuarial estimates:

+ Lower average claim settlement sizes across
most disease types

« Favorable large claims experience




2019 KEY PLANNING ASSUMPTIONS

+ The Company expects to see steady growth in the US housing market continue in fiscal year 2019
» US Residential Housing Starts forecasted to be between 1.2 and 1.3 million
+ North America Fiber Cement Segment
« EBIT margins expected to be in the top end of our stated target range of 20% to 25%
« Expectation is based upon the Company continuing to deliver operating performance in our plants

consistent with recent quarters, stable exchange rates and a moderate inflationary trend for input costs

+ Australian business expected to trend in line with the average growth of the domestic repair and remodel and

single detached housing markets in the eastern states of Australia

+ Macroeconomic and housing market conditions in the European markets consistent with fiscal year 2018
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Adjusted Net Operating Profit' Adjusted Diluted EPS'
4th Qir Full Year 4th Qtr Full Year

US$81.1M t 49%| US$291.3M t 17% US18 cents t 50%| US66 cents

Adjusted EBIT * Net Operating Cash Flow
4th Qir Full Year Full Year
US$103.0M t 34%| US$397.5M t 12% US$295.0M

« Good operational momentum in North America Fiber Cement, strong performance in Australia
* Higher net sales in North America Fiber Cement segment
* Volume growth and market penetration in our International Fiber Cement segment
+ Strong cash generation disciplined capital allocation:
» Invested US$203.7 million on CAPEX to expand capacity and manufacturing footprint
» US$177.5 million of capital returned to shareholders

* Closed the acquisition of Fermacell on 3 April 2018

Excludes Asbestos related expenses and adjustments, loss on early debt extinguishment, acquisition costs and tax adjustmenis
" Excludes Asbestos related expenses and adjustments, and acquisition costs

(7] vames Hardie
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CIAL SUMMARY

Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

US$ Millions Q418 Q4'17 % Change FY18 FY17 % Change
Net Sales

North America Fiber Cement $ 4101 § 3877 6 § 15781 § 14934 6
International Fiber Cement 1125 102.8 9 461.7 411.8 12
Other Businesses 3.3 3.8 (13) 14.7 16.4 (10)
Total Net Sales $ 5259 § 4943 6 $ 20545 $ 19216 7
EBIT

North America Fiber Cement $ 1034 § 76.1 3 $ 3819 § 3439 11

International Fiber Cement 26.0 236 10 108.4 95.1 14
Other Businesses (2.8) (2.0 (40) (8.6) 6.7) (28)
Research & Development (7.3) (7.2) (1) (27.8) (25.5) (9)
General Corporate' (16.3) (13.4) (22) (56.4) (52.5) (7)
Adjusted EBIT $ 1030 $ 771 34 § 3975 § 3543 12

Net interest expense” (8.8) (6.9) (28) (31.4) (26.4) (19)
Other income 0.5 0.1 0.7 1.3 (46)
Adjusted income tax expense (13.6) (15.7) 13 (75.5) (80.8) 6

Adjusted net operating profit $ 811 § 546 49 $§ 2913 § 2486 17

! Excludes Asbestos related expenses and adiustments, loss on debt extinguishment and acquisition costs
# Exvludes AICF interest income/expense
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NET POST-TAX UNFUNDED ASBESTOS LIABILITY

A$ millions (except where stated)

FY18 FY17

Central Estimate - Undiscounted and Uninflated $ 14429 $§ 1,385.7

Provision for claims handling costs of AICF 0.1 29.4
Cross claims and other 33.8 18.8
Net assets of AICF (81.9) (71.9)
Effect of tax (526.0)  (488.6)
Net post-tax unfunded liability in A$ millions $ 8989 § 8734
Exchange rate US$ per A$1.00 0.7681 0.7644

Net post-tax unfunded liability in US$ millions § 6904 $§ 667.6
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ASBESTOS CASH MOVEMENTS FOR FULL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

A$ millions

AICF cash and investments - 31 March 2017 $ 1424
Contributions to AFFA by James Hardie 135.1

Insurance recoveries 9.5
Loan drawdowns -
Loan repayments (68.5)
Interest income, net 25
Claims paid (133.1)
Operating costs (4.0)
Other 0.7

AICF cash and investments - 31 March 2018 $ 84.6

.James Hardle PAGE 41
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DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

Depreciation and amortization
North America Fiber Cement
International Fiber Cement
Other Businesses
Research and Development
General Corporate
Total depreciation and amortization

(7] vames Hardie

$

$

Q4'18

184 §
3.1
0.5
0.3
1.1

234 §

Q4'17

16.3 §
29
0.5
0.3
0.7

207 §

FY18

725 §
12.6

2.1

1.4

3.4
920 $

FY17

64.3
11.8
2.2
1.7
3.2
83.2
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NON-US GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES AND TERMS

This Management Presentation forms part of a package of information about the company's results. It should be read in conjunction with
the other parts of this package, including the Management’s Analysis of Results, Media Release and Consolidated Financial Statements

Definitions
EEIT - Earnings before interest and taxes

EBIT margin — EBIT margin is defined as EBIT as a percentage of net sales

Sales Volumes
mmsf — million square feet, where a square foot is defined as a standard square foot of 5/16” thickness

msf - thousand square feet, where a square foot is defined as a standard square foot of 5/16" thickness

Non-financial Terms
AFFA — Amended and Restated Final Funding Agreement

AICF - Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund Ltd
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GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Financial Measures — US GAAP equivalents

This document contains financial statement line item descriptions that are considered to be non-US GAAP, but are consistent with those
used by Australian companies. Because the company prepares its Consolidated Financial Statements under US GAAP, the following
table cross-references each non-US GAAP line item description, as used in Management's Analysis of Results and Media Release, to
the equivalent US GAAP financial statement line item description used in the company’s Consolidated Financial Statements:

Management's Analysis of Results and Consolidated Statements of Operations
Media Release and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(US GAAP)

Net sales Net sales
Cost of goods sold Cost of goods sold

Gross profit Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses Research and development expenses
Asbestos adjustments Asbestos adjustments

EBIT* Operating income (loss)
Net interest income (expense)” Sum of interest expense and interest income
Other income (expense) Other income (expense)

Operating profit (loss) before income taxes* Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit Income tax (expense) benefit

Net operating profit (loss)* Net income (loss)
*- Represents non-US GAAP descriptions used by Australian companies.
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'NON-US GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Financial Measures — US GAAP equivalents

Adjusted EBIT
US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
Q418 Q417 FY18 FY17

EBIT § (95.8) § 78.2 § 2292 § 393.2
Asbestos:

Asbestes adjustments 1929 (1.4) 156.4 (40.4)

AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5
Fermacell acquisition costs 53 5 10.0 .
Adjusted EBIT $ 103.0 $ 7718 3975 § 354.3
Mat sales § 5259 % 4943 § 20545 % 1,921.6
Adjusted EBIT margin 19.6% 15.6% 19.3% 18.4%

Adjusted net operating profit

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

Q418 Qa7 FY18 FY17

Net operating (loss) profit $ (57.6) $ 445 § 1461 § 276.5
Asbestos:

Asbestos adjustments 192.9 (1.4) 156.4 (40.4)

AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5

AICF interest (income) expense, net (0.9) 0.3 (1.9) 1.1
Loss on early debt extinguishmant . . 26.1
Fermacell acquisition costs 5.3 - 10.0 -
Tax adjustments’' (59.2) 1049 47.3) 9.9
Adjusted net operating profit $ 811 § 546 § 2913 § 248.6

T Includes fax adjustments related to Asbestos, loss on early debl extinguishment and other tax adjustments
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N-US GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Adjusted diluted earnings per share

Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

Q418 Q417 FY18 FY17

Adjusted net operating profit (US$ Millions) H 811 § 546 § 2913 § 248.6
We[ghted average common shares outstanding - 443.0 4414 4423 443.9

Diluted {millions)
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (US cents) 18 12 66 56
Adjusted effective tax rate

Q4'18 Q417 FY18 FY17

Operating (loss) profit before income taxes $ {103.2) § 711§ 1743 § 367.0
Asbestos:

Asbestos adjustments 1929 (1.4) 156.4 (40.4)

AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5

AICF interest (income) expense, net {0.9) 0.3 {1.9) 1.1
Loss on early debt extinguishment - - 26.1 -
Fermacell acquisition costs 5.3 - 10.0 -
Adjusted operating profit before income taxes  § 947 § 703 § 366.8 $ 320.2
Income tax benefit (expense) § 456 § (26.6) & (28.2) § {90.5)
Tax adjustm ents' (59.2) 10.9 (47.3) 9.9
Adjusted income fax expense $ (136) § (15.7) § (75.5) § (80.6)
Effective tax rate 44.2% 37.4% 16.2% 24.7%
Adjusted effective tax rate 14.4% 22.3% 20.6% 24.5%

' Includes tax adjustments related to Asbestos, loss on early debt extinguishment and other tax adjustments
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N-US GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Adjusted EBITDA excluding Asbestos

Q4'18 Q417 FY18 FY17

EBIT $ (95.8) 78.2 § 2292 § 393.2
Depreciation and amortization 234 20.7 92.0 83.2
Adjusted EBITDA $ (72.4) § 989 § 3212 § 476.4
Asbestos:

Asbestos adjustments 192.9 1.4) 156.4 (40.4)

AICF SG&A expenses 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.5
Adjusted EBITDA excluding Asbestos $ 1211 § 978 § 4795 § 437.5

Adjusted selling, general and administrative expenses ("Adjusted SG&A")

US$ Millions Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March

Q4'18 o417 FY18 FY17
SG&A expenses - 851 § 759 § 3.3 % 291.6
Excluding:

AICF SG&A expenses (0.8) (0.3) (1.9) (1.5)
Fermacell acquisition costs (5.3) - {10.0) .
Adjusted SG&A expenses $ 792 § 756 § 2994 % 290.1
Net sales 3 5269 § 4943 § 20545 % 1,921.6
SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales 16.2% 15.4% 15.2% 15.2%

Adjusted SG&A expenses asa percentage of net
sales

15.1% 15.3% 14.6% 15.1%
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NON-US GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

(7] vames Hardie

Adjusted Return on Capital Employed ("Adjusted ROCE")

FY18 FY17

Numerator
Adjusted EBIT $ 3975 $ 354.3
Denominator

Gross capital employed (GCE) 1,272.0 1,107.6

Adjustment to GCE (24.3) 50.3
Adjusted gross capital employed $ 1,247.7 § 1,157.9
Adjusted Return on Captial Employed 31.9% 30.6%

! Adjusted ROCE is used to assess annual financial results and therefore is not presented for the three months ended 31
March 2018
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of James Hardie Industries plc
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of James Hardie Industries plc (the Company) as of 31 March 2018 and
2017, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' deficit, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended 31 March 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company at 31 March 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
31 March 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our
audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2008.

Irvine, California
22 May 2018
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James Hardie Industries plc

Consolidated Balance Sheets

31 March 31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 281.6 78.9
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 5.0 5.0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - Asbestos 26.6 108.9
Restricted short-term investments - Asbestos 38.4 —
Accounts and other receivables, net of provision for doubtful trade debts of US$1.3 million and US$0.9 million as of
31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 202.7 199.5
Inventories 255.7 202.9
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 25.4 28.3
Insurance receivable - Asbestos 5.1 5.7
Workers’ compensation - Asbestos 21 29
Total current assets 842.6 632.1
Property, plant and equipment, net 992.1 879.0
Insurance receivable - Asbestos 52.8 58.1
Workers’ compensation - Asbestos 28.8 40.4
Deferred income taxes 29.9 26.9
Deferred income taxes - Asbestos 382.9 356.6
Other assets 21.9 19.6
Total assets 2,351.0 2,012.7
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 193.3 173.5
Short-term debt - Asbestos — 52.4
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 61.8 60.5
Accrued product warranties 7.3 9.4
Income taxes payable 3.2 1.9
Asbestos liability 1141 116.4
Workers’ compensation - Asbestos 21 29
Other liabilities 12.8 11.8
Total current liabilities 394.6 428.8
Long-term debt 884.4 564.5
Deferred income taxes 66.4 94.8
Accrued product warranties 455 37.2
Income taxes payable 25.9 —
Asbestos liability 1,101.0 1,043.3
Workers’ compensation - Asbestos 28.8 40.4
Other liabilities 25.9 15.9
Total liabilities 2,572.5 2,224.9
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Shareholders’ deficit:
Common stock, Euro 0.59 par value, 2.0 billion shares authorized; 441,524,118 shares issued and outstanding at 31
March 2018 and 440,843,275 shares issued and outstanding at 31 March 2017 229.5 2291
Additional paid-in capital 185.6 173.8
Accumulated deficit (635.3) (612.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1.3) (2.2)
Total shareholders’ deficit (221.5) (212.2)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit 2,351.0 2,012.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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James Hardie Industries plc

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars, except per share data) 2018 2017 2016
Net sales $ 2,054.5 $ 1,921.6 $ 1,728.2
Cost of goods sold (1,324.3) (1,246.9) (1,096.0)
Gross profit 730.2 674.7 632.2
Selling, general and administrative expenses (311.3) (291.6) (254.2)
Research and development expenses (33.3) (30.3) (29.5)
Asbestos adjustments (156.4) 40.4 5.5
Operating income 229.2 393.2 354.0
Interest expense, net of capitalized interest (32.9) (28.5) (26.6)
Interest income 34 1.0 1.0
Loss on early debt extinguishment (26.1) — —
Other income 0.7 1.3 21
Income before income taxes 174.3 367.0 330.5
Income tax expense (28.2) (90.5) (86.1)
Net income $ 146.1 $ 276.5 $ 2444
Income per share:
Basic $ 033 § 0.62 $ 0.55
Diluted $ 0.33 $ 0.62 $ 0.55
Weighted average common shares outstanding (Millions):
Basic 441.2 4427 445.3
Diluted 442.3 443.9 447.2
Comprehensive income, net of tax:
Net income $ 146.1 $ 276.5 $ 2444
Pension and post-retirement benefit adjustments — — 0.3
Currency translation adjustments 0.9 (3.0) 0.9
Comprehensive income $ 147.0 $ 273.5 $ 245.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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James Hardie Industries plc
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income $ 146.1 $ 2765 $ 244.4
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 92.0 83.2 79.8
Deferred income taxes (76.8) 26.0 (0.1)
Stock-based compensation 11.1 9.3 10.3
Asbestos adjustments 156.4 (40.4) (5.5)
Excess tax benefits from share-based awards (0.8) (3.0) 0.4)
Loss on early debt extinguishment 26.1 — —
Other, net 12.6 15.0 14.8
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - Asbestos 95.2 0.9 100.3
Payment to AICF (102.2) (91.1) (62.8)
Accounts and other receivables (2.0) (28.4) (39.9)
Inventories (51.7) 9.7) 16.2
Prepaid expenses and other assets (2.8) (2.1) (3.9)
Insurance receivable - Asbestos 7.3 93.3 17.2
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14.2 39.6 (16.9)
Asbestos liability (104.4) (92.0) (114.9)
Income taxes payable 26.9 (2.7) 4.0
Other accrued liabilities 47.8 17.7 17.8
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 295.0 $ 2921  § 260.4
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment $ (203.7) $ (101.9) $ (73.2)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 7.9 — 10.4
Capitalized interest (4.8) (2.0) (3.2)
Acquisition of assets — (5.1) (0.6)
Net cash used in investing activities $ (200.6) $ (109.0) $ (66.6)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from credit facilities $ 380.0 $ 395.0 $ 528.0
Repayments of credit facilities (455.0) (410.0) (413.0)
Proceeds from senior unsecured notes 800.0 77.3 —
Debt issuance costs (15.7) (1.7) (3.1)
Repayment of senior unsecured notes (400.0) — —
Call redemption premium paid to note holders (19.5) — —
Proceeds from issuance of shares 0.2 0.3 2.1
Excess tax benefits from share-based awards — 3.0 0.4
Common stock repurchased and retired — (99.8) (22.3)
Dividends paid (177.5) (176.8) (246.5)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 112.5 $ (2127)  $ (154.4)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash $ 42) $ 14 $ 0.7
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 202.7 (28.2) 40.1
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 78.9 107.1 67.0
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 2816 $ 789 $ 107.1
Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank $ 2788 $ 750 $ 94.5
Short-term deposits 2.8 3.9 12.6
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 2816 $ 789 $ 107.1
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Activities
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 263 $ 262 $ 20.5
Cash paid during the year for income taxes, net $ 49.1 $ 515 §$ 57.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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James Hardie Industries plc

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Deficit

(Millions of US dollars)
Balances as of 31 March 2015
Net income

Other comprehensive income
Stock-based compensation

Tax benefit from stock options exercised
Equity awards exercised
Dividends declared

Treasury stock purchased
Treasury stock retired
Balances as of 31 March 2016
Net income

Other comprehensive loss
Stock-based compensation

Tax benefit from stock options exercised
Equity awards exercised
Dividends declared

Treasury stock purchased
Treasury stock retired
Balances as of 31 March 2017
Net income

Other comprehensive income
Stock-based compensation
Equity awards exercised
Dividends declared

Balances as of 31 March 2018

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Paid-in Accumulated Treasury Comprehensive
Stock Capital Deficit (loss) income Total

$ 2312 § 1532 § (586.6) $ = (0.4) $ (202.6)
— — 2444 — — 2444

— — — — 1.2 1.2

0.8 9.5 — — — 10.3

— 0.4 — — — 0.4

0.2 1.9 — — — 21
— — (258.7) — — (258.7)
— — — (22.3) — (22.3)

(0.8) 0.6) (20.9) 22.3 — —
$ 2314 § 1644 § (621.8) $ — 0.8 $ (225.2)
— — 276.5 — — 276.5
— — — — (3.0) (3.0)

0.9 8.4 — — — 9.3

— 3.0 — — — 3.0

— 0.3 — — — 0.3
— — (173.3) — — (173.3)
— — — (99.8) — (99.8)

(3.2) (2.3) (94.3) 99.8 — —
$ 229.1 $ 1738 § (6129) $ = (2.2) $ (212.2)
— — 146.1 — — 146.1

— — — — 0.9 0.9

0.4 11.6 0.9) — — 111

— 0.2 — — — 0.2
— — (167.6) — — (167.6)
$ 2295 § 1856 § (6353) $ = (1.3) $ (221.5)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Background and Basis of Presentation
Nature of Operations

James Hardie Industries plc (“JHI plc”) manufactures and sells fiber cement building products for interior and exterior building construction
applications, primarily in the United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, the Philippines and Europe.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements represent the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of JHI plc and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries and variable interest entity (“VIE”). Unless the context indicates otherwise, JHI plc and its direct and indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries and VIE (as of the time relevant to the applicable reference) are collectively referred to as “James Hardie”, the “James Hardie
Group” or the “Company”. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“US GAAP”). The US dollar is used as the reporting currency.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Reclassifications

Within the operating activities section of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, the
Company reclassified the change in the Income Tax Payable balance of US$2.7 million and US$4.0 million which was previously included
within a change in Other Accrued Liabilities, and separated these costs in the change in Income Tax Payable line item, to conform to
current year presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of JHI plc, its wholly-owned subsidiaries and VIE. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

A VIE is an entity that is evaluated for consolidation using more than a simple analysis of voting control. The analysis is based on (i) what
party has the power to direct the most significant activities of the VIE that impact its economic performance, and (ii) what party has rights to
receive benefits or is obligated to absorb losses that are significant to the VIE. The analysis of the party that consolidates a VIE is a
continual assessment.

In February 2007, the Company’s shareholders approved the Amended and Restated Final Funding Agreement (the “AFFA”), an
agreement pursuant to which the Company provides long-term funding to Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund (“AICF”), a special
purpose fund that provides compensation for the Australian-related personal injuries for which certain former subsidiary companies of
James Hardie in Australia (being Amaca Pty Ltd (“Amaca”), Amaba Pty Ltd (“Amaba”) and ABN 60 Pty Limited (“ABN 60”) (collectively, the
“Former James Hardie Companies”)) are found liable. JHI plc owns 100% of James Hardie 117 Pty Ltd (the “Performing Subsidiary”),
which, under the terms of the AFFA, has an obligation to make payments to AICF on an annual basis subject to the provisions of the
AFFA. JHI plc guarantees the Performing Subsidiary’s obligation. Additionally, the Company appoints three AICF directors and the New
South Wales (“NSW”) Government appoints two AICF directors.
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James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Although the Company has no ownership interest in AICF, for financial reporting purposes, the Company consolidates AICF which is a VIE
as defined under US GAAP due to its pecuniary and contractual interests in AICF as a result of the funding arrangements outlined in the
AFFA. The Company’s consolidation of AICF results in AICF’s assets and liabilities being recorded on its consolidated balance sheets and
AICF’s income and expense transactions being recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. These
items are Australian dollar-denominated and are subject to remeasurement into US dollars at each reporting date.

For the fiscal years ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not provide financial or other support to AICF that it was not
previously contractually required to provide.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation/Remeasurement

All assets and liabilities are translated or remeasured into US dollars at current exchange rates while revenues and expenses are
translated or remeasured at average exchange rates in effect for the period. The effects of foreign currency translation adjustments are
included directly in other comprehensive income in shareholders’ deficit. Gains and losses arising from foreign currency transactions are
recognized in income currently.

The Company has recorded on its balance sheet certain Australian assets and liabilities, including asbestos-related assets and liabilities
under the terms of the AFFA, that are denominated in Australian dollars and subject to translation (Australian entities) or remeasurement
(AICF entity) into US dollars at each reporting date. Unless otherwise noted, the Company converts Australian dollar denominated assets
and liabilities into US dollars at the current spot rate at the end of the reporting period; while revenues and expenses are converted using
an average exchange rate for the period.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents generally relate to amounts subject to letters of credit with insurance companies, which restrict the
cash from use for general corporate purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is generally determined under the first-in, first-out method, except
that the cost of raw materials and supplies is determined using actual or average costs. Cost includes the costs of materials, labor and
applied factory overhead. On a regular basis, the Company evaluates its inventory balances for excess quantities and obsolescence by
analyzing demand, inventory on hand, sales levels and other information. Based on these evaluations, inventory costs are adjusted to net
realizable value, if necessary.
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James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Property, plant and equipment of businesses acquired are recorded at their estimated
fair value at the date of acquisition. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:

Years
Buildings 10 to 40
Buildings Improvements 3to 25
Leasehold Improvements 510 40
Machinery and Equipment 1to 30

Depreciation and Amortization

The Company records depreciation and amortization under both Cost of goods sold and Selling, general and administrative expenses,
depending on the asset’s business use. All depreciation and amortization related to plant building, machinery and equipment is recorded in
Cost of goods sold.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment, are evaluated each quarter for events or changes in circumstances that indicate
that an asset might be impaired because the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. These include, without limitation, a
significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset or asset group is being used, a current period operating or
cash flow loss combined with a history of operating or cash flow losses, a projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses
associated with the use of a long-lived asset or asset group and/or a current expectation that it is more likely than not that a long lived
asset or asset group will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life.

When such indicators of potential impairment are identified, recoverability is tested by grouping long-lived assets that are used together
and represent the lowest level for which cash flows are identifiable and distinct from the cash flows of other long-lived assets, which is
typically at the production line or plant facility level, depending on the type of long-lived asset subject to an impairment review.

Recoverability is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset group to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying amount exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment
charge is recognized at the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset group.

The methodology used to estimate the fair value of the asset group is based on a discounted cash flow analysis that considers the asset
group’s highest and best use that would maximize the value of the asset group. In addition, the estimated fair value of an asset group also
considers, to the extent practicable, a market participant’s expectations and assumptions in estimating the fair value of the asset group. If
the estimated fair value of the asset group is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized at an amount equal to the
excess of the carrying value over the estimated fair value of the asset group.

See Note 7 for additional information.



James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Accrued Product Warranties

An accrual for estimated future warranty costs is recorded based on an analysis by the Company, which includes the historical relationship
of warranty costs to installed product at an estimated remediation cost per standard foot. Based on this analysis and other factors, the
adequacy of the Company’s warranty provisions is adjusted as necessary.

Debt

The Company’s debt consists of an unsecured revolving credit facility, a 364-day term loan facility and senior unsecured notes. Each of the
Company's debt instruments is recorded at cost, net of any original issue discount or premium, where applicable. The related original issue
discount, premium and debt issuance costs are amortized over the term of each respective borrowing using the effective interest method.
Debt is presented as current if the liability is due to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date, unless the Company has the
ability and intention to refinance on a long term basis in accordance with US GAAP. Readers are referred to the discussion later in this
footnote under Fair Value Measurements and Note 9 for the Company’s fair value considerations.

In addition, the Company consolidates AICF which has a loan facility. Readers are referred to the discussion later in this footnote under
Asbestos-related Accounting Policies.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the risks and obligations of ownership have been transferred to the customer, which generally
occurs at the time of delivery to the customer. The Company records estimated reductions in sales for customer rebates and discounts
including volume, promotional, cash and other discounts. Rebates and discounts are recorded based on management’s best estimate
when products are sold. The estimates are based on historical experience for similar programs and products. Management reviews these
rebates and discounts on an ongoing basis and the related accruals are adjusted, if necessary, as additional information becomes
available.

A portion of the Company’s revenue is made through distributors under a Vendor Managed Inventory agreement whereby revenue is
recognized upon the transfer of title and risk of loss to the distributors.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized
by applying enacted statutory rates applicable to future years to differences between the tax bases and financial reporting amounts of
existing assets and liabilities. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions are recognized in Income tax expense on the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income. Readers are referred to Note 14 for further discussion of income taxes.

Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of financial instruments and includes this additional information in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by the Company using available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of
fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company
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James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material
effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Periodically, interest rate swaps, commodity swaps and forward exchange contracts are used to manage market risks and reduce
exposure resulting from fluctuations in interest rates, commodity prices and foreign currency exchange rates. Changes in the fair value
that are not designated as hedges are recorded in earnings within Other income at each measurement date. The Company does not use
derivatives for trading purposes. Readers are referred to Note 12 for further discussion on financial instruments.

Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabilities of the Company that are carried or disclosed, at fair value are classified in one of the following three categories:

Level 1 Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the
measurement date;

Level 2  Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data for the asset or liability at the
measurement date;

Level 3  Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data used when there is minimal market activity for the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

Fair value measurements of assets and liabilities are assigned a level within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level of any input
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

The carrying amounts of Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted cash and cash equivalents, Trade receivables, Trade payables and
Revolving Credit Facility approximates their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense represents the estimated fair value of equity-based and liability-classified awards granted to
employees and is recognized as an expense over the vesting period. Stock-based compensation expense is included in the line item
Selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Equity awards with vesting based solely on a service condition are typically subject to graded vesting, in that the awards vest25% after the
first year, 25% after the second year and 50% after the third year. For equity awards subject to graded vesting, the Company has elected
to use the accelerated recognition method. Accordingly, each vesting tranche is valued separately, and the recognition of stock-based
compensation expense is more heavily weighted earlier in the vesting period. Stock-based compensation expense for equity awards that
are subject to performance or market vesting conditions are based upon an estimate of the number of awards that are expected to vest
and typically recognized ratably over the vesting period. The Company issues new shares to award recipients upon exercise of stock
options or when the vesting condition for restricted stock units (“RSU’s”) has been satisfied.

For RSU’s subject to a service vesting condition, the fair value is equal to the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of
grant, adjusted for the fair value of estimated dividends as the restricted stock holder is not entitled to dividends over the vesting period.
For RSU’s subject to a scorecard performance vesting condition, the fair value is adjusted for changes in JHI plc’s common stock price at
each balance sheet date until the end of the performance period. For RSU’s subject to a market vesting condition, the fair value is
estimated using a Monte Carlo Simulation.

F-12



James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Compensation expense recognized for liability-classified awards are based upon an estimate of the number of awards that are expected to
vest and on the fair market value of JHI plc’s common stock on the date of grant and recorded as a liability. The liability is adjusted for
subsequent changes in JHI plc’'s common stock price at each balance sheet date.

Earnings Per Share

The Company discloses basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”). Basic EPS is calculated using net income divided by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is similar to basic EPS except that the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding is increased to include the number of additional common shares calculated using the Treasury
Method that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares, such as stock options and RSU’s, had been issued.

Basic and dilutive common shares outstanding used in determining net income per share are as follows:

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of shares) 2018 2017 2016

Basic common shares outstanding 441.2 442.7 4453
Dilutive effect of stock awards 11 1.2 1.9
Diluted common shares outstanding 442.3 443.9 447.2
(US dollars) 2018 2017 2016

Net income per share - basic 0.33 0.62 0.55
Net income per share - diluted 0.33 0.62 0.55

There were no potential common shares which would be considered anti-dilutive for the years ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Unless they are anti-dilutive, RSU’s which vest solely based on continued employment are considered to be outstanding as of their
issuance date for purposes of computing diluted EPS and are included in the calculation of diluted EPS using the Treasury Method. Once
these RSU'’s vest, they are included in the basic EPS calculation on a weighted-average basis.

RSU’s which vest based on performance or market conditions are considered contingent shares. At each reporting date prior to the end of
the contingency period, the Company determines the number of contingently issuable shares to include in the diluted EPS calculation, as
the number of shares that would be issuable under the terms of the RSU arrangement, if the end of the reporting period were the end of
the contingency period. Once these RSU’s vest, they are included in the basic EPS calculation on a weighted-average basis.

Potential common shares of 1.6 million, 1.8 million and 1.3 million for the years ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, have
been excluded from the calculation of diluted common shares outstanding as they are considered contingent shares which are not
expected to vest.
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James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Asbestos-related Accounting Policies

Asbestos Liability

The amount of the asbestos liability has been recognized by reference to (but not exclusively based upon) the most recent actuarial
estimate of projected future cash flows as calculated by KPMG Actuarial (‘KPMGA”), who are engaged and appointed by AICF under the
terms of the AFFA. Based on their assumptions, KPMGA arrived at a range of possible total future cash flows and calculated a central
estimate, which is intended to reflect a probability-weighted expected outcome of those actuarially estimated future cash flows projected by
KPMGA to occur through 2072.

The Company recognizes the asbestos liability in the consolidated financial statements by reference to (but not exclusively based upon)
the undiscounted and uninflated central estimate. The Company considered discounting when determining the best estimate under
US GAAP. The Company has recognized the asbestos liability by reference to (but not exclusively based upon) the central estimate as
undiscounted on the basis that the timing and amounts of such cash flows are not fixed or readily determinable. The Company considered
inflation when determining the best estimate under US GAAP. It is the Company’s view that there are material uncertainties in estimating
an appropriate rate of inflation over the extended period of the AFFA. The Company views the undiscounted and uninflated central
estimate as the best estimate under US GAAP.

Adjustments in the asbestos liability due to changes in the actuarial estimate of projected future cash flows and changes in the estimate of
future operating costs of AICF are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income during the period in
which they occur. Claims paid by AICF and claims-handling costs incurred by AICF are treated as reductions in the Asbestos liability
balances.

Insurance Receivable

The insurance receivable recorded by the Company has been recognized by reference to (but not exclusively based upon) the most recent
actuarial estimate of recoveries expected from insurance policies and insurance companies with exposure to the asbestos claims, as
calculated by KPMGA. The assessment of recoveries is based on the expected pattern of claims against such policies less an allowance
for credit risk based on credit agency ratings. The insurance receivable generally includes these cash flows as undiscounted and
uninflated, however, where the timing of recoveries has been agreed with the insurer, the receivables are recorded on a discounted basis.
The Company records insurance receivables that are deemed probable of being realized.

Adjustments in the insurance receivable due to changes in the actuarial estimate, or changes in the Company’s assessment of
recoverability are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income during the period in which they occur.
Insurance recoveries are treated as a reduction in the insurance receivable balance.

Workers’ Compensation

An estimate of the liability related to workers’ compensation claims is prepared by KPMGA as part of the annual actuarial assessment.
This estimate contains two components, amounts that will be met by a workers’ compensation scheme or policy, and amounts that will be
met by the Former James Hardie Companies.

The estimated liability is included as part of the asbestos liability and adjustments to the estimate are reflected in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income during the period in which they occur. Amounts that are expected to be paid by the
workers’ compensation schemes or policies are recorded as workers’ compensation receivable. Adjustments to the workers’ compensation
liability result in an equal

F-14



James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

adjustment in the workers’ compensation receivable recorded by the Company and have no effect on the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents of AICF are reflected as restricted assets, as the use of these assets is restricted to the settlement of asbestos
claims and payment of the operating costs of AICF. Since cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid, the Company classifies these
amounts as a current asset on the consolidated balance sheets.

Restricted Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments of AICF consist of highly liquid investments held in the custody of major financial institutions. All short-term
investments are classified as available for sale and are recorded in the financial statements at fair value. The fair value of restricted short-
term investments is based on quoted market prices using the specific identification method. Unrealized gains and losses on the fair value
of these investments are included as a separate component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss. Realized gains and losses on
short-term investments are recognized in Other income on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Short-Term Debt

AICF has access to a secured loan facility (the “AICF Loan Facility”) made available by the NSW Government, which can be used by AICF
to fund the payment of asbestos claims and certain operating and legal costs of AICF and Former James Hardie Companies (together, the
“Obligors”).

Interest accrues daily on amounts outstanding, is calculated based on a 365-day year and is payable monthly. AICF may, at its discretion,
elect to accrue interest payable on amounts outstanding under the AICF Loan Facility on the date interest becomes due and payable.

Deferred Income Taxes

The Performing Subsidiary is able to claim a tax deduction for its contributions to AICF over a five-year period commencing in the year the
contribution is incurred. Consequently, a deferred tax asset has been recognized equivalent to the anticipated tax benefit over the life of the
AFFA.

Adjustments are made to the deferred income tax asset as adjustments to the asbestos-related assets and liabilities are recorded.

Asbestos Adjustments

The Asbestos adjustments reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income reflect the net change in the
actuarial estimate of the asbestos liability and insurance receivables and change in the estimate of AICF claims handling costs.
Additionally, as the asbestos-related assets and liabilities are denominated in Australian dollars, the reported values of these asbestos-
related assets and liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets in US dollars are subject to adjustment depending on the
closing exchange rate between the two currencies at the balance sheet dates, the effect of which is also included in Asbestos adjustments
in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
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Asbestos Impact on Statement of Cash Flows

Asbestos Adjustments

The Asbestos adjustments, as recorded on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (as described above) is
presented as a reconciling item from net income to cash flows from operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Operating assets and liabilities related to Asbestos

Movements in the operating assets and liabilities related to asbestos (asbestos liability, insurance receivable, restricted cash and cash
equivalents, restricted short-term investments) recorded on the consolidated balance sheets are reflected in the cash flows from operating
activities section of the consolidated statements of cash flows as a change in operating assets and liabilities.

Payment to AICF

Payments made to AICF by the Performing Subsidiary under the terms of the AFFA are reflected in the consolidated statements of cash
flows as a change in operating assets and liabilities.

AICF Loan Facility

Any drawings, repayments, or payments of accrued interest under the AICF Loan Facility, made by AICF, are offset against the movement
in restricted cash in the cash flows from operating activities section of the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, which
provides guidance requiring companies to recognize revenue depicting the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that
reflect the payment to which a company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU No. 2014-09 also requires
additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts,
including significant judgments and changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract. ASU No.
2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 15 December 2017, and interim periods within those years, with early
adoption permitted for annual reporting periods beginning after 15 December 2016. Companies may use either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach to adopt ASU No. 2014-09. The Company will adopt ASU No. 2014-09 (and related clarifying guidance
issued by the FASB) starting with the fiscal year beginning 1 April 2018 using a modified retrospective approach. The Company's
evaluation of this guidance included performing a review of all revenue streams to identify any differences in the timing, measurement or
presentation of revenue recognition. The Company completed this evaluation and does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, which provides guidance on the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows
arising from leases. The standard requires lessees to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and requires
expanded disclosures about leasing arrangements. Lessor accounting will remain largely unchanged from current guidance, however ASU
No. 2016-02 will provide improvements that are intended to align lessor accounting with the lessee model and with updated revenue
recognition guidance. The amendments in ASU No. 2016-02 are effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years, beginning
after 15 December 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company has begun its process for implementing this guidance, including
performing a preliminary review of all active
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leases. The Company will adopt ASU No. 2016-02 starting with the fiscal year beginning 1 April 2019 and is currently evaluating the impact
of the guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, which provides guidance to simplify several aspects of the accounting for share-based
payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and classification on
the statement of cash flows. The amendments in ASU No. 2016-09 were effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years,
beginning after 15 December 2016. Amendments related to the timing of when excess tax benefits are recognized, minimum statutory
withholding requirements, forfeitures, and intrinsic value shall be applied on a modified retrospective basis, wherein the beginning retained
earnings in the period in which the guidance is adopted should include a cumulative-effect adjustment to reflect the effects of applying the
new guidance. Amendments related to the presentation of employee taxes paid on the statements of cash flows shall be applied
retrospectively. Amendments requiring recognition of excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies in the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income and the practical expedient for estimating term shall be applied prospectively. An entity may elect to apply the
amendments related to the presentation of excess tax benefits on the statements of cash flows using either a prospective transition
method or a retrospective transition method. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-09 starting with the fiscal year beginning 1 April 2017.
Upon adoption, the Company began recognizing forfeitures as they occurred and applied the change in classification of cash flows
resulting from excess tax benefits or deficiencies on a prospective basis. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on
its consolidated financial statements, and prior periods have not been adjusted as a result of this standard.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, which requires entities to recognize the income tax consequences of intra-entity
transfers of assets other than inventory when the transfer occurs. The amendments in ASU No. 2016-16 are effective for fiscal years and
interim periods within those years, beginning after 15 December 2017, with early adoption permitted. The amendments in ASU No. 2016-
16 shall be applied on a modified retrospective basis, wherein the beginning retained earnings in the period in which the guidance is
adopted should include a cumulative-effect adjustment to reflect the effects of applying the new guidance. During the year ended 31 March
2018, the Company undertook an internal restructuring to align certain intangible assets with its US business. These intangible assets are
subject to US tax amortization. As required by ASC 740, the Company did not recognize the related amortizable deferred tax asset from
these intangible assets in the year ended 31 March, 2018. The Company will adopt ASU No. 2016-16 starting with the fiscal year
beginning 1 April 2018 and expects to record an increase in gross deferred income tax assets of approximately US$1,390.0 million net of a
valuation allowance of US$150.0 million, and a corresponding cumulative retained earnings adjustment of US$1,240.0 million on 1 April
2018, resulting from all internal restructuring transactions undertaken in prior years, including the internal restructuring transaction
implemented during the year ended 31 March 2018.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, which requires the statement of cash flows to explain the change during the period
in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. The amendments
in ASU No. 2016-18 are effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years, beginning after 15 December 2017, with early
adoption permitted. The amendments in ASU No. 2016-18 shall be applied on a retrospective basis for each period presented. The
Company will adopt ASU No. 2016-18 starting with the fiscal year beginning 1 April 2018 and is currently evaluating the impact of the new
guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, which clarifies the definition of a business to assist entities with evaluating whether
transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions or disposals of either assets or of businesses. The amendments in ASU No. 2017-01
are effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years, beginning after 15 December 2017, on a prospective basis. Early
application of the amendments in ASU No. 2017-01 is allowable for transactions in which the acquisition date, the date of
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the deconsolidation of a subsidiary or the date a group of assets is derecognized occurs before the report issuance date. The Company will
adopt ASU No. 2017-01 starting with the fiscal year beginning 1 April 2018 and does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-05, which provides the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Staff's guidance when
preparing the initial accounting for the income tax effects of the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJ Act"), which was enacted on 22
December 2017. The staff guidance addresses the specific situation in which the initial accounting for certain income tax effects of the TCJ
Act will not be complete at the time that financial statements are issued. ASU No. 2018-05 is effective for financial statements that include
the reporting period in which the TCJ Act was enacted. Therefore, the Company implemented the guidance in ASU No. 2018-05 in its
financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 March 2018. Upon adoption, the Company ensured that both the tax effects recorded and
disclosures required as result of the TCJ Act are in accordance with ASU No. 2018-05. The Company has completed or provisionally
estimated all of the effects of the TCJ Act. The final impact of the TCJ Act may differ from these provisionally estimated tax effects,
including the effects of, among other things, the estimate of available foreign tax credits and additional guidance or regulations that may be
issued including state tax conformity impacts. Refer to Note 14 for further details.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit in banks and cash invested temporarily in various highly liquid financial instruments with original
maturities of three months or less when acquired.

4. Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Included in restricted cash and cash equivalents is US $5.0 million related to an insurance policy at 31 March 2018 and 2017, which restricts the cash from use
for general corporate purposes.

5. Accounts and Other Receivables

Accounts and other receivables consist of the following components:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017
Trade receivables $ 196.9 $ 194.5
Other receivables and advances 71 5.9
Provision for doubtful trade debts (1.3) 0.9)
Total accounts and other receivables $ 202.7 $ 199.5

The collectability of accounts receivable, consisting mainly of trade receivables, is reviewed on an ongoing basis. A provision for doubtful
trade debts is provided for known and estimated bad debts by analyzing specific customer accounts and assessing the risk of
uncollectability based on insolvency, disputes or other collection issues.
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The following are changes in the provision for doubtful trade debts:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of period $ 09 $ 1.1 $ 0.8
Adjustment to provision 0.6 0.1) 0.5
Write-offs, net of recoveries (0.2) (0.1) 0.2)
Balance at end of period $ 1.3 $ 0.9 $ 1.1
6. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following components:

31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017
Finished goods $ 1903 § 146.7
Work-in-process 8.1 6.5
Raw materials and supplies 65.3 57.5
Provision for obsolete finished goods and raw materials (8.0) (7.8)
Total inventories $ 255.7 $ 202.9

As of 31 March 2018 and 2017, US$30.2 million and US$29.8 million, respectively, of the Company’s finished goods inventory balance
was held at vendor managed inventory locations.
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7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following components:

Machinery Construction

(Millions of US dollars) and in
Cost or valuation: Land Buildings Equipment Progress Total
At 31 March 2016 $ 70.1 $ 266.0 $ 1,062.4 § 143.5 $ 1,542.0
Additions 2 1.3 23 27.8 81.8 113.2
Transfers 1.9 231 112.3 (137.3) =
Disposals — (1.4) (55.5) 0.5) (57.4)
Other 3 — (12.5) — 6.4 (6.1)
Exchange differences 0.4) 0.8) (2.4) 0.1) (3.7)
Adjustment 4 (3.4) 67.8 31.1 (37.2) 58.3
At 31 March 2017 $ 695 § 3445 $ 11757  § 56.6 $ 1,646.3
Additions 2 — 7.9 83.8 126.1 217.8
Disposals ® (1.4) (5.6) (24.3) (3.6) (34.9)
Exchange differences 0.1 — 0.9 (0.2) 0.8
At 31 March 2018 $ 682 § 3468 § 1,236.1 $ 178.9 $ 1,830.0
Accumulated depreciation:
At 31 March 2016 $ — 3 (98.2) $ (576.8) $ = $ (675.0)
Charge for the year — (10.2) (70.1) — (80.3)
Disposals — 1.3 411 — 42.4
Other 3 — 1.6 — — 1.6
Exchange differences — 0.3 2.0 — 23
Adjustment 4 — (22.8) (35.5) — (58.3)
At 31 March 2017 $ — (128.0) $ (639.3) $ = $ (767.3)
Charge for the year — (11.3) (77.6) — (88.9)
Disposals 5 — 1.9 16.6 — 18.5
Exchange differences — — 0.2) — 0.2)
At 31 March 2018 $ — (1374) $ (700.5) $ = $ (837.9)
Net book amount:
At 31 March 2017 $ 695 § 2165 § 5364 $ 56.6 $ 879.0
At 31 March 2018 $ 682 § 2094 $ 5356 § 178.9 $ 992.1
1—mruction in progress is presented net of assets transferred into

service.
2 Additions include US$4.8 million and US$2.0 million of capitalized interest for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017,

respectively.
3 Other includes the transfer of the Fontana building to Prepaid and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The Fontana building met the held for sale criteria as

of 31 March 2017 and has a net book value of US$4.5 million. In fiscal year 2018, the Fontana building was sold for US$7.9 million resulting in a gain of US$3.4 million, which
is included in Selling, general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of operation and comprehensive income.

4 The adjustments in the prior year correct immaterial errors identified by management whereby certain amounts were misclassified by asset category and certain fully
depreciated items were excluded from the balances. The correction had no impact on the consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations and comprehensive income,
and cash flows for any of the periods presented.

5 The US$16.4 million net book value of disposals in fiscal year 2018 includes US$13.9 million of usage of replacement parts and US$0.7 million of impairment charges on
individual assets. The remaining net book value of disposals of US$1.8 million is related to the disposal of assets no longer in use, and do not represent a sale of assets.

Depreciation expense for the years ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016 was US$88.9 million, US$80.3 million and US$76.3 million,
respectively.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company performs an asset impairment review on a quarterly basis in connection with its assessment of production capabilities and
the Company’s ability to meet market demand.

During the years ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded US$0.7 million, US$0.5 million and US$3.5 million of
impairment charges related to individual assets which is included in Cost of goods sold on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income.

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following components:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017
Trade creditors $ 118 § 108.4
Accrued interest 12.5 4.8
Other creditors and accruals 69.0 60.3
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 193.3 $ 173.5

9. Long-Term Debt

At 31 March 2018, the Company had three forms of debt: an unsecured revolving credit facility; a 364-day term loan facility; and senior
notes due 2025 and 2028. At 31 March 2017, the Company held two forms of debt: an unsecured revolving credit facility and senior
unsecured notes due 2023. The effective weighted average interest rate on the Company’s total debt was 4.7% and 4.8% at 31 March
2018 and 31 March 2017, respectively. The weighted average term of the unsecured revolving credit facility and senior notes, including
undrawn facilities, was 6.9 years and 4.7 years at 31 March 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility

In December 2015, James Hardie International Finance Designated Activity Company (“JHIF”) and James Hardie Building Products Inc.
(“JHBP”), each a wholly-owned subsidiary of JHI plc, entered into a US$500.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving
Credit Facility”) with certain commercial banks and HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as administrative agent. The Revolving Credit
Facility was initially set to expire in December 2020, however, in December 2017, the Revolving Credit Facility was amended, to among
things, extend the maturity date to December 2022. The size of the Revolving Credit Facility may be increased by up to US$250.0 million
through the exercise of an accordion option.

Debt issuance costs in connection with the Revolving Credit Facility are recorded as an offset to Long-Term Debt in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets and are being amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the stated term of 5
years. At 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Company’s total debt issuance costs have an unamortized balance of US$3.3 million and US$3.1
million, respectively.

The amount drawn under the Revolving Credit Facility was US$100.0 million and US$175.0 million at 31 March 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

The effective weighted average interest rate on the Company’s total outstanding Revolving Credit Facility was 3.2% and 2.5% at 31 March
2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at per annum rates equal to, at the borrower’s option, either: (i) the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus an applicable margin for LIBOR loans; or (ii) a base rate plus an applicable margin for base rate
loans. The base rate is calculated as the highest of (x) the rate that the administrative agent announces from time to time as its prime
lending rate, as in effect from time to time, (y) 1/2 of 1% in excess of the overnight Federal Funds Rate, and (z) LIBOR for an interest
period of one month plus 1.00%. The applicable margin is calculated based on a pricing grid that in each case is linked to our consolidated
net leverage ratio. For LIBOR Loans, the applicable margin ranges from 1.25% to 2.00%, and for base rate loans it ranges from0.25% to
1.00%. The Company also pays a commitment fee of between0.20% and 0.35% on the actual daily amount of the unutilized revolving
loans. The applicable commitment fee percentage is based on a pricing grid linked to the Company’s consolidated net leverage ratio.

In the event that JHIF’s or James Hardie International Group Limited's ("JHIGL"), as applicable, long-term senior unsecured non-credit
enhanced rating from each of Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (“S&P”), and Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) is at least
BBB- from S&P, and at least Baa3 from Moody'’s, at JHIF’s election, for new borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, an alternate
applicable rate may be applied with respect to the commitment fee of 0.25% per annum and an alternative margin may be applied with

respect to: (a) LIBOR Loans, 1.50%; and (b) base rate loans, 0.50%.

The Revolving Credit Facility is guaranteed by each of JHIGL and James Hardie Technology Limited ("JHTL"), each of which are wholly-
owned subsidiaries of JHI plc.

The Revolving Credit Facility agreement contains certain covenants that, among other things, restrict JHIGL and its restricted subsidiaries’
ability to incur indebtedness and grant liens other than certain types of permitted indebtedness and permitted liens, make certain restricted
payments, and undertake certain types of mergers or consolidations actions. In addition, the Company: (i) must not exceed a maximum
ratio of net debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization, excluding all asbestos-related liabilities, assets, income,
gains, losses and charges other than AICF payments, all AICF selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses, all Australian
Securities and Investment Commission (“ASIC”)-related expenses, all recoveries and asset impairments, and all New Zealand product
liability expenses and (ii) must meet or exceed a minimum ratio of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization to interest
charges, excluding all income, expense and other profit and loss statement impacts of asbestos income, gains, losses and charges, all
AICF SG&A expenses, all ASIC-related expenses, all recoveries and asset impairments, and all New Zealand product liability expenses. At
31 March 2018, the Company was in compliance with all covenants contained in the Revolving Credit Facility agreement.

364-Day Term Loan Facility

In December 2017, JHIF and JHBP entered into a 364-day term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) with certain commercial banks and
HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as administrative agent. The Term Loan Facility was available for a single draw available in either
Euro or US dollars with a maximum of €525.0 million (US$646.4 million based on the exchange rate at 31 March 2018) if drawn in Euro
and US$630.0 million if drawn in US dollars.

At 31 March 2018, the amount drawn under the Term Loan Facility was nil. Subsequent to the Company's fiscal year end, on 3 April 2018,
the Company drew €400.0 million (US$492.4 million based on the exchange rate at 3 April 2018) on this Term Loan Facility, and used
these funds to complete the Fermacell acquisition. Refer to Note 19 for further details on the Fermacell acquisition. Pursuant to its terms,
the Term Loan Facility provides for a single drawing, and any undrawn amounts are no longer available. Further, amounts drawn under the
Term Loan Facility may not be re-borrowed once repaid or prepaid.
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Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility will bear interest at per annum rates equal to, at borrower’s option, either: (i) the LIBOR plus an
applicable margin for LIBOR loans; or (ii) a base rate plus an applicable margin for base rate loans. The base rate is calculated as the
highest of (x) the rate that the administrative agent announces from time to time as its prime lending rate, as in effect from time to time, (y)
1/2 of 1% in excess of the overnight Federal Funds Rate, and (z) LIBOR for an interest period of one month plus 1.00%. The applicable
margin is calculated based on a pricing grid that in each case is linked to our consolidated net leverage ratio. For LIBOR loans, the
applicable margin ranges from 1.25% to 2.00%, and for base rate loans it ranges from0.25% to 1.00%.

The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by each of JHIGL and JHTL, each of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of JHI plc.

The Term Loan Facility agreement contains certain covenants that, among other things, restrict JHIGL and its restricted subsidiaries' ability
to incur indebtedness and grant liens other than certain types of permitted indebtedness and permitted liens, make certain restricted
payments, and undertake certain types of mergers or consolidations actions. In addition, the Company: (i) must not exceed a maximum of
net debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization, excluding all asbestos-related liabilities, assets, income, gains,
losses and charges other than AICF payments, all AICF SG&A expenses, all ASIC-related expenses, all recoveries and asset impairments,
and all New Zealand product liability expenses and (ii) must meet or exceed a minimum ratio of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortization to interest charges, excluding all income, expense and other profit and loss statement impacts of asbestos income, gains,
losses and charges, all AICF SG&A expenses, all ASIC-related expenses, all recoveries and asset impairments, and all New Zealand
product liability expenses. At 31 March 2018, the Company was in compliance with all covenants contained in the Term Loan Facility
agreement.

2023 Senior Notes

In February 2015, JHIF completed the sale ofUS$325.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.875% senior unsecured notes due
15 February 2023.

In July 2016, JHIF completed the re-offering and sale of an additionalUS$75.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 5.875% senior
notes due 2023. Following the completion of this re-offering, the aggregate principal amount of senior notes due in 2023 was US$400.0
million.

The US$325.0 million 5.875% senior notes due 2023 were sold at an offering price 0f99.213% of par value, and incurred debt issuance
costs in connection with the offering, which were recorded as an offset to Long-Term Debt on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
The discount and debt issuance costs had an unamortized balance of US$1.9 million and US$6.0 million at 31 March 2017, respectively.

The US$75.0 million re-offering of the 5.875% senior notes due 2023 were sold at an offering price 0f103.0% of par value, and incurred
debt issuance costs in connection with the re-offering were recorded as an offset to Long-Term Debt on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets. The premium and the debt issuance costs had an unamortized balance of US$2.0 million and US$1.5 million at 31 March
2017, respectively.

In December 2017, JHIF redeemed allUS$400.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 5.875% senior notes due 2023. In connection
with this redemption, the Company recorded a loss on early debt extinguishment of US$26.1 million, which included US$19.5 million of call
redemption premiums and US$6.6 million of unamortized financing costs associated with these notes.
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2025 and 2028 Senior Notes

In December 2017, JHIF completed the sale ofUS$800.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes. The sale of the
senior notes were issued at par with US$400.0 million due 15 January 2025 (the “2025 Notes”) and the remaining US$400.0 million due 15
January 2028 (the “2028 Notes”).

The proceeds from the offering were used for general corporate purposes, including funding the redemption of allUS$400.0 million
aggregate principal amount of its 2023 senior unsecured notes and the payment of related transaction fees and expenses, the repayment
of outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and capital expenditures. The Company also used part of the net proceeds
from this offering to finance a portion of the Fermacell acquisition. Refer to Note 19 for further details on the Fermacell acquisition.

Debt issuance costs in connection with the 2025 and 2028 Notes are recorded as an offset toLong-Term Debt on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets.

Debt issuance costs in connection with the 2025 Notes have an unamortized balance ofUS$6.1 million at 31 March 2018. The debt
issuance costs are being amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the stated term of 7 years. Interest is
payable semi-annually in arrears on 15 January and 15 July of each year at a rate of4.75% with first payment due on 15 July 2018.

Debt issuance costs in connection with the 2028 Notes have an unamortized balance ofUS$6.2 million at 31 March 2018. The debt
issuance costs are being amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the stated term of 10 years. Interest is
payable semi-annually in arrears on 15 January and 15 July of each year at a rate of 5.00% with first payment due on 15 July 2018.

The 2025 and 2028 Notes are guaranteed by JHIGL, JHBP and JHTL, each of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of JHI plc.

The indenture governing the 2025 and 2028 Notes contains covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of the guarantors and their
restricted subsidiaries to incur liens on assets, make certain restricted payments, engage in certain sale and leaseback transactions and
merge or consolidate with or into other companies. These covenants are subject to certain exceptions and qualifications as described in
the indenture. At 31 March 2018, the Company was in compliance with all of its requirements under the indenture related to the 2025 and
2028 Notes.

The Company’s 2025 and 2028 Notes have an estimated fair value of US$787.5 million at 31 March 2018, based on the trading price
observed in the market at or near the balance sheet date and are categorized as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy.

Global Exchange Market Listing

On 25 April 2018, the 2025 and 2028 Notes of US$800.0 million were admitted to listing on the Global Exchange Market (“GEM”) which is
operated by the Euronext Dublin. Interest paid on the senior notes quoted on the GEM is not subject to Irish withholding tax. On
19 January 2018, the 5.875% senior notes due 2023 (issued on 10 February 2015 and redeemed in December 2017) were delisted from
the GEM.
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10. Product Warranties

The Company offers various warranties on its products, including a 30-year limited warranty on certain of its fiber cement siding products in
the United States. A typical warranty program requires the Company to replace defective products within a specified time period from the
date of sale. It is possible that future warranty costs could differ from those estimates.

The following are the changes in the product warranty provision:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of period $ 466 $ 453 $ 35.2
Accruals for product warranties 131 17.0 28.0
Settlements made in cash or in kind (6.9) (15.7) (17.9)
Balance at end of period $ 528 §$ 466 $ 45.3

11. Asbestos

The AFFA was approved by shareholders in February 2007 to provide long-term funding to AICF. For a discussion of the AFFA and the
accounting policies utilized by the Company related to the AFFA and AICF, see Note 2.

Asbestos Adjustments

The Asbestos adjustments included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income comprise the following:

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016

Change in estimates:

Change in actuarial estimate - asbestos liability $ (152.1) $ 447 % 24
Change in actuarial estimate - insurance receivable 1.2 8.2) 4.5
Change in estimate - AICF claims-handling costs (0.5) 2.1 1.2
Subtotal - Change in estimates (151.4) 38.6 8.1
(Loss) gain on foreign currency exchange (3.9) 1.8 (2.6)
Asbestos research and education contribution (1.1) — —
Total Asbestos Adjustments $ (156.4) $ 404 § 5.5

In December 2017, the Company, AICF and the New South Wales Government executed an AFFA Amending Deed which in effect
excludes the recovery of gratuitous services costs (colloquially referred to as Sullivan v Gordon damages) that arose following the
promulgation of the Wrongs (Part VB) (Dust and Tobacco-Related Claims) Regulation 2016 by the State of Victoria. As a result of the
amendment, AICF reduced the Asbestos liability by A$56.8 million (US$43.6 million based upon the exchange rate at 31 March 2018) in
the third quarter of fiscal year 2018. This adjustment is reflected in Asbestos adjustments in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income.
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Actuarial Study; Claims Estimate

AICF commissioned an updated actuarial study of potential asbestos-related liabilities as of 31 March 2018. Based on KPMGA's
assumptions, KPMGA arrived at a range of possible total cash flows and calculated a central estimate, which is intended to reflect a
probability-weighted expected outcome of those actuarially estimated future cash flows.

The following table sets forth the central estimates, net of insurance recoveries, calculated by KPMGA as of 31 March 2018:

Year Ended 31 March 2018

(Millions of US and Australian dollars, respectively) uss$ AS$

Central Estimate — Discounted and Inflated 1,423.1 1,852.9
Central Estimate — Undiscounted but Inflated 1,828.6 2,380.9
Central Estimate — Undiscounted and Uninflated 1,108.2 1,442.9

The asbestos liability has been revised to reflect the most recent undiscounted and uninflated actuarial estimate prepared by KPMGA as of
31 March 2018.

In estimating the potential financial exposure, KPMGA has made a number of assumptions, including, but not limited to, assumptions
related to the total number of claims that are reasonably estimated to be asserted through 2072, the typical cost of settlement (which is
sensitive to, among other factors, the industry in which a plaintiff claims exposure, the alleged disease type, the age of the claimant and
the jurisdiction in which the action is brought), the legal costs incurred in the litigation of such claims, the rate of receipt of claims, the
settlement strategy in dealing with outstanding claims and the timing of settlements.

Due to inherent uncertainties in the legal and medical environment, the number and timing of future claim notifications and settlements, the
recoverability of claims against insurance contracts, and estimates of future trends in average claim awards, as well as the extent to which
the above named entities will contribute to the overall settlements, the actual liability could differ materially from that which is currently
recorded.

The potential range of costs as estimated by KPMGA is affected by a number of variables such as nil settlement rates, peak year of
claims, past history of claims numbers, average settlement rates, past history of Australian asbestos-related medical injuries, current
number of claims, average defense and plaintiff legal costs, base wage inflation and superimposed inflation. The potential range of losses
disclosed includes both asserted and unasserted claims.

A sensitivity analysis performed by KPMGA to determine how the actuarial estimates would change if certain assumptions (i.e., the rate of
inflation and superimposed inflation, the average costs of claims and legal fees, and the projected numbers of claims) were different from
the assumptions used to determine the central estimates. The sensitivity analysis performed in the actuarial report is specifically in regards
to the discounted but inflated central estimate and the undiscounted but inflated central estimate. This analysis shows that the discounted
(but inflated) central estimates could be in a range of A$1.3 billion (US$1.0 billion) to A$3.1 billion (US$2.4 billion). The undiscounted (but
inflated) estimates could be in a range of A$1.7 billion (US$1.3 billion) to A$4.2 billion (US$3.2 billion) as of 31 March 2018. The actual
cost of the liabilities could be outside of that range depending on the results of actual experience relative to the assumptions made.

During fiscal year 2018, mesothelioma claims reporting activity was above actuarial expectations and the prior corresponding period. One
of the more significant assumptions is the estimated peak period of mesothelioma disease claims, which was assumed to have occurred in
the period 2014/2015 to 2016/2017.
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However, as claim numbers continue to be elevated, KPMGA has formed the view that the increases in the mesothelioma claims reporting
seen in recent years was a permanent effect, and therefore increased the projected number of future mesothelioma claims at 31 March
2018. Additionally, KPMGA has revised its modeling approach for mesothelioma claims to consider the claimant’'s age which resulted in a
higher number of projected claims, partially offset by a reduction in projected average claim size. However, changes to the valuation
assumptions may be necessary in future periods should mesothelioma claims reporting escalate or decline.

Potential variation in the estimated peak period of claims has an impact much greater than the other assumptions used to derive the
discounted central estimate. In performing the sensitivity assessment of the estimated incidence pattern reporting for mesothelioma, if the
pattern of incidence was shifted by two years, the central estimate could increase by approximately 18% on a discounted basis.

Claims Data

The following table shows the activity related to the numbers of open claims, new claims and closed claims during each of the past five
years and the average settlement per settled claim and case closed:

For the Years Ended 31 March

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Number of open claims at beginning of period 352 426 494 466 462
Number of new claims 562 557 577 665 608
Number of closed claims 578 631 645 637 604
Number of open claims at end of period 336 352 426 494 466
Average settlement amount per settled claim A$253,431 A$223,535 A$248,138 A$254,209 A$253,185
Average settlement amount per case closed A$217,038 A$167,563 A$218,900 A$217,495 A$212,944
Average settlement amount per settled claim US$196,093 US$168,300 US$182,763 US$222,619 US$236,268
Average settlement amount per case closed US$167,934 US$126,158 US$161,229 US$190,468 US$198,716

Under the terms of the AFFA, the Company has rights of access to actuarial information produced for AICF by the actuary appointed by
AICF, which is currently KPMGA. The Company’s disclosures with respect to claims statistics are subject to it obtaining such information,
however, the AFFA does not provide the Company an express right to audit or otherwise require independent verification of such
information or the methodologies to be adopted by the approved actuary. As such, the Company relies on the accuracy and completeness
of the information provided by AICF to the approved actuary and the resulting information and analysis of the approved actuary when
making disclosures with respect to claims statistics.
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Asbestos-Related Assets and Liabilities

The Company has included on its consolidated balance sheets the asbestos-related assets and liabilities of AICF under the terms of the
AFFA. These amounts are detailed in the table below, and the net total of these asbestos-related assets and liabilities is referred to by the
Company as the “Net AFFA Liability.”

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017
Asbestos liability — current $ (114.1) (116.4)
Asbestos liability — non-current (1,101.0) (1,043.3)
Asbestos liability — Total (1,215.1) (1,159.7)
Insurance receivable — current 5.1 5.7
Insurance receivable — non-current 52.8 58.1
Insurance receivable — Total 57.9 63.8
Workers’ compensation asset — current 21 29
Workers’ compensation asset — non-current 28.8 40.4
Workers’ compensation liability — current (2.1) (2.9)
Workers’ compensation liability — non-current (28.8) (40.4)
Workers’ compensation — Total — —
Loan facility — (52.4)
Other net liabilities (2.2) (1.6)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents of AICF 26.6 108.9
Restricted short-term investments of AICF 38.4 —
Net Unfunded AFFA liability $ (1,094.4) (1,041.0)
Deferred income taxes — non-current 382.9 356.6
Income tax payable 211 16.8
Net Unfunded AFFA liability, net of tax $ (690.4) (667.6)
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The following is a detailed rollforward of the Net Unfunded AFFA liability, net of tax, for the year ended 31 March 2018:

Income
Restricted Other Tax Net Unfunded
Asbestos Insurance Other Cash and Assets Net Unfunded Deferred Tax Payable AFFA Liability,
(Millions of US dollars) Liability Receivables Loan Facilities Investments and Liabilities AFFA Liability Assets net of tax
Opening Balance - 31 March 2017 $ (1,159.7) $ 63.8 $ (524) $ 1089 $ (16) |$  (1,0410) $ 3566 $ 168 $ (667.6)
Asbestos claims paid? 103.1 — — (103.1) — — — — —
Payment received in accordance with AFFA2 — — — 102.2 — 102.2 — — 102.2
AICF claims-handling costs incurred (paid) 1.2 — — (1.2) — — — — —
AICF operating costs paid - non claims-handling — — — (1.9) — (1.9) — — (1.9)
Change in actuarial estimate (152.1) (3.3) - —_ - (155.4) —_ - (155.4)
Change in claims handling cost estimate (0.5) — — — — (0.5) — — (0.5)
Impact on deferred income tax due to change in
actuarial estimate — — — — — — 47.0 — 47.0
Insurance recoveries — (2.8) — 723 — 4.5 — — 4.5
Movement in income tax payable — — — — — — (21.3) 4.8 (16.5)
Funds repaid to NSW under loan agreement — — 51.9 (51.9) — — — — —
Other movements — — 0.1 3.7 (0.6) 3.2 — (0.1) 3.1
Effect of foreign exchange (7.1) 0.2 0.4 1.0 — (5.5) 0.6 (0.4) (5.3)
Closing Balance - 31 March 2018 $ (1,2151) § 57.9 $ — $ 65.0 $ (22) |[$ (1,0944) § 382.9 $ 211 $ (690.4)
1 Claims paid of US$103.1 million reflects A$133.2 million converted at the average exchange rate for the period based on the assumption that these transactions occurred
evenly throughout the period.
2 The payment received in accordance with AFFA of US$102.2 million reflects the US dollar equivalent of the A$135.1 million payment, translated at the exchange rate set five

days before the day of payment.
AICF Funding
We anticipate that we will make a contribution of approximatelyUS$103.0 million to AICF on 2 July 2018. This amount represents 35% of

our free cash flow which is equivalent to our operating cash flows of US$295.0 million less an adjustment of US$0.8 million, resulting in
free cash flow of US$294.2 million for fiscal year 2018, as defined by the AFFA.

The following table summarizes the AICF contributions during the fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016:

Payment Amount A$ Payment Amount US$ Operating Cash flow US$ Free Cash Flow US$
Payment Date Millions Millions Millions Millions
3 July 2017 135.1 102.2 292.1 292.1
1 July 2016 120.7 91.1 260.4 260.4
1 July 2015 81.1 62.8 179.5 179.5
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Restricted Short-Term Investments

In July 2017, AICF invested A$100.0 million (US$76.8 million, based on the exchange rate at 31 March 2018) of its excess cash in time
deposits. During the three months ended 31 March 2018, A$50.0 million of these time deposits matured and were reclassified in
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - asbestos on the consolidated balance sheet. The remaining time deposits of A$50.0 million
(US$38.4 million) bear a fixed interest rate of 2.32% and mature 29 June 2018. These time deposits are reflected within restricted short-
term investments on the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of 31 March 2018 and have been classified as available-for-sale. At 31
March 2018, the Company revalued AICF’s short-term investments available-for-sale resulting in a mark-to-market fair value adjustment of
nil.

AICF — NSW Government Secured Loan Facility

AICF may borrow, subject to certain conditions, up to an aggregate amount of A$320.0 million (US$245.8 million, based on the exchange
rate at 31 March 2018). The AICF Loan Facility is available to be drawn for the payment of claims through 1 November 2030, at which
point, all outstanding borrowings must be repaid. Borrowings made under the AICF Loan Facility are classified as current, as AICF intends
to repay the debt within one year.

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, AICF had an outstanding balance under the AICF Loan Facility ofnil and US$52.4 million, respectively.

To the extent the NSW Government sources funding for the AICF Loan Facility from the Commonwealth of Australia (the
“Commonwealth”), the interest rate on the AICF Loan Facility is calculated by reference to the cost of NSW’s borrowings from the
Commonwealth for that purpose, being calculated with reference to the Commonwealth Treasury fixed coupon bond rate for a period
determined as appropriate by the Commonwealth.

To the extent that NSW'’s source of funding is not from the Commonwealth, the interest rate on drawings under the AICF Loan Facility is
calculated as (i) during the period to (but excluding) 1 May 2020, a yield percent per annum calculated at the time of the first drawdown of
the AICF Loan Facility by reference to the NSW Treasury Corporation’s 6% 1/05/2020 Benchmark Bonds, (ii) during the period after 1 May
2020, a yield percent per annum calculated by reference to NSW Treasury Corporation bonds on issue at that time and maturing in 2030,
or (iii) in any case, if the relevant bonds are not on issue, a yield percent per annum in respect of such other source of funding for the AICF
Loan Facility determined by the NSW Government in good faith to be used to replace those bonds, including any guarantee fee payable to
the Commonwealth in respect of the bonds (where the bonds are guaranteed by the Commonwealth) or other source of funding.

Under the AICF Loan Facility, the Former James Hardie Companies each guarantee the payment of amounts owed by AICF and AICF’s
performance of its obligations under the AICF Loan Facility. Each Obligor has granted the NSW Government a security interest in certain
property including cash accounts, proceeds from insurance claims, payments remitted by the Company to AICF and contractual rights
under certain documents including the AFFA. Each Obligor may not deal with the secured property until all amounts outstanding under the
AICF Loan Facility are paid, except as permitted under the terms of the security interest.

Under the terms of the AICF Loan Facility, each Obligor must, upon receipt of proceeds from insurance claims and payments remitted by
the Company under the AFFA, apply all of such proceeds in repayment of amounts owing under the AICF Loan Facility. NSW may, at its
sole discretion, waive or postpone (in such manner and for such period as it determines) the requirement for the Obligors to apply
proceeds of insurance claims and payments remitted by the Company to repay amounts owed under the AICF Loan Facility to ensure
AICF has sufficient liquidity to meet its future cash flow needs.
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The Obligors are subject to certain operating covenants under the AICF Loan Facility and the terms of the security interest, including,
without limitation, (i) positive covenants relating to providing corporate reporting documents, providing particular notifications and
complying with the terms of the AFFA, and (ii) negative covenants restricting them from voiding, cancelling, settling, or adversely affecting
existing insurance policies, disposing of assets and granting security to secure any other financial indebtedness, other than in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the AICF Loan Facility.

Upon an event of default, NSW may cancel the commitment and declare all amounts outstanding as immediately due and payable. The
events of default include, without limitation, failure to pay or repay amounts due in accordance with the AICF Loan Facility, breach of
covenants, misrepresentation, cross default by an Obligor and an adverse judgment (other than a personal asbestos or Marlew claim)
against an Obligor.

12. Derivative Instruments

Interest Rate Swaps

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated based on the fixed rate, notional principal, settlement date and present value of
the future cash inflows and outflows based on the terms of the agreement and the future floating interest rates as determined by a future
interest rate yield curve. The model used to value the interest rate swap contracts is based upon well recognized financial principles, and
interest rate yield curves can be validated through readily observable data by external sources. Although readily observable data is used in
the valuations, different valuation methodologies could have an effect on the estimated fair value. Accordingly, the interest rate swap
contracts are categorized as Level 2.

For interest rate swap contracts, the Company has agreed to pay fixed interest rates while receiving a floating interest rate. At 31 March
2018 and 2017, the Company had interest rate swap contracts with total notional principal of US$100.0 million.

At 31 March 2018, the weighted average fixed interest rate of these contracts is2.1% and the weighted average remaining life is 1.4 years.
These contracts have a fair value of US$0.4 million receivable at 31 March 2018, which is included in Accounts receivable and US$1.1
million payable at 31 March 2017, which is included inAccounts payable. For the years ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016, the
Company included in Other income an unrealized gain of US$1.5 million, an unrealized gain of US$2.6 million and an unrealized loss of
US$0.6 million, respectively, on interest rate swap contracts. Also included in Other income for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017
was a realized loss on interest rate swap contracts of US$0.8 million and US$1.3 million, respectively. Included in Interest expense is a
realized loss on interest rate swap contracts of US$1.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

The Company’s foreign currency forward contracts are valued using models that maximize the use of market observable inputs including
interest rate curves and both forward and spot prices for currencies and are categorized as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. At
31 March 2018, the Company had foreign currency forward contracts of US$0.8 million.

For the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the forward contracts not designated as a cash flow hedging arrangement had an
unrealized gain of nil.
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The notional amount of interest rate swap contracts and foreign currency forward contracts represents the basis upon which payments are
calculated and are reported on a net basis when a legal and enforceable right of set-off exists. The following table sets forth the total
outstanding notional amount and the fair value of the Company’s derivative instruments held at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Fair Value as of
(Millions of US dollars) Notional Amount 31 March 2018 31 March 2017
31 March 2018 31 March 2017 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Derivatives not accounted
for as hedges

Interest rate swap

contracts $ 1000 $ 1000 $ 04 $ — 3 — 3 1.1
Foreign currency forward

contracts 0.8 — — — — —

Total $ 1008 $ 1000 $ 04 S — 3 —  $ 1.1

13. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is involved from time to time in various legal proceedings and administrative actions related to the normal conduct of its
business, including general liability claims, putative class action lawsuits and litigation concerning its products.

Although it is impossible to predict the outcome of any pending legal proceeding, management believes that such proceedings and actions
should not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows, except as they relate to asbestos and New Zealand product liability claims as described in these consolidated
financial statements.

New Zealand Weathertightness Claims

Since fiscal year 2002, the Company’s New Zealand subsidiaries have been and continue to be joined in a number of weathertightness
claims in New Zealand that relate to residential buildings (single dwellings and apartment complexes) and a small number of non-
residential buildings, primarily constructed from 1998 to 2004. The claims often involve multiple parties and allege that losses were
incurred due to excessive moisture penetration of the buildings’ structures. The claims typically include allegations of poor building design,
inadequate certification of plans, inadequate construction review and compliance certification and deficient work by sub-contractors.

The Company recognizes a liability for both asserted and unasserted New Zealand weathertightness claims in the period in which the loss
becomes probable and estimable. The amount of reasonably possible loss is dependent on a number of factors including, without
limitation, the specific facts and circumstances unique to each claim brought against the Company’s New Zealand subsidiaries, the
existence of any co-defendants involved in defending the claim, the solvency of such co-defendants (including the ability of such co-
defendants to remain solvent until the related claim is ultimately resolved), the availability of claimant compensation under a government
compensation scheme, the amount of loss estimated to be allocable to the Company’s New Zealand subsidiaries and the extent to which
the co-defendants and the Company’s New Zealand subsidiaries have access to third-party recoveries to cover a portion of the costs
incurred in defending and resolving such actions. In addition to the above limitations, the total loss incurred is also dependent on the
manner and extent to which statutory limitation periods will apply to any received claims.
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Historically, the Company’s New Zealand subsidiaries have been joined to these claims as one of several co-defendants, including local
government entities responsible for enforcing building codes and practices, resulting in the Company’s New Zealand subsidiaries
becoming liable for only a portion of each claim. In addition, the Company’s New Zealand subsidiaries have had access to third-party
recoveries to defray a portion of the costs incurred in resolving such claims. However, in 2015 the Company’s New Zealand subsidiaries
were named as the sole defendants in four claims on behalf of multiple defendants, each of which allege that the subsidiaries’ products
were inherently defective.

The Company has established a provision for asserted and unasserted New Zealand weathertightness claims within the current portion of
Other liabilities, with a corresponding estimated receivable for third-party recoveries being recognized withinAccounts and other
receivables. At 31 March 2018 and 2017, the amount of the provision for New Zealand weathertightness claims, net of estimated third-
party recoveries, was US$0.9 million and US$1.1 million, respectively.

The estimated loss for these matters, net of estimated third-party recoveries, incorporates assumptions that are subject to the foregoing
uncertainties and are principally derived from, but not exclusively based on, historical claims experience together with facts and
circumstances unique to each claim. If the nature and extent of the resolution of claims in future periods differ from the historical claims
experience, then the actual amount of loss may be materially higher or lower than estimated losses accrued at 31 March 2018.

Environmental and Legal

The operations of the Company, like those of other companies engaged in similar businesses, are subject to a number of laws and
regulations on air and water quality, waste handling and disposal. The Company’s policy is to accrue for environmental costs when it is
determined that it is probable that an obligation exists and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Operating Leases

As the lessee, the Company principally enters into property, building and equipment leases. The following are future lease payments for
non-cancellable operating leases having a remaining term in excess of one year at 31 March 2018:

Years ending 31 March (Millions of US dollars):

2019 $ 16.4
2020 141
2021 10.8
2022 8.3
2023 6.2
Thereafter 10.8

Total $ 66.6

Rental expense amounted to US$20.6 million, US$18.4 million and US$16.9 million for the years ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Capital Commitments

Commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment and other purchase obligations contracted for but not recognized as liabilities and
generally payable within one year, were nil at 31 March 2018.
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14. Income Taxes

Income tax expense includes income taxes currently payable and those deferred because of temporary differences between the financial
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Income tax expense consists of the following components:

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016
Income before income taxes:
Domestic $ 1551  § 1722 § 150.1
Foreign 19.2 194.8 180.4
Income before income taxes: $ 1743 § 3670 § 330.5
Income tax expense:
Current:
Domestic $ (14.8) $ (15.2) $ (12.6)
Foreign (69.4) (36.0) (59.2)
Current income tax expense (84.2) (51.2) (71.8)
Deferred:
Domestic (1.8) (4.0) (5.6)
Foreign 57.8 (35.3) 8.7)
Deferred income tax benefit (expense) 56.0 (39.3) (14.3)
Total income tax expense $ (28.2) §$ (90.5) $ (86.1)

Income tax expense computed at the statutory rates represents taxes on income applicable to all jurisdictions in which the Company
conducts business, calculated at the statutory income tax rate in each jurisdiction multiplied by the pre-tax income attributable to that

jurisdiction.

Income tax expense is reconciled to the tax at the statutory rates as follows:

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016
Income tax expense computed at the statutory tax rates $ (246) $ 84.4) $ (79.1)
US state income taxes, net of the federal benefit (4.3) (3.0) (3.6)
Asbestos - effect of foreign exchange (1.8) 0.8 (0.8)
Expenses not deductible (4.7) (2.5) (2.0)
US manufacturing deduction 25 2.2 4.1
Foreign taxes on domestic income (34.2) (2.1) (5.7)
Amortization of intangibles 12.4 2.8 2.9
Taxes on foreign income (3.0) (54) (7.4)
Net deferred tax liability revaluation 27.7 — =
Other items 1.8 1.1 5.5
Total income tax expense $ (28.2) $ (90.5) $ (86.1)
Effective tax rate 16.2% 24.7% 26.1%

F-34



James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Deferred tax balances consist of the following components:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017
Deferred tax assets:
Asbestos liability $ 3829 $ 356.6
Other provisions and accruals 37.7 52.8
Net operating loss carryforwards 255 24.2
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 126.1 107.5
Total deferred tax assets 572.2 5411
Valuation allowance (129.6) (110.4)
Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance 442.6 430.7
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciable and amortizable assets (81.6) (130.0)
Other (14.6) (12.0)
Total deferred tax liabilities (96.2) (142.0)
Total deferred taxes, net $ 3464 $ 288.7

Deferred income taxes include European and Australian net operating loss carry-forwards. At 31 March 2018, the Company had European
tax loss carry-forwards of approximately US$6.7 million and Australian tax loss carry-forwards of approximately US$18.8 million that are
available to offset future taxable income in the respective jurisdiction. The Company establishes a valuation allowance against a deferred
tax asset if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The European tax loss carry-forwards relate to losses incurred in prior years during the establishment of the European business. At 31
March 2018, the Company had a valuation allowance against a portion of the European tax loss carry-forwards in respect of which
realization is not more likely than not. At 31 March 2018, the Company had European tax loss carry-forwards of approximately US$3.2
million which will never expire. Carry-forwards of US$3.5 million will expire in fiscal years 2019 through 2026.

The Australian tax loss carry-forwards primarily result from current and prior year tax deductions for contributions to AICF. James Hardie
117 Pty Limited, the performing subsidiary under the AFFA, is able to claim a tax deduction for its contributions to AICF over a five-year
period commencing in the year the contribution is incurred. At 31 March 2018, the Company recognized a tax deduction of US$70.7 million
(A$91.4 million) for the current year relating to total contributions to AICF of US$369.1 million (A$456.8 million) incurred in tax years 2014
through 2018.

At 31 March 2018, the Company had foreign tax credit carry-forwards of US$126.1 million that are available to offset future taxes payable.
At 31 March 2018, the Company had a 100% valuation allowance against the foreign tax credit carry-forwards.

In determining the need for and the amount of a valuation allowance in respect of the Company’s asbestos related deferred tax asset,
management reviewed the relevant empirical evidence, including the current and past core earnings of the Australian business and
forecast earnings of the Australian business considering current trends. Although realization of the deferred tax asset will occur over the
life of the AFFA, which extends beyond the forecast period for the Australian business, Australia provides an unlimited carry-forward period
for tax losses. Based upon managements’ review, the Company believes that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize its
asbestos related deferred tax asset and that no valuation allowance is
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necessary as of 31 March 2018. In the future, based on review of the empirical evidence by management at that time, if management
determines that realization of its asbestos related deferred tax asset is not more likely than not, the Company may need to provide a
valuation allowance to reduce the carrying value of the asbestos related deferred tax asset to its realizable value.

Income taxes payable represents taxes currently payable which are computed at statutory income tax rates applicable to taxable income
derived in each jurisdiction in which the Company conducts business.

At 31 March 2018, the Company had income taxes payable of US$29.1 million, after taking into account total income tax and withholding
tax paid, net of refunds received, during the year ended 31 March 2018 of US$49.1 million. Income taxes were paid in Canada, Ireland,
New Zealand, the Philippines and the United States. Withholding taxes were paid in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the Philippines.

Due to the size and nature of its business, the Company is subject to ongoing reviews by taxing jurisdictions on various tax matters. The
Company accrues for tax contingencies based upon its best estimate of the taxes ultimately expected to be paid, which it updates over
time as more information becomes available. Such amounts are included in taxes payable or other non-current liabilities, as appropriate. If
the Company ultimately determines that payment of these amounts is unnecessary, the Company reverses the liability and recognizes a
tax benefit during the period in which the Company determines that the liability is no longer necessary. The Company records additional
tax expense in the period in which it determines that the recorded tax liability is less than the ultimate assessment it expects.

The Company or its subsidiaries files income tax returns in various jurisdictions including Ireland, the United States, Australia, New
Zealand and the Philippines. The Company is no longer subject to US federal examinations by US Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) for tax
years prior to tax year 2015 and Australian federal examinations by the Australian Taxation Office (“ATQ”) for tax years prior to tax year
2014.

Taxing authorities from various jurisdictions in which the Company operates are in the process of reviewing and auditing the Company’s
respective jurisdictional tax returns for various ranges of years. The Company accrues tax liabilities in connection with ongoing audits and
reviews based on knowledge of all relevant facts and circumstances, taking into account existing tax laws, its experience with previous
audits and settlements, the status of current tax examinations and how the tax authorities view certain issues.
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Unrecognized Tax Benefits

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits and interest and penalties are as follows:

(Millions of US Dollars) Unrecognized Interest and
tax benefits Penalties

Balance at 31 March 2015 $ 4.9 $ 0.3
Additions for tax positions of the current year 0.2 —
Reductions in tax positions of prior year 4.1) (0.3)
Settlements paid during the current period (0.3) —
Balance at 31 March 2016 $ 0.7 $ —
Additions for tax positions of the current year 0.1 —
Reductions in tax positions of prior year (0.1) —
Balance at 31 March 2017 $ 0.7 $ —

Additions for tax positions of the current year _ _
Reductions in tax positions of prior year — —
Balance at 31 March 2018 $ 0.7 $ —

At 31 March 2018, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits and the total amount of interest and penalties accrued by the Company
related to unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the tax expense is US$0.7 million and nil, respectively.

The Company recognizes penalties and interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. During the years
ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016, income of nil, nil and US$0.3 million, respectively, relating to interest and penalties was recognized
within income tax expense arising from movements in unrecognized tax benefits.

The liabilities associated with uncertain tax benefits are included in Other liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

A number of years may elapse before an uncertain tax position is audited or ultimately resolved. It is difficult to predict the ultimate
outcome or the timing of resolution for uncertain tax positions. It is reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits could
significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months. These changes could result from the completion of ongoing examinations,
the expiration of the statute of limitations, or other circumstances. At this time, an estimate of the range of the reasonably possible change
cannot be made.

US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

The TCJ Act significantly revises the US corporate income tax by, among other things, lowering the US federal corporate income tax rate
from 35.0% to 21.0%, resulting in a blended rate of 31.5% for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2018 and implementing a territorial tax
system that imposed a tax on unrepatriated earnings of certain subsidiaries of our US subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company recorded a charge to income tax expense ofUS$4.2 million in respect of income
taxes of an estimated US$31.9 million imposed on deemed repatriated earnings of certain subsidiaries of our US subsidiaries, partially
offset by an estimated reduction in the value of the US-based net deferred tax liability of US$27.7 million. Income taxes due from the
deemed repatriation will
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be paid over an 8 year period. As such, the Company recorded current and non-current income taxes payable in its 31 March 2018
consolidated balance sheet.

The impact of the tax legislation on the Company's future earnings is uncertain. The impact is subject to the potential effect of certain
complex provisions in the TCJ Act, and the issuance of regulatory guidance or clarifications that may be issued in the future in respect of
these provisions, including the base erosion and anti-abuse tax, global intangible low-taxed income, foreign derived intangible income and
others, which the Company is currently reviewing. These provisions will be in effect for the Company beginning in its fiscal year 2019 and it
is possible that any impact of these provisions could materially reduce the benefit of the reduction in the US federal corporate income tax
rate. Due to the uncertain practical and technical application of many of these provisions, it is currently not possible to reliably estimate
whether these provisions will apply and if so, how it would impact the Company.

15. Stock-Based Compensation

Total stock-based compensation expense consists of the following:

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016

Liability Awards Expense $ 56 §$ 54 $ 4.8
Equity Awards Expense 1.1 9.3 10.3
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 16.7 $ 147 $ 15.1

As of 31 March 2018, the unrecorded future stock-based compensation expense related to outstanding equity awards was US$19.0 million
and will be recognized over an estimated weighted average amortization period of 2.2 years.

2001 Equity Incentive Plan

Under the Company’s 2001 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2001 Plan”), the Company can grant equity awards in the form of nonqualified stock
options, performance awards, restricted stock grants, stock appreciation rights, dividend equivalent rights, phantom stock or other stock-
based benefits such as restricted stock units. The 2001 Plan was first approved by the Company’s shareholders in 2001 and was
reapproved to continue until September 2021 at the 2011 annual general meeting. The Company is authorized to issue 45,077,100 shares
under the 2001 Plan.

Under the 2001 Plan, grants have been made at fair market value to management and other employees of the Company. Each grant
confers the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the capital of JHI plc. The grants may be exercised as follows: 25% after the first
year; 25% after the second year; and 50% after the third year. All unexercised grants expire 10 years from the date of issue or90 days
after the employee ceases to be employed by the Company.

Restricted stock units may not be sold, transferred, assigned, pledged or otherwise encumbered so long as such units remain restricted.
The Company determines the conditions or restrictions of any restricted stock units, which include requirements of continued employment.
At 31 March 2018, there were 620,544 restricted stock units outstanding under this plan.
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Long-Term Incentive Plan 2006

At the 2006 Annual General Meeting, the Company’s shareholders approved the establishment of a Long-Term Incentive Plan 2006 (the
“LTIP”) to provide incentives to certain members of senior management (“Executives”). The shareholders also approved, in accordance
with certain LTIP rules, the issue of options in the Company to executives of the Company. At the Company’s 2008 Annual General
Meeting, the shareholders amended the LTIP to also allow restricted stock units to be granted under the LTIP. The LTIP was re-approved
by the Company’s shareholders with certain amendments at each of the 2008, 2012 and 2015 Annual General Meetings.

As of 31 March 2018, the Company had granted 12,475,138 restricted stock units under the LTIP. These restricted stock units may not be
sold, transferred, assigned, pledged or otherwise encumbered so long as such units remain restricted. The Company determines the
conditions or restrictions of any restricted stock awards, which may include requirements of continued employment, individual performance
or the Company’s financial performance or other criteria. Restricted stock units either vest or expire as set out in the grant documents or
LTIP rules. At 31 March 2018, there were 3,517,048 restricted stock units outstanding under the LTIP.

The following table summarizes the Company’s shares available for grant as options, restricted stock units or other equity instruments
under the LTIP and 2001 Plan at 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016:

Shares
Available for
Grant
Balance at 31 March 2016 28,418,808
Granted (1,179,994)
Balance at 31 March 2017 27,238,814
Granted (1,779,904)
Balance at 31 March 2018 25,458,910

Stock Options

There were no stock options granted during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. The following table summarizes the Company’s
stock options activity during the noted period:

Outstanding Options

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Number Price (A$)
Balance at 31 March 2016 104,027 7.22
Exercised (55,131) 7.97
Balance at 31 March 2017 48,896 6.38
Exercised (48,896 ) 6.38

Balance at 31 March 2018 —_

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was A$0.8 million for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.
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Windfall tax benefits realized in the United States from stock options exercised and included in cash flows from financing activities in the
consolidated statements of cash flows were nil, US$3.0 million and US$0.4 million for the years ended 31 March 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company estimates the fair value of restricted stock units on the date of grant and recognizes this estimated fair value as
compensation expense over the periods in which the restricted stock vests.

The following table summarizes the Company’s restricted stock unit activity during the noted period:

Weighted
Average Fair
Restricted Value at Grant
Stock Units Date (A$)
Non-vested at 31 March 2016 4,049,454 11.00
Granted 1,179,994 18.54
Vested (1,314,825) 8.60
Forfeited (574,378) 9.10
Non-vested at 31 March 2017 3,340,245 14.80
Granted 1,779,904 14.04
Vested (615,334) 12.05
Forfeited (367,223) 14.12
Non-vested at 31 March 2018 4,137,592 14.63

Restricted Stock Units — service vesting

During fiscal year 2018, 332,262 restricted stock units (service vesting) were granted to employees under the 2001 Plan. During fiscal year
2017, 315,636 restricted stock units (service vesting) were granted to employees under the 2001 Plan. The fair value of each restricted
stock unit (service vesting) is equal to the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant, adjusted for the fair
value of estimated dividends as the restricted stock unit holder is not entitled to dividends over the vesting period.

During fiscal year 2018, 237,480 restricted stock units (service vesting) that were previously granted as part of the 2001 Plan became fully
vested and the underlying common stock was issued. During fiscal year 2017, 304,470 restricted stock units (service vesting) that were
previously granted as part of the 2001 Plan became fully vested and the underlying common stock was issued.

Restricted Stock Units — performance vesting

The Company granted 515,249 and 407,539 restricted stock units with a performance vesting condition under the LTIP to senior
executives and managers of the Company on 21 August 2017 and 16 September 2016, respectively. The vesting of the restricted stock
units is subject to a return on capital employed (“ROCE”) performance hurdle being met and subject to negative discretion by the Board.
The Board’s discretion will reflect the Board’'s judgment of the quality of the returns balanced against management’s delivery of market
share growth and a scorecard of key qualitative and quantitative performance objectives. During fiscal year 2018, after exercise of negative
discretion by the Board, 221,042 restricted stock units (performance vesting) that were granted on 16 September 2014 as part of the fiscal
year 2015 long-term incentive award became fully vested and the underlying common stock was issued. The remaining 165,040 unvested
restricted stock units from this grant were cancelled on 18 September 2017.
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When the Board reviews the awards and determines whether any negative discretion should be applied at the vesting date, the award
recipients may receive all, some, or none of their awards. The Board may only exercise negative discretion and may not enhance the
maximum award that was originally granted to the award recipient.

The fair value of each restricted stock unit (performance vesting) is adjusted for changes in JHI plc’s common stock price at each balance
sheet date and for the fair value of estimated dividends as the restricted stock unit holder is not entitled to dividends over the vesting
period until the performance conditions are applied at the vesting date.

Restricted Stock Units — market condition

Under the terms of the LTIP, the Company granted 932,393 and 456,819 restricted stock units (market condition) to senior executives and
managers of the Company on 21 August 2017 and 16 September 2016, respectively. The vesting of these restricted stock units is subject
to a market condition as outlined in the relevant notice of meeting.

The fair value of each of these restricted stock units (market condition) granted under the LTIP is estimated using a binomial lattice model
that incorporates a Monte Carlo simulation (the “Monte Carlo” method). The following table includes the assumptions used for restricted
stock grants (market condition) valued during the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, respectively:

Vesting Condition: Market Market
FY18 FY17

Date of grant 21 Aug 2017 16 Sep 2016
Dividend yield (per annum) 3.0% 23%
Expected volatility 30.1% 31.5%
Risk free interest rate 1.5% 1.1%
Expected life in years 3.3 3.0
JHX stock price at grant date (A$) 17.91 20.82
Number of restricted stock units 932,393 456,819

During fiscal year 2018, 156,812 restricted stock units (market condition) that were previously granted became fully vested and the
underlying common stock was issued. During fiscal year 2017, 728,887 restricted stock units (market condition) that were previously
granted became fully vested and the underlying common stock was issued.

Scorecard LTI — cash settled units

Under the terms of the LTIP, the Company granted awards equivalent to 1,545,750 and 458,484 Scorecard LTI units on 21 August 2017
and 16 September 2016, respectively. These awards provide recipients a cash incentive based on an average 20 trading-day closing price
of JHI plc’s common stock price and each executive’s scorecard rating. The vesting of awards is measured on individual performance
conditions based on certain performance measures. Compensation expense recognized for awards are based on the fair market value of
JHI plc’'s common stock on the date of grant and recorded as a liability. The expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period and the
liability is adjusted for subsequent changes in JHI plc’'s common stock price at each balance sheet date adjusted for the fair value of
estimated dividends as the restricted stock unit holder is not entitled to dividends over the vesting period.

F-41



James Hardie Industries plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

On 18 September 2017, 197,800 of the 454,179 Scorecard LTI units that were previously granted on 16 September 2014 as part of the
FY2015 long-term incentive award became fully vested and the balance cancelled as a result of the Board’s determination of
management’s performance against the FY2015-17 Scorecard. The cash amount paid to award recipients was based on an average 20
trading-day closing price of JHI plc’s common stock price.

On 16 September 2016, 316,841 of the 518,647 Scorecard LTI units that were previously granted on 16 September 2013 as part of the
FY2014 long-term incentive award became fully vested and the balance cancelled as a result of the Board’s determination of
management’s performance against the FY2014-16 Scorecard. The cash amount paid to award recipients was based on an average 20
trading-day closing price of JHI plc’s common stock price.

16. Capital Management and Dividends

The following table summarizes the dividends paid during the fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016:

us US$ Millions

(Millions of US dollars) Cents/Security Total Amount Announcement Date Record Date Payment Date
FY 2018 first half dividend 0.10 46.2 9 November 2017 13 December 2017 23 February 2018

FY 2017 second half dividend 0.28 1313 18 May 2017 8 June 2017 4 August 2017

FY 2017 first half dividend 0.10 46.6 17 November 2016 21 December 2016 24 February 2017

FY 2016 second half dividend 0.29 130.2 19 May 2016 9 June 2016 5 August 2016

FY 2016 first half dividend 0.09 39.7 19 November 2015 23 December 2015 26 February 2016

FY 2015 special dividend 0.22 92.8 21 May 2015 11 June 2015 7 August 2015

FY 2015 second half dividend 0.27 114.0 21 May 2015 11 June 2015 7 August 2015

During fiscal year 2017, the Company announced a share buyback program (the “fiscal 2017 program”) to acquire up to U$100.0 million
of its issued capital in the twelve months through May 2017. Under this program, the Company repurchased and cancelled 6,090,133
shares of its common stock during the second quarter of fiscal year 2017. The aggregate cost of the shares repurchased and cancelled
was A$131.4 million (US$99.8 million), at an average market price of A$21.58 (US$16.40).

Subsequent to 31 March 2018, the Company announced an ordinary dividend of US30.0 cents per security, with a record date of 7 June
2018 and a payment date of 3 August 2018.

17. Operating Segment Information and Concentrations of Risk

The Company has reported its operating segment information in the format that the operating segment information is available to and
evaluated by the CODM. The North America Fiber Cement segment manufactures fiber cement interior linings, exterior siding products
and related accessories in the United States; these products are sold in the United States and Canada. The International Fiber Cement
segment includes all fiber cement products manufactured in Australia, New Zealand and the Philippines, and sold in Australia, New
Zealand, Asia, the Middle East and various Pacific Islands. This segment also includes product manufactured in the United States that is
sold in Europe. The Other Businesses segment includes certain non-fiber cement manufacturing and sales activities in North America,
including fiberglass windows. The Research and Development segment represents the cost incurred by the research and development
centers. General Corporate costs primarily consist of Asbestos adjustments, officer and employee compensation and related benefits,
professional and legal fees, administrative costs and rental expense, net of rental income, on the Company’s corporate offices.
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Operating Segments

The following is the Company’s operating segment information:

Net Sales to Customers
Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016

North America Fiber Cement $ 1,578.1 $ 1,493.4 $ 1,335.0
International Fiber Cement 461.7 411.8 3794
Other Businesses 14.7 16.4 13.8
Worldwide total $ 2,054.5 $ 1,921.6 $ 1,728.2

Income Before Income Taxes
Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016

North America Fiber Cement!:8 $ 3819 $ 3439 $ 352.2
International Fiber Cement!.6.7 108.4 95.1 77.9
Other Businesses (8.6) (6.7) (8.6)
Research and Development! (27.8) (25.5) (23.9)
Segments total 453.9 406.8 397.6
General Corporate? (224.7) (13.6) (43.6)
Total operating income 229.2 393.2 354.0
Net interest expense? (29.5) (27.5) (25.6)
Loss on early debt extinguishment (26.1) — —
Other income 0.7 1.3 21
Worldwide total $ 1743 § 3670 $ 330.5

Total Identifiable Assets
31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017

North America Fiber Cement $ 1,070.7 $ 917.4
International Fiber Cement 351.6 335.7
Other Businesses 30.1 28.4
Research and Development 7.5 12.3
Segments total 1,459.9 1,293.8
General Corporate 45 891.1 718.9
Worldwide total $ 2,351.0 $ 2,012.7
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The following is the Company’s geographical information:

Net Sales to Customers
Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016
North America 1,592.8 1,509.9 1,348.8
Australia 301.1 2525 228.4
New Zealand 76.8 73.3 61.4
Other Countries 83.8 85.9 89.6
Worldwide total 2,054.5 1,921.6 1,728.2
Total Identifiable Assets
31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017
North America 1,103.6 953.1
Australia 242.6 237.0
New Zealand 34.8 31.8
Other Countries 78.9 71.9
Segments total 1,459.9 1,293.8
General Corporate*5 891.1 718.9
Worldwide total 2,351.0 2,012.7
Warch and development expenditures are expensed as incurred and are summarized by segment in the following
table:
Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016

North America Fiber Cement $ 61 $ 62 §$ 6.6

International Fiber Cement 1.8 1.5 1.2

Research and Developmenta 25.4 22.6 21.7

$ 333 $ 303 §$ 29.5

a The Research and Development segment also included Selling, general and administrative expenses of US$2.4 million, US$2.9 million and US$2.2 million in fiscal years 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively.

2 The principal components of General Corporate costs are officer and employee compensation and related benefits, professional and legal fees, administrative costs, and
rental expense on the Company’s corporate offices. Also included in General Corporate costs are the following:

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016
Asbestos adjustments $ (156.4) $ 404 $ 5.5
AICF SG&A expenses $ (19) $ (15) $ (1.7)
3 The Company does not report net interest expense for each operating segment as operating segments are not held directly accountable for interest expense. Included in net
interest expense is net AICF interest (income) expense of US$(1.9) million, US$1.1 million and US$0.3 million in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
4 The Company does not report deferred tax assets and liabilities for each operating segment as operating segments are not held directly accountable for deferred income
taxes. All deferred income taxes are included in General Corporate costs.
5 Asbestos-related assets at 31 March 2018 and 2017 are US$537.7 million and US$573.8 million, respectively, and are included in the General Corporate
costs.
6 Included in the International Fiber Cement segment for the year ended 31 March 2016 was a gain on the sale of the Australian Pipes business of US$1.7
million.
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7 Included in the International Fiber Cement segment are adjustments to the provision for New Zealand weathertightness
claims.

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016
New Zealand weathertightness claims expense $ — 3 — (0.5)
8 Included in the North America Fiber Cement segment for the year ended 31 March 2018 was a gain on the sale of the Fontana Building of US$3.4

million.
Concentrations of Risk

The distribution channels for the Company’s fiber cement products are concentrated. If the Company were to lose one or more of its major
customers, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to find a replacement. Therefore, the loss of one or more customers
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We have one customer who contributes greater than 10% of our net sales in each of the past three fiscal years.

This customer’s accounts receivable represented9.0% and 9.1% of the Company’s accounts receivable at 31 March 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The following is net sales generated by this customer, which is from the North America Fiber Cement segment:

Years Ended 31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2018 2017 2016

Customer A $ 246.9 12.0% $ 226.0 10.3% $ 197.0 10.1%

Approximately 22%, 21% and 22% of the Company’s net sales in fiscal year 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were from outside the
United States. Consequently, changes in the value of foreign currencies could significantly affect the consolidated financial position, results
of operations and cash flows of the Company’s non-US operations on translation into US dollars.

18. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

During the year ended 31 March 2018 there were no reclassifications out of Accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Foreign
Currency
Cash Flow Translation
(Millions of US dollars) Hedges Adjustments Total
Balance at 31 March 2017 $ 03 $ (25) $ (2.2)
Other comprehensive income — 0.9 0.9
Balance at 31 March 2018 $ 03 $ (1.6) $ (1.3)
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19. Subsequent Event
Acquisition

On 3 April 2018, the Company completed its acquisition of German-based XI (DL) Holdings GmbH and its subsidiaries (including, but not
limited to, Fermacell GmbH) (collectively, "Fermacell") under the terms of the previously announced Sale and Purchase Agreement with
Xella International S.A. Fermacell manufactures and sells gypsum fiber and cement-bonded board primarily in continental Europe.

On 7 November 2017, the Company had entered into the Sales and Purchase Agreement with Xella International S.A., whereby the
Company agreed to purchase the stock of Fermacell based on an enterprise value of €473.0 million, resulting in 100% ownership of
Fermacell. At the closing of the acquisition, the Company funded the closing payment and related fees and expenses with a combination of
cash on-hand and a €400.0 million (US$492.4 million based on exchange rate at 3 April 2018) drawdown from the Term Loan Facility.
Refer to Note 9 for further details on the Term Loan Facility.

The final determination of the purchase price allocation is expected to be completed as soon as practicable after consummation of the
acquisition. Due to the limited time between the acquisition date and the filing of this report, it is not practicable for the Company to
disclose: (i) the allocation of purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of close, and (ii) pro forma revenues
and earnings of the combined company for the period ended 31 March 2018.

Beginning with the first quarter fiscal year 2019 results, the Company intends to include a European Building Products segment in its report
of quarterly results. This new segment will include the on-going James Hardie European Fiber Cement business and the newly acquired
Fermacell business. The current International Fiber Cement segment will be renamed Asia Pacific Fiber Cement segment and will include
our Australia, New Zealand and Philippines businesses.

F-46



Valuation of ASpestos:
Related Disease Liailites of
[ormer James Hardie
entities ('the Liabie Entites’)

(0 De met Dy the AIG Trust

tos Injuri




M KPMG Actuarial ABM: 91 144 686 046

A divisian of KPMG Financial Services Consulting Pty Ltd Telaphone: +61 2 5335 7000

Australian Firancial Services Licence Ma. 332060 Facsimile: +81 2 9335 7001
International Towers Sydney 3 D 1086 Sydney
300 Barangeroo Ave Wi kMg com sy

Sydnay NSW 2000
PO Bax HE7

Australia Squaie NSW 1215
Australia

22 May 2018

MNarreda Grimlay

Ganeral Manager

Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund Limited
Suite 1, Level 6, 56 Clarence Street

Sydney NSW 2000

Cc  Matthew Marsh, Chief Financial Officer, James Hardie Industries plc
Karen Smith, Deputy Secretary, Legal, Department of Premier and Cabinet, Tha State ot
Mew South Wales
The Board of Directors, Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund Limited

Dear Marreda
Vauationof Ashestos-Related Disease Liabiities of former James Harde
entities ('The Liabie Entities) to be met by the AICF Trust

We are pleased to provide you with our Annual Actuarial Report relating to the asbestos-related
disease liabilities of the Liable Entities which are to be met by the AICF Trust.

The report is effective as at 31 March 2018 and has taken into account claims data and
information provided to us by AICFL as at 31 March 2018.

If you have any questions with respect to the contents of 1his report, please do not hesitate 1o
contact us.

Yours sincerely

At W

Meil Donlewvy M FlA FlAA Jefferson Gibbs BSc FIA FlAd

Executive, KPMG Financial Services Executive, KPMG Financial Services
Consulting Pty Ltd Caonsulting Pty Ltd

Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries (London)  Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries {London)
Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries of Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries of
Australia Australia

@ 2018 KPAG Fnancal Serdices Consuling Pry Lid is afiae of KFIG. KPIWG is on Austalian pernership and a mamber 1m of the KPR neswork of independent
mambr 41 aMfisatad with KPMEG asraional Cooparn |"KPME Irnamaticnsl”), a Swiss aniity. &1 ighis reservad Tra KPAG nams, ingo and "cutting thiouzh
carnglasiy’ ana mgencd 1samarke of KPRAZ Intrationdl. Lishiis smitad by 3 eohama apaecwe urder Profacsional Sandards Lagiiatan




EXecUtive summary

Important Note: Basis of Report

This valuation report {"the Report”) has been prepared by KPMG Actuarial, a division of KPMG Financial
Services Consulting Pty Ltd (ABN 91 144 686 046) (hereafter collectively referred to as "KPMG” or
"KPMG Actuarial®) in accordance with an "Amended and Restated Final Funding Agreement in respect
of the provision of long-term funding for compensation arrangements for certain victims of Asbestos-
related diseases in Australia” (hereafter referred to as the "the Amended Final Funding Agresment”}
between James Hardie Industries NV (now known as James Hardie Industries ple) (hereafter referred
to as "James Hardie"), James Hardie 117 Pty Limited, the State of New South Wales and Asbestos
Injuries Compensation Fund Limited {*AICFL"} which was signed on 21 November 20086.

This Report is intended to meet the requirements of the Amended Final Funding Agreement and values
the asbestos-related disease liabilities of the Liable Entities to be met by the AICF Trust.

This Report is not intended to be used for any other purpose and may not be suitable, and should not
be used, for any other purpose. Opinions and estimates contained in the Report constitute our judgment
as of the date of the Report.

The information contained in this Report is of a general nature and is not intended to address the
objectives, financial situation or needs of any particular individual or entity. It is provided for information
purpeses anly and does not constitute, nor should it be regarded in any manner whatsoever as, advice
and is not intended to influence a person in making a decision in relation to any financial product or an
interest in a financial product. No one should act on the information contained in this Report without
obtaining appropriate professional advice after a thorough examination of the accuracy and
approprigteness of the information contained in this Report having regard to their objectives, financial
situation and needs.

In preparing the Report, KPMG has relied on information supplied to it from various sources and has
assumed that the information is accurate and complete in all material respects. KPMG has not
indepandently verified the accuracy or completeness of the data and infarmation used for this Report.

Except insofar as liability under statute cannot be excluded, KPMG, its executives, directors, employees
and agents will not be held liable for any loss or damage of any kind arising as a consequence of any
use of the Report or purported reliance on the Report including any errors in, or omissions from, the
valuation models.

The Report must be read in its entirety. Individual sections of the Report, including the Executive
Summary, could be misleading if considered in isolation. In particular, the opinions expressed in the
Report are based on a number of assumptions and qualifications which are set out in the full Report.




Introduction

The Amended Final Funding Agreement requires the completion of an Annual Actuanial Report
evaluating the potential asbestos-related disease liabilities of the Lisble Entitias to be met by the AICF
Trust. KPMG has been retained by AICFL to provide this Annual Actuarial Report as required under the
Amended Final Funding Agreement and this is detailed in our Engagement Letter dated 16 November
2037

The Liable Entities are defined as being the following entities:

*  Amaca Pty Ltd iformerly James Hardie & Coy);

+  Amaba Pty Ltd (formarly Jsakarb, James Hardia Brakes and Better Brakes); and
= ABNGO Pty Ltd {formerly James Hardie Industries Ltd).

In addition, the liability for Baryulgil claims is deemed 1o be a liability of Amaca by virtue of the James
Hardie (Civil Liability) Act 2008 {MSW). Under Part 4 of that Act, Amaca is lisble for the "Marlew
Asbestos Claims” or "Marlew Contribution Claims” as defined in that Act,

Our valuation is on a central estimate basis and is intended to be effective as at 31 March 2018, It has
been based on claims data and information as at 31 March 2018 provided to us by AICFL.
Overview of Recent Claims Experience and comparison with previous valuation projections

In this section we compare the actual experience in 2017/18 {referred to in the following tables as
"FY18 Actual”) with the projections for 2017/18 that were contained within our previous wvaluation
report at 31 March 2017. We will refer to these projections for 2017/18 as "FY18 Expected” in the
tables that follow

Claim numbers

There have been 392 mesothelioma claims reported in 2017/18, a 5% increase compared to the 374
mesothelioma claims reported in 2016/17 and 5% above expectations for 2017/18 {372 claims).
For nen-mesothelioma claims {excluding workers compensation claims), there have been 150 claims

reported in 2017/18, a 6% decrease compared to 159 claims reported in 201617,

The following table shows the comparison of actual experience with that which had been forecast at
the previous valuation.




Table E.1. Comparison of claim numbers

o Ratio of
FY¥18 Actual E.-:E\relfed Actual to  FY17 Actual
Expected
(%)
Mesothelioma 392 372 105% 374
Asbestosis 85 108 79% 97
Lung Cancer 26 21 124% 19
ARPD & Other 3 33 94% 32
Wharf 8 12 B7% 11
Workers 20 30 B67% 24
Total 562 576 98% 557

Average Claim Awards

HAverage claims awards in 2017/18 have been lower than expectations across all disease types with the
exception of workers compensation

There has been one large mesothelioma claim settlement (being claims in excess of $1m in 2006/07
money terms) in 2017/18. This is significantly lower than our expectations. Total claims expenditure on
large claims has been 85% below expectations, reflecting the low number of large dlaims reported and
settled in 2017/18.

The following table shows the comparison of actual experience with that which had been forecast at
the previous valuation.

Table E.2. Comparison of average claim size of non-nil claims

Ratio of
FY¥18 Actual Ak Actual to  FY1T7 Actual
Expected
Expected
($) ($) ($)
Mesothelioma 300,491 364,000 83% 286,271
Asbestosis 104,786 118,200 B9% 81,625
Lung Cancer 117,067 131,900 89% 42,336
ARPD & Other 66,285 105,500 63% 75972
Wharf 78,668 116,100 68% 38,373
Workers 241 667 137,200 176% 1]
Mesothelioma Large
Claims (settled)
Number 1 5.6 18% 2
Average claim size | 2,000,000 2,331,600 86% 1,703,000
Lenge clain 2,000,000 | 13056960 |  15% | 3406,000
expenditure

Mote: FY1 7 Actuals have been inflated iby 4% to mid 2017718 values




Cashflow expenditure: gross and net
Gross cashflow expenditure, at $139.7m, was 10% below expectations.

Net cashflow expenditure, at $123.7m, was 16% below expectations.

Table E.3. Comparison of cashflow

e Ratio of
FYytBActual _ ' 112 Actualto  FY17 Actual
Expected ;
Expected
(SM) (8M) ) (5M)
Gross Cashflow 139.7 154.9 125.0
Insurance and Other
Baconinias (11.4) (8.2) 139% (22.3)
Insurance recoveries
from HIH and from (4.8) 0.0 nia (105.0)
commutations
Net Cashflow 123.7 146.7 84% (2.3)

Gross cashflow was lower than expectations primarily due to the lower average claim size of non-large
maesathalioma claims together with lowar expenditure on large mesothalioma claims, partially offset by
higher numbers of mesothelioma claims settlements in 201718,

Liability Assessment

At 31 March 2018, our projected central estimate of the liabilities of the Liable Entities (the Discounted
Central Estimatel to be met by the AICF Trust is $1,862.9m (March 2017: $1,740.1m). We have not
allowed for the future Operating Expenses of the AICF Trust or the Lisble Entities in the liability
assessment.

Table E.4. Comparison of central estimate of liabilities

$m
Gross of Met of Net of

insurance Insurance insurance insurance
recoveries veri recaoveries overies

Torel irkticted and 15173 744 14420 1,385.7

cash-flows

Inflation alowance o727 347 9380 8140

Total inflated and

undiscounted cash-flows | 4%*° 1001 23800 Sl

Discounting allowance (551.8) (a7 (528.0) (459.6)

et prasent valus 10382 854 1,852.9 1,740.1

liabilities




Comparison with previous valuation

In the absence of any change to the claim projection assumptions from our 31 March 2017 valuation,
other than allowing for the changes in the discount rate, we would have projected a Discounted Central
Estimate liability of $1,657.1m as at 31 March 2018,

This is a decrease of $83.0m relative to the valuation result at 31 March 2017, and this is due to:

« A reduction of $119.9m, being the net impact of expected claims payments (which reduce the
liability) and the “unwind of discount” (to reflect the fact that cashflows are now one year nearer).

*  Anincrease of $36.9m resulting from changes to the yield curve between 31 March 2017 and 31
March 2018,

Our liability assessment at 31 March 2018 of $1,852. 9m represents an increase of $195.8m, which
arises from changes to the actuarial assumptions. The increase is principally a consequence of:

»  The revised modelling approach for mesothelioma which has allowed for higher numbers of claims
after 2025 partially offset by reductions in average sizes by allowing for the impact of claimant age;
and

= Anincrease to the base level of mesothelioma claims for 2018/19 and the conseqguential impact
this has on the number of claims in all future years;

offset by

+  Removal of the sllowance for Suliivan vs Gordon in Victoria (see Section 1.3.3 of this Report);
*  Increased allowance for cross-claim recoveries; and

+  Reducticns for average claim sizes and defence legal costs for other disease types.

The following chart shows an analysis of the changea in our lisbility assessments from 31 March 2017
to 31 March 2018 on a discounted basis.

Figure E.1. Analysis of change in central estimate liability {discounted basis)
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Note: Green bars signal that this factor has given rise to an increase in the hability whilst light blue bars sigrial
that this factor has given rise 10 a reduction in the liability.




Amended Final Funding Agreement calculations

The Amended Final Funding Agreement sets out the basis on which payments will be made to the AICF
Trust.

Additionally, there are a number of other figures specified within the Amended Final Funding
Agresment that we are required to calculate. These are:

+  Discounted Central Estimate;
*  Term Central Estimate; and
*  Period Actuarial Estimate.

Table E.5. Amended Final Funding Agreement calculations

Discounted Central Estimate (net of cress-claim recoveries, 1.852.9
Insurance and Other Recoveries) o

Period Actuarial Estimate (nel of cross-claim recoveries,
gross of Insurance and Other Recoveries) comprising:

Discounted value of cashflowin 201819 1471

4827

Discounted value of cashflowin 2019/20 159.4

Discounted value of cashflowin 2020/21 156.2

Term Central Estimate (net of cross-claim recoveries,

Insurance and Other Recoveries) 18355

The actual funding amount due at a particular date will depend upon a number of factors, including:
+  the net asset position of the AICF Trust at that time;
»  the free cash flow amount of the James Hardie Group in the preceding financial vear; and

«  the Period Actuarial Estimate in the latest Annual Actuarial Report.

Uncertainty
Estimates of asbestos-related disease liabilities are subject to considerable uncertainty, significantly

mare than personal injury liabilites in relation 1o other causes, such as CTP or Workers Compensation
claims,

It should therefore be expected that the actual emergence of the liabilities will vary from any estimate.
As indicated in Figure E.2, depanding on the actual outturn of experience relative to that currently
forecast, the variation could potentially be substantial.

Thus, no assurance can be given that the actual liabilities of the Liable Entities to be met by the AICF

Trust will not ultimately exceed the estimates contained in this Report. Any such variation may be
significant.

We have performed sensitivity testing to identify the impact of ditferent assumptions upon the size of
the liabiltties. The different scenarios selected are documented at Section 11.2 of this report.




We have not included & sensitivity test for the impact of changes in discount rates although, as noted
in this Report, changes in discount rates can introduce significant volatility to the Discounted Central
Estimate result reported at each year-end.

We note that these sensitivity test ranges are not intended to correspond to a specified probability of
sufficiency, nor are they intended 1o indicate an upper bound or a lower bound of all possible outcomes.

Figure E.2. Sensitivity testing results — Impact around the Discounted Central Estimate lin $m)
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The single most sensitive assumption shown in the chart is the peak period of claims reporting against
the Liable Entities. Shifting the pattern of incidence by 2 years could add approximately $325m (18%)
on a discounted basis to our valuation {as shown in the above chart by the scenario labelled
“mesothelioma incidence pattarmn”).

Tahle E.B. Summary results of sensitivity analysis {$m)

Ceniral estimate 23809 1.852.9
Low Scenario 16813 1,347.2
High Scenario 42098 3,062.0

Whilst the table abowve indicates a range around the discounted central estimate of lisbilities of -$506m
to +51,209m, the actual cost of liabilities could fall outside that range depending on the actual
experience.

Executive Summary Not Report

Please note that this executive summary is intended as a brief overview of our Report. To properly
understand our analysis and the basis of our liability assessment requires examination of our Report in
full.




Gontents

Executive Summary

1.

L R

Secope and Purpose

Data

‘Valuation Methodology and Approach

Claims Experience: Mesothelioma Claim Numbers

Claims Experience: Claim numbers {non-mesatheliomal

Exposure and Latency Experience and Incidence Pattern Assumptions
Claims Experience: Average Claims and Legal Costs

Claims Experience: Nil Settlement Rates

Economic and Other Assumptions

. Valuation Results

. Uncertainty

Appendices

o0 W >

Projected inflated and undiscounted cashflows ($m)
Projected inflated and discounted cashflows ($m)
Australian asbestos consumption and production data: 1930-2002

Glossary of tarms used in the Amended Final Funding Agreement

10
13
27
37

49

70

77
85

288

92




o

SCOpe and Purpose

Introduction

The Amended Final Funding Agreement requires the coempletion of an Annual Actuarial Report
evaluating the potential asbestos-related disease liabilities of the Liable Entities to be met by
the AICF Trust.

Liable E

The Liable Entities are defined as being the following entities:

+  Amaca Pty Ltd (formerly James Hardie & Coyl;

= Amaba Pty Ltd (formerly Jsekarb, James Hardie Brakes and Better Brakes); and
*  ABNGO Pty Ltd (formerly James Hardie Industries Ltd)

In addition, the liability for Baryulgil claims is deemed to be a liability of Amaca by virtue of the
James Hardie (Civil Liability] Act 2005 (NSW). Under Part 4 of that Act, Amaca is lisble for
“Marlew Asbestos Claims” or “Marlew Contribution Claims” as defined in that Act.

Fersonal ashestos claims

Under the Amended Final Funding Agreement, the lisbilities to be mat by the AICF Trust relate
to personal asbestos-related disease lisbilities of the Liable Entities.
Such claims must relate 1o expoesure which took place in Australia and which have been

brought in a Court in Australia.

The precise scope of the liabilities is documented in Section 1.2 and in Appendix D of this
Report.

Furpose of report

KPMG has been retained by AICFL to provide an Annual Actuarial Report as required under
the Amended Final Funding Agreement and this is detailed in our Engagement Letter dated
16 Movermnber 2017,

The prior written consent of KPMG is required for any other use of this Report or the
infarmation contained in it.

Qur valuation is effective as at 31 March 2018 and has been based on claims data and
information as at 31 March 2018 provided to us by AICFL.




1.2

Scope of report

We have been requested to provide an actuarial assessment as at 31 March 2018 of the
ashestosrelated disease liabilties of the Liable Entities to be met by the AICF Trust,
consistent with the terms of the Amended Final Funding Agreement

The assessmeant is on a central estimate basis and is based on the claims experience as at 31
March 2018,

A “eentral estimate” liability assessment is an estimate of the expected value of the range of
potential future liability outcomes. In other words, if all the possitle values of the liabilities are
expressed &s a statistical distribution, the central estimate is an estimate of the mean of that
distribution.

It is aof note that our lisbility assessment:

+  Relates to the Liable Entities and Marlew (in relation to Marlew Claims arising from
asbestos mining activities at Baryulgil).

* |sintended to cover:
-~ The amount of settlements, judgments or awards for all Personal Asbestos Claims.

Claims Legal Costs incurred by the AICF Trust in connection with the settlement of
Personal Asbestos Claims.

* Isnotintended to cover.
- Personal injury or death claims arising from exposure to ashestos which took place
outside Australia.

Personal injury or death claims, ansing from exposure to Asbestos, which are

brought in Courts outside Australia.

- Claims for economic loss, other than any economic 1088 forming part of an award

for damages for personal injury and/or death
. Claims for loss of property, including those relating to land remediatian.

- The costs of asbestos or asbestos product removal relating to asbestos or asbestos
products manufactured or used by or on behalf of the Liable Entities.

* Includes an allowance for:

- Compensation to the NSW Dust Diseases Board ar 8 Warkers Compensation
Scheme by way of a claim by such parties for contribution or reimbursement from
the Liable Entities, but only to the extent that the cost of such claims is within the
limits of funding for such claims as cutlined within the Amended Final Funding
Agreement.

- Waorkers Compensation claims, being claims from former employees of the Liable
Entities, but only to the extent that such liabilities are not met by a Workers
Compensation Scheme or Policy (see section 1.2.1).

= Assumes that the product and public liability insurance policies of the Liable Entities will
continue to respond to claims as and when they fall due. We have not made any




allowance for the impact of any disputation concerning Insurance Recoveries, nor for any
legal costs that may be incurred in resolving such disputes.

*  Makes no allowance for:

- Insurance Recoveries from insurance policies placed from 1986 onwards which
were placed on a "claims made” basis

- the future Operating Expenses of the Liable Entities or the AICF Trust. Separate
allowance for future Operating Expenses should be considered by the management
of AICFL.

the inherent uncertainty of the liability assessment. That is, no additional provision
(or risk margin) has been included in excess of a central estimate.

Readers of this Report may refer to our previous reports which are available
at wwww.ir.jameshardie.com.au and www.aicf org.au.

rkers Compensation

W

‘Workers Compensation claims are claims made by former employees of the Liable Entities.
Such past, current and future reported claims were insured with, amongst others, Allianz
Australia Limited, QBE and the various State-based Workers Compensation Schemes

Under the Amended Final Funding Agreement, the part of a future Workers Compensation
claim that is met by a Workers Compensation Scheme or Policy of the Liable Entities is
outside of the AICF Trust. The AICF Trust is, howaever, to provide for any part of a claim not
covered by a Workers Compensation Scheme or Policy le.g. as a result of the existence of
limits of indemnity and policy deductibles on those policies of insurance).

On this basis our liability assessmant in relation to Workers Compensation claims and which
relates to the AICF Trust, includes only the amount borne by the Liable Entities in excess of
the anticipated recoveries due from a Workers Compensation Scheme or Policy.

In making our assessment we have assumed that the Workers Compensation insurance
programme will continue to respond to claims by former employees of the Liable Entities as
and when they fall due. To the extent that they were not ta respond owing o (say) insurer
insolvency, Insurer Guarantee Funds may be available to meet such obligations.

Dust Disease Board and Other Reim

ursements
There exists a right under Section 8E (Reimbursement Provisions) of the Dust Diseases Act
1842 for the NSW Dust Diseases Board ("DDBE"} to recover certain costs from common law
defendants, excluding the emgployer of the claimant.

This component of cost is implicitly included within cur liability assessment as the claims
awards made in recent periods and in recent settlements contain allowance for DDB
raeimbursement where applicable. Furthermore, currently reported open claims have an
allowance within their case estimates for the costs of DDE reimbursement where relevant
and applicable.

The Amended Final Funding Agreement indicates that the AICF Trust is intended to mast
Personal Asbestos Claims and that claims by the DDB or & Workers Compensation Scheme




1.2.4

for reimbursement will only be met up to a certain specified limit (agaregated across the DDB
and Workers Compensation Schemes), being:

= Inthe first financial year (2006/07) a limit of $750,000 applied;

= In respect of each financial year thereafter, that limit is indexed annually in line with the
Cansumer Price Index. At 31 March 2018, the annual limit is $985,738,

=  There is an overall unindexed aggregate cap of $30m;

* At 31 March 2018, AICFL has paid out $9,495,875 to the DDB. Additionally, there are
gpproximately $2.7m of unpaid claims at 31 March 2018; the pace of payment of which
would be subject to the impact of the annual limit.

The cashflow and liability figures contained within this Report have already removed that
component of any reimbursements that will not be met by the AICF Trust owing to the
application of these limits and caps.

Baryulgil (“Marlew Claims "}

"Marlew Asbestos Claims” and "Marlew Contribution Claims” are deemed to be liabilities of
Amaca. These claims specifically include:

«  Claims made against Amaca Pty Ltd or ABNBD resulting from their past ownership of the
mine; and, in the case of Amaca, includes claims made in relation to the joint venture
(Asbestos Mines Pty Ltdl established with Wunderlich in 1944 to begin mining at
Baryulgil.

=  Claims made against the subsequent owner of the mine (following its sale by James
Hardie Industries to Woodsreef in 1976), being Marlew Mining Pty Ltd (“Marlew "} which
is in liquidation, are to be met by the AICF Trust except where such claims are Excluded
Marlew Claims, which are recoverable by the Claimant from other sources.

These claims are discussed further in Section 5.8.

Risk Margins

Australian-licensed insurance companies are required to hold, and many non-insurance
companies elect to hold, insurance and seli-insurance claims provisions at a level above the
central estimate basis to reflect the uncertainty attaching to the liability assessment and ta
include an allowance in respect of that uncertainty,

A risk margin is an additional amount held, above the central estimate, so as to increase the
likelihood of adequacy of the provisions to meet the ultimate cost of settlernent of those
liabilities,

We nate that the Amended Final Funding Agreement envisages the ongoing financing of the

AICF Trust is to be based on a “central estimate” approach and that the Annual Actuarial
Report should provide & Discounted Central Estimate valuation,

Accordingly, we have made no allowance for any risk margins within this Report.




Discounting
‘We have determined a Discounted Central Estimate in this Report by discounting (to 21 March

2018} the projected future cashflows using yields on Commonwealth Government Bonds.

Conceptually, the Discounted Central Estimate at 31 March 2018 would normally represent
an amount of money which, if fully provided in advance {i.e. as of 31 March 2018) and invested
in risk-free assets (such as Commonweslth Government Bonds) of term and currency
appropriate 1o the liabilities, would generate the necessary investment income such that
(together with the capital value of those assets) it would be expected o be sufficient to pay

for the liabilities as they fall due,

To the extent that the actual investments are:
«  of different terms; and/or

= in different currencies; and/or

»  provide different expected rates of return
investment profits or losses would emerge.

One of the uncertainties in our valuation is the fact that fixed interest Commonwealth
Government Bonds do not exist at maost of the durations of our cashflow projection.

This means we need to take a long-term view on bond yields that is not measured by market-
observable rates of return.

‘We note that the actual funding mechanism under the Amended Final Funding Agreement
only provides for up to three years’ worth of projected Claims and Claims Legal Costs
expenditure and one year's worth of Operating Expenses at any one time.

Areas of potential exposure

As identified in Section 1.2, there are other potential sources of claims exposure beyond those
directly considered within this Report. However, in a number of cases they are unguantifiable
even if they have the potential to generate claims. This is especially the case for those sources
of future claim where there has been no evidence of clams to date,

Genera as of potential exposure

Areas of potential changes in claims exposure we have not explicitly allowed for in our
wvaluation include, but are not limited to:

+  Future significant individual landmark and precedent-setting judicial decisions;
= Significant medical advancements;

= Unimpaired claims, i.e. claims for fear, stress, pure nervous shock or psychological
illness;

+  Achange in the basis of compeansation for asymptomatic pleural plagues for which no
associsted physical impairmant is exhibited;

= A proliferation {compared to past and current levels of activityl of "third-wave” claims,
i.e. claims arising as a result of indirect exposure such as home renovation, washing




1.3.2

clothes of family mernbers that worked with asbestos, or from workers involved in the
removal of asbestos or the demolition of buildings containing asbestos;

+  Changes in legislation. especially those relating to tort reform for asbestos sufferers.
Examples include the current consultation by the Law Reform Commission in Western
Australia in relation to damages for gratuitous services and provisional damages;

= Introduction of new, or elimination of existing, heads of damage;

=  Exemplary and aggravated or punitive damages |being damages awarded for perscnal
injuries caused as a result of negligence or reckless conduct);

#  Changes in the basis of apportionment of awards for asbestos-related diseases for
claimants who have smoked (we note the decisions in Amaca v Ellis (2010] HCA 5 and
Evans v Queanbeyan City Council [2010] NSWDDT 7 which we understand are
consistent with the previous dacision in Judd v Armaca [2002] NSWDDT 25);

«  Changes to taxation; and

»  Future bankruptcies of other asbestos claim defendants (i e. ather liable manufacturers
or distributars).

MNonetheless, implicit allowance is made in respect of some of these items in the allowance
for superimposed inflation included in our liability assessment. Furthermare, to the extent that
some of these have emerged in past claims experience, they are reflected in our projections.

Mew Zealand and ot

285 eXposUres

We have made no allowance for the risk of further development in relation to New Zealand
exposures and the rights of claims from New Zealand claimants in Australian courts (as per
Frost v Amaca (2005), NSWDDT 36 although this decision was successfully appealed by
Amaca in August 2008) nor for the risk of additional exposures from overseas.

This is because, as nated in Section 1.2, the AICF Trust is not required to meet the cost of
these claims as they are Excluded Claims.

In relation to claimants where exposures have involved more than one country le.g. UK and
Australia), we have assumed that the AICF Trust will only meet that part of the cost which is
attributable to the Australian-related exposure.

Victorian amendments to the Wrongs Act

In 2015, the State of Victoria implemented amendments to the Wrongs Act {the Wrongs
Amendment Act 2015} to incorporate the payment of Sulfivan vs Gordon awards {or more
formally, Section 281D). These amendments came into force on 19 November 2015

The Department of Justice and Regulation of Victoria made amendments to the Regulations
that apply to Dust Diseases, namely the Wrongs (Part VB) iDust and Tobacco-Related Claims)
Regulations 2006.

The effect af the various amendments is that from 10 May 2016, tha AICF Trust was requirad
to pay for Sullivan vs Gordon awards (1o the extent applicable) in relation to claims brought
against the Lisble Entities in Victoria.




Our liability assessment at 31 March 2017 therefore included an allowance for these as they
were Payable Liabilities under the Armended Final Funding Agreement.

Our valuation at 31 March 2017 included the following amounts:
«  §56.8m on an uninflated & undiscounted basis.

= $94.2m onan inflated & undiscounted basis.

«  $73.2m onan inflated & discounted basis.

A Deed of Amendment to the Amended Final Funding Agreement was made on 18 December
2017 to insert a new clause (13.4A). The effect of these amendments is that Suflivan vs
Gordon awards (Section 2810 damages) cannot be paid by AICF and the Liable Entities with
effect from 1 January 2018.

Accordingly, our valuation at 31 March 2018 has removed the allowance previously made
within our 31 March 2017 valuation far these awards.

Thin

wave claims

We have made allowance for so-called “third-wave" claims. These are defined as claims for
personal injury and / or death arising from asbestos exposure during home renovations by
individuals or to buillders involved in such renovations. Such claims are allowed for within the
projections to the extent to which they have arisen to date and to the extent our exposure
madel factors in these exposures in its projection.

‘We have not allowed for a significant additional surge in third-wave claims lover and above
current levels of activity) in the future arising from renovations, but conversely we have nat
allowed for & tempering of those third-wave claims already included within our projection as
a result of improved education of individuals as to the risks of such home renovations, or of
any local Councils or State Governments passing laws in this regard.

It should be noted that claims for the cost of asbestos or asbestos product removal from
homes and properties or any claims for economic loss arising from asbestos or asbestos
products being within such homes and properties is not required to be met by the AICF Trust.

Data reliances and limitations

KPMG has relied upon the accuracy and completeness of the data with which it has been
provided. KPMG has not verified the accuracy or completeness of the data, although we have
undertaken steps to test its consistency with data previously received. However, KPMG has
placed reliance on the data previously received, and currently provided, as being accurate and
complete in all material respects,

Uncertainty

It must be understood that estimates of asbestos-related disease liabilities are subject to
considerable uncertainty.

This is due to the fact that the ultimate disposition of future claims will be subject to the
outcome of events that have not yet occurred. Examples of these events, as noted in Section
1.3, include jury decisions, court interpretations, legislative changes, epidemiological




developments, medical advancements, public attitudes, potentisl additional third-wave
exposures and social and economic conditions such as inflation.

Therefore, it should be expected that the actual emergence of the liabilities will vary, perhaps
materially, from any estimata. Thus, no assurance can be given that the actual liabilities of the
Liable Entities to be met by the AICF Trust will not ultimately exceed the estimates contained
herein. Any such variation may be significant.

Distribution and use

The purpose of this Report is as stated in Section 1.1.
This Report should not be used for any purpose other than those specified.

This Report will be provided to the Board and management of AICFL. This Report will also be
provided to the Board and management of James Hardie, the NSV Government and to EY in
their capacity as auditors to both James Hardie and AICFL.

Ve understand that this Report will be filed with the ASX and placed on James Hardie's
website in its entirety.

We understand that this Report will also be placed on AICFL's websita in its entirety.

KPMG consents to this Report being made available to the sbove-mentioned parties and for
the Report 1o be distributed in the manner described above.

To the extent permitted by law, neither KPMG nor its Executives, directors or employees will
be responsible to any third parties for the consequences of any actions they take based upon
the apinions expressed with this Report, including any use of or purported reliance upon this
Report not contemplated in Section 1.2, Any reliance placed is that party’s sole responsibility.

Where distribution of this Repart is parmitted by KPMG, the Report may only be distributed
in its entirety and judgements about the conclusions and comments drawn from this Report
should only be made after considering the Report in its entirety and with necessary
consultation with KPMG,

Readers are also advised to refer to the “Important Mote: Basis of Repart” section at the front
of the Executive Summary of this Report.

Date labelling convention used in this Report

In our analyses throughout this Report lunless atherwise stated), the "year” we refer 1o aligns
with the financial year of AICFL and James Hardie and runs fram 1 April to 31 March.

A Y2008 notified claim would be a claim notified in the pericd 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009,
This might also be referred to as "2008/08" or "FY09".

Similarly, a "2017" claim settlement would be a claim settled in the peried 1 April 2017 1o 31
March 2018. This might also be referred to as “2017/18" or "FY18".
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Author of the report

This Report is authored by MNeil Donlevy, an Executive of KPMG Financial Services Consulting
Pty Ltd, a Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries (London) and a Fellow of the Institute of
Actuaries of Australia.

This Report is co-authored by Jefferson Gibbs, an Executive of KPFMG Financial Services
Consulting Pty Ltd, a Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries (London) and a Fellow of the Institute
of Actuaries of Australia.

In relation to this Report, the primary regulator for both Neil Donlevy and Jefferson Gibbs is
the Institute of Actuaries of Australia.

Professional standards and compliance

This Report details a valuation of the outstanding claims liabilities of entities which hold
liabilities with features similar to general insurance liabilities.

In preparing this Report, we have complied with the Professional Standard 300 of the Institute
of Actuaries of Australia (“PS300”), “Valuation of General Insurance Claims”,

However, as we note in Section 1.2, this Report does not include an allowance for the future
Operating Expenses of the AICF Trust (which are estimated by AICFL) and nor does it include
any allowance for a risk margin to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the liability assessment.

Control processes and review

This valuation report and the underlying analyses have been subject to technical review and
internal peer review.

The technical review focuses on ensuring that the valuation models and supporting claims
experience analyses that are carried out are performed correctly and that the calculations are
being correctly applied. The technical review also focuses on ensuring that the data that is
being used has been reconciled insofar as possible.

Internal peer review involves a review of the approach, the methods, the assumptions
selected and the professional judgments applied.

Both the technical review and internal peer review processes are applied to the Report as
well as the valuation models.

Basis of preparation of Report

We have been advised by the management of AICFL to prepare the Report on a "going
congern” basis (i.e. we should assume that AICFL will be able to meet any shortfall in the
cost of the liabilities of the Liable Entities as they fall due).

The cashflow estimates contained in this Report assume that claims against the Liable
Entities will continue to be paid in full as and when they fall due.
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Jata

Data provided to KPMG
‘We have been provided with the following data by AICFL:
= Claims dataset at 31 March 2018 with individual claims listings;

+  Accounting transactions dataset at 31 March 2018 {which includes indwidual claims
payment details); and

«  Detaled insurance bordereaux information (being a listing of claims filed with the insurers
of the Liable Entities) as at 31 March 2018.

‘We have allowed for the benefits of the product and public liability insurance policies of the
Liable Entities based on information provided to us by AICFL relating to the insurance
programme's structure, coverage and layers.

We have also considered the claims data listings which formed the basis of our previous
wvaluation assessments. The data structures provided for the claims and accounting datasets
are consistent with those provided at previous valuations.

Data limitations

We have tested the consistency of the various data sets provided to us at different valuation
dates. Section 2.3 outlines the nature of the testing undertaken,

However, we have not otherwise verfied the data and have instead relied on the data
provided as being complete and accurata in all material respects.

‘We have relied upon the robustness of AICFL's internal administration and systems as to the
completeness of the data provided,

Consequently, should there be material errors or incompleteness in the data, our assessment

could also be aftected materially.

Data reconciliation and testing

We have performed a reconciliation of the data provided at 31 March 2018 with the data
provided at 31 March 2017,

‘We have undertaken a number of tests and reconciliations to test the accuracy of the data 1o
the extent possible, noting the limitations outlined above.
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Reconciliation with previous valuation's data

‘We have parformed a reconciliation of the claims database as at 31 March 2018 with that
provided at 31 March 2017.

Our findings are:

=  Claims notifications: There were no new claims reported that had a repoert date prior to
31 March 2017. No claims {that already had a notification date) changed notification date
between tha two databases.

=  Portfolio category: Seven claims changed category, Five of these related to claims
reported in 2016/17.

= Settlement date: There have been two claims with a settlement date prior to 31 March
2017 that changed settlement dates.

Changing and developing data is not unexpected or to be considered as adverse. Indeed,
changing data is common to all claims administration systems, We do not consider the
number or extent of the changes noted above to be unreascnable, nor do we consider the
changes to be material to the valuation.

Reconciliation of claims settlement amounts between claims and accounting databases

‘We have mapped the financial data between the claims and accounting databases into
standardised groupings as follows:

Table 2.1: Grouping of financial data from claims and accounting databases

Aveard

Cosls [ Other
Detence legal costs

Nots: Ascovary amaounts are avalabie from the accounting databasa
We have compared the payment records between the claims database and the accounting
database from the earliest date to the current file position.

The table below shows the results of this reconciliation for all claim transactions to date

Table 2.2: Comparison of amounts from claims and accounting databases ($m)

%
Damages (gross of recoveries,

wingmedicare) . ........180568
Costs 474

Other finc Medicara) 54

Defence legal costs 1856 |
 Total Value 16620/

Award plus Medicare plus DDB Avard plus Medicare plus DDB 1,626.3

Costs | Other Cosls | Other 501
Defence legal costs 185.6

Total Yalue A
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The standardisation is the most relevant comparison because the two database extracts
allocate the information (particularly in relation to Medicare) in slightly different ways.

Once the standardisation has been undertaken, the two datasets reconcile closely — with
reconciliation differences for claim awards totalling approximately $2.6m or 0.2% (31 March
2017: $10.3m}. The reduction in the difference in the past 12 months reflacts work
undertaken by AICFL during 2017/18 to further enhance the quality and consistency of the
various data sources.

Our approach for each claim record has been 1o take the maximum value of the two databases
for each claim record. This results in the following overall totals being used in our analysis:

+  $1,627.0m for the claims award component;
*  350.5m for the costs [ other component; and
+  $185.6m for the defence legal costs compaonent.

This approach, of taking the maximum value for each claims record, may result in some minor
prudence in our overall analysis although the amount of prudence is not considered to be
significant in the context of the size of the potential liabilities and the underlying uncertainty
in any valuation estimating future claims costs over the next 40 years or more.

Data conclusion

Ve have not verified the underlying data nor have we undertaken “auditing at source”. Mo
material data issues have been identified and notified 1o us by the Approved Auditor of AICFL
(EY) during their testing.

We have tested the data for internal consistency with the data provided at the previous
valuation (31 March 2017).

Based on that testing and reconciliation, and subject to the limitations described in Section
1.4, we have formed the view that:

*  Generally, the data is consistent between valuations, with any differences in the data
being readily explainable;

»  The financial data appears to reconcile reasonably between the two data sources (the
claims dataset and the accounting transactions datasets}:

=  Any data issues that have emerged are not significant in relation to the size of the
lizbilities; and

=  The data is appropriate for use for the purpose of this Report.
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Approach

Waluation methodology changes
‘We have, in broad terms, maintained the core valuation methodology adopted at our previous
waluation.

The key methodology change at this valuation is that we have sub-divided the mesothelioma
segment into four age groups, based on the age of the claimant at the time the claim was
notified.

These age groups are:

+  Under 60 years of age;

= 6010 70 years of age;

*  70to 80 years of age; and

« 80 years of age or over.

‘We have sub-divided the mesothelioma segment into these age groups to reflect the fact that
the mix of claims has changed materially over time.

We have observed that average claim sizes of non-nil, non-large claims; the incidence rate of
large claims; and the latency of mesothelioma claims varies between each of these age
groups.

By modelling these age groups separately and deriving separate assumptions for each age
group, it allows us to respend mare directly to the change in mix of claims that has occurred
over time and which is projected to continue to occur in future periods.

As a consequence of the change in approach, there are changes to the overall future pattern
of incidence, and projected future number, of mesothelioma claims being assumed as well
as changes in average claim sizes assumed in future periods,

We have not changed the methodology in relation to the other disease types and for those
disease types we have continued to adopt the incidence patterns that were assumed in our
31 March 2017 valuation.
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Overview of current methodology

The methodology involves assessing the liabilities in two separate components, being:

.

Allowance for the cost of settling claims which have already been reported but have not
wet been settled ("pending claims"}); and

Allowance for the cost of settling claims which have not yet been reported (*Incurred
But Nat Reported” or "IBMR" claims).

For pending claims, we have used the case estimates (where available) with some
adjustments to reflect the extent to which the case estimates (on average) tend 1o overstate
the ultimate cost. For IBNR claims we have used what can best be described as an "average

cost per claim methed”.

In brief, the overall methodology may be surmmarised as follows:

.

Project the future number of claims expected 10 be reported in each future year by
disease type {for product and public liability} and for Workers Compensation and wharf
claims taking into account the expected future incidence of mesothelioma and other
diseases and also the past rate of cojoining of the Liable Entities;

Analyse past average attritional claim costs of non-nil claims in mid 2017718 money
terms. We have defined attritional claims to be claims which are less than $1m in 2006/07
money terms. \We estimate a baseline attritional non-nil average claim cost in mid
2017/18 money terms. This represents the Liable Entities” share of a claim rather than
the total claim settlement;

Analyse past histarical average plaintifffother and defendant legal costs for non-nil claim
settlernents;

Analyse past historical average defendant legal costs for nil claim settlements;

Estimate a “large claims loading” for mesothelioma claims by estimating the frequency,
or incidence rate, and average claim size and legal cost sizes of such claims (being claims
which are in excess of $1m in 2006/07 money terms);

Project the pattern and incidence of future claims settlements from the claims reporting
profile projected. This is done by using a settlement pattern derived from consideration
of past experience of the pattern of delay between claim reporting and claim settlement
for each disease type,

Estimate the proportion of claims which will be settled with no liability against the Liable
Entities by reference to past proportions of claims settled for nil claim cost (we refer to
this as the "nil settlement rate”);

Inflate average claim, plaintififother and defence legal costs and large claim costs to the
date of settlement of claims allowing for base inflation and {where applicablel
superimposed inflation;

Multiply the claims numbers which are expected to be settled for non-nil amounts in a
period by the inflated average non-nil claim costs (including the “large claims loading™)
and plaintift/ather and defence legal costs for that period;




= Make allowance in defence legal costs far that proportion of settled claims which are
expected to be settled for no liability but for which defence costs will be incurred;

* Inflate average defence legal costs of nil claims 1o the date of settlement of claims
allowing for base inflation;

«  Multiply the claims numbers which are expected to be settled for nil amounts in a period
by the inflated average defence legal costs for nil claims for that period;

*  Add the expected claims costs and legal payments relating to pending claims (after
allowance for the potential savings on case estimates| after making allowance for the
assumed settlement pattern of pending claims;

+  This gives the projected future gross cashflow for each future financial year;

= Adjust the projectad gross cashflow for the impact of the annual and aggregate caps on
DDB reimbursements;

=  Estimate the recoveries resulting from cross-claims made by the Liable Entities against
other parties |"cross-claim recoveries”),

= Project Insurance Recoveries 1o establish the net cashflows;

+  Discount the cashflows using a yield curve derived from vyields on Commonwealth
Government Fixed Interest Bonds st the valuation date to arrive at our present value
liability assessment.

It should be noted that this description is an outline and is not intended to be exhaustive in

consideration of all the stages we consider or all investigations we undertake, Those other

stages are outlined in more detall elsewhere in this Report and readers are advised to refer
to those sections for a more detailed understanding of the process undertaken.

As discussed elsewhere, the liabilities are established on a cantral estimate basis.
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3.3.
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Disease type and class subdivision
Claims records excluded from our analysis

‘We have excluded records that relate to cross-claims brought by the Lisble Entities against
other defendants. Where the cross-claim is brought as part of the main proceedings the claim
is automatically counted in our analysis of the number of claims. However, where the cross-
claim by the Liable Entities is severed from the main proceedings, the existence of a separate
record in the claims dataset does not indicate an additional claim (or liability) against the Lisble
Entities. In these circumstances such claims records are not counted in our analysis.

‘We have also excluded "insurance recovery” claims records. This is because the insurance
recovery record is a separate record that exists for claims records where an insurance
racavery is due. In other words, the claim against the Liable Entity has already been included
in our analysis and the insurance recovery record exists for operational purposes only.

Categories of ¢
We have sub-divided the remaining claims into the following groups:

#»  Product and Public Liability;

= Workers Compensation, being claims by former employess of the Liable Entities; and

= Wharf claims, being claims by individuals whose occupations involved working on the
docks or wharves, or where part of their exposure related to wharves.

Categories of disease
For product and public liability claims, we have separately analysed the individual disease
types.

We have split the data by disease type for these claims, because there is sufficient valume
of clams to do so, because different disease types display substantially different average
claim sizes, and because the incidence pattern of future notifications is expected to vary
between the different disease types.

Woe have not divided the Workers Compensation or wharf claims data by disease type, given
their low financial significance and the reduced credibility of the data if sub-divided by disease

type (given the low number of claims).

For the purposes of our analysis, we have allocated each claim once and therefore to one
disease only. We have selected the following order of priority, based on the relative severity
of the disease:

= Mesothelioma;

*  Lung cancer / Other cancer;

= Asbestosis; and then

*  Asbestos-Related Pleural Disease and Other ("ARPD & Other”).

This means that if a product or public liability claim has mesothelioma as one of its listed
diseases, it is counted as a mesothelioma claim. If a product or public lisbility claim has lung
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cancer or other cancer as one of its listed diseases (but not mescthelioma), itis counted as a
lung cancer claim. If a product or public liability claim has asbestosis as one of its listed
diseases, it is only counted as asbestosis if it has no reference to mesothelioma, lung cancer
or other cancer as one of its diseases.

Mumbers of future claims notifications: mesothelioma

To project the pattern of incidence of claims against the Lisble Entities, we have constructed
a revised model which utilises the following inputs:

»  The current Australian population by year of birth / current age and gender;

*  S5tandard mortality rates by age and gender. This is used to project the papulation by year
of birth / age at each future year,

= The relative risk-exposure {or incidence rates) between males and females;
+  The relative risk-exposure by age of person at time of exposure;
= The exposure to ashestos in Australia;

+  The statistical distribution of the latency period from average exposure for each disease
type and by age of claimant, togather with the underlying parameters ithe mean and the
standard deviation) of the latency model.

Population data

The chart below shows the current population of Australia by year of birth and split between
males and females. The most recent data was effective as at December 2016.

Figure 3.1: Australian population at December 2016
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Acrtality rates by age

‘We have used mortality rates from Australian Life Tables 2010-2012 which show mortality
rates separately by age and gender.

Figure 3.2: Mortality rates: Australia Life Tables 2010-2012
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Risk-weighting adjustment: males 1o females

Data available from numerous literature indicates that the incidence of mesothelioma is
significantly higher for males than females. Data from the Australian Mesothelioma Registry,
for example, shows the following table.

Table 3.1: Number of people in Australia diagnosed with mascthelioma: 2011 to 2016

Female:
Year Male Female Male ratio|
2011 555 106 18%
012 605 126 21%
2013 574 131 23%
2014 614 142 23%
015 554 156 28%
016 559 141 25%
Total 3,505 802 23%|

Source: Mesothelioma in Australia 2018: 5th Annual Repart, prapared by the Australian Mesathalioma Registry
The same report also notes that for 2016, age-standardised incidence rates were 4.2 per
100,000 males and 0.9 par 100,000 females.

‘We have therefore, when using the population as a proxy for incidencefexposure, applied a
25% factor to the female population statistics to reflect the lower rate of incidence of
mesothelioma for females relative to males. This means that 80% of claims anse from males
(for the same number of males and females within a population).
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Risk-weighting adjustment: age of person at time of exposure

The following analysis shows how the relative risk of exposure reflects the age at the time of
exposure. This is used to adjust the exposure measure (see Section 3.4.5) based on the age
of the person at the time of potential exposure.

The chart has aggregated all years of exposure and all years of claim and is based on the
claims and exposure data provided by AICFL.

Figure 3.3: Exposure (in exposure person-years) by age at time of exposure
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The chart shows that most of the claims have emerged from exposure between the ages of
20 and 50. The absence of exposure at older ages reflects the fact that exposure at older ages
do not tend to manifest in claims owing to natural mortality from other factors before the
possibility of emergence of the disease, given the latency is typically around 35 to 40 years.

In particular, it can be observed that {in broad terms):

* 3% of the exposure has arisen under the age of 15 years.

= 8% of the exposure has arisen between the ages of 15and 19.
*  76% of the exposure has arisen between the ages of 20 and 49.
+ 10% of the exposure has arisen between the ages of 50 and 59,

* 3% of the exposure has arisen at ages 60 or older.

Exposure model

We have constructed a proxy for exposure by reference to statistics showing the levels of
Australian usage of asbestos. We do not have detailed individual exposure information for the
Liable Entities, its products or where the products were used and how many people were
axposed 1o those products.

However, given the market share of James Hardie over the years (through to 1987) and its
relative stability, we have used a national pattern of usage as a reasonable proxy for the Liable
Entities’ exposure.
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Figure 3.4: Consumption and production indices — Australia 1930-2002
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Tabie of figures are shown in Appendis £

There is an implicit assumption within the use of the consumption to derive the level of future

claim netifications that:

»  the consumption of asbestos is directly correlated with, and is a suitable proxy for, the
number {and extent of exposure) of people exposed to asbestos in any year; and

#  the rate of incidence of individuals developing an asbestos-related disease arising from
eXposure to asbestos is the same for each exposure year and is independeant of the type
of asbestos used.

Latency model

Our assumption is that the latency pattern {from the average date of exposure) is statistically
distributed with a normal distribution.

The parameters for the mean (40 years) and for the standard dewviation (9 years) of the latency
period have been set taking into account the claims experience of the Liable Entities to date
and epidemiological studies.

The analysis supporting the selection of these parameters is summarised in Section 6.1.

Calibrating the curve index to current reporting experience

‘We take the claim curve index and then calibrate the number of notifications in each future
year by reference to the recent levels of claims reporting and the number of claims we have
assumed for the 2018/19 financial year. This appraach implicitly assumes that:

»  The future rate of incidence of asbestos-related diseases manitesting as & result of a past
exposure to asbestos will remain stable;

«  The pattern of diagnosis and the delay between diagnosis and reporting remain stable;
= The “propensity to claim” by individuals will remain stable; and

«  The rate of co-joining the Liable Entities in commaon law claims will remain stabla.
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Changes to any of these factors over time will result in changes to the actual pattern of
incidence of claims reporting.

The claim curve index also provides us with the proportions of the total number of claims
reported in each future year that relate to each of the four age groups for mesothelioma.

Our assumptions for the base number of claims projected to be reported in 2018/19 are

summarised in Section 4.4 and Section 5.7,

Incidence of claim settlements from future claim notifications

We derive a settlement pattern by analysing triangulations of the numbers of settlements and
claims payments by delay from the year of notification

From these settlement pattern analyses, we have estimated the pace at which claims nofified
in the future will settle, and used this to project the future number, and manetary amount, of
settlements in each financial year for each disease type.

Our analysis and assumptions selected are summarised in Section 9.5,

Average claim costs of IBNR claims
Attritional claims

We define a large claim as ane for which the award is greater than or equal to $1m in 2006/07
maney terms lwhich equates to approximately $1.54m in mid 2017/18 money terms).

We define an attritional claim as a non-nil, non-large claim. We define a nil claim as one far
which the award payable by the relevant Liable Entity is zero.

‘We have estimated the following five components to the average cost assessment:

= Average award (sometimes including plaintiff legal costs) of a non-nil "attritional” claim,
*  Average plaintiff legal / other costs of a non-nil " attritional” claim

+  Average defanca legal costs of a non-nil “attritional” claim

=  Average defence legal costs of a nil claim.

+  Large claim awards and legal cost allowances,

All of our analyses have besn constructed using past average awards, which have been
inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms using a historical base inflation index (of 4% per annum}.
This allows for basic inflation effects when identifying trends in historical average settlements.
We then determing a prospective average cost in mid 2017/18 maney terms

Our analysis and assumptions are summarnised in Sectien 7.

Large claims loading

We analyse the historical incidence rate of large claims (being measured as the ratic of the
number of large claims to the total number of non-nil claims), and the average claim size and
legal costs of these claims.
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We use these to arrive at 8 "per claim” loading (being the average large claim cost multiplied
by the large claim incidence rate per claim), being the additional amount we need to add to
our attritional average claim size to allow for large claims.

We have derived separate incidence rate and average claim size assumptions for each of the
four age groups for mesothelioma,

Our analysis and assumptions are summarised in Section 7.8.

Future inflation of a e claim sizes

Allowance for future claim cost inflation is made. This is modelled as a combination of base
inflation plus superimposed inflation. This enables us to project future average settlement
costs in each future year, which can then be applied to the IBNR claims numbers as they
settle in each future year.

Qur analysis and assumptions in relation to claims inflation are summarised in Section 9.2,

Proportion of claims settled for nil amounts

We applya “nil settlement rate” to the overall number of settlements to estimate the number
of claims which will be settled for nil claim cost (i.e. other than in relation to defence legal
costs) and those which will be settled for a non-nil claim cost.

The prospactive nil settlement rate is estimated by reference to the analysis of past trends in
the rate of nil settlements.

Our analysis and assumptions selected are summarised in Section 8.
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Pending claims

Definition of pending claims

AL 31 March 2018, there were 377 claims {31 March 2017: 393} for which claim awards have
not yet been fully settled by the Liable Entities.

Additionally, there are a number of other claims for which defence legal costs have not yet
been settled, even though the awards have been settled.

We have adopted three definitions of settlement status:

= Where there is a closure date, there are not expected to be any further award or legal
costs incurred.

= Where there is no closure date but the claim has a settlement date, there is the possibility
of further emerging defendant legal costs, even though the claim award has been settled.

*  Where there is no settlement date, there is the possibility of award, plaintiff legal costs
and defendant legal costs being incurred

Ewvaluating the lisbility for pending

NS

The excess amount of the liability for pending claims, over the case estimates held, is what
the insurance industry terms Incurred But Mot Enough Reported (" IBNER").

Depending on the case estimation procedure of a company and the nature of the liabilities,
IBMER can be either positive or negative, with a negative IBNER implying that the ultimate
cost of settling claims will be less than case estimates, i.e. that there is some degree of
redundancy in case estimates,

Findings

The table below showws that there has been no deterioration compared to the estimates we
praviously adopted and are currently adopting {both of which have already made allowance
for a 25% saving on case estimates).

Table 3.2: Change in cost of claims during 2017/18 financial year ($ml - claim award
component only

[Estimates for panding claims at 31 March
2017 {undiscounted)

Paic in the yesr 10 31 March 2016

Estimates for panding daims at 31 March e -
2018 (undiscouniad, i 13 656
Incurred Cost in the financial year 127 @.4) 1187

The table above shows that there has been a saving of $8.4m in the case estimates for claims
that were reported prior to 31 March 2017

‘We have maintained our assumption for the level of redundancy in case estimates on currently
reported claims at 256% at this valuation (March 2017: 25%). This assumption is only applied
to the case estimates for the claim award, Le. it is not applied to plaintifffother costs or
defence costs.
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Insurance Recoveries

Insurance Recoveries are defined as proceeds which are estimated to be recoverable under
the product and public lizbility insurance policies of the Liable Entities, and therefere exclude
any such proceeds from a Workers Compensation Scheme or Policy in which the Liable
Entities participate or which the Liable Entities hold.

In applying the insurance programme we therefore consider only the projected gross
cashflows relating to product and public liability claims.

Histarical analysis of the claims data suggests that approximately 87.5% of all liability claims
by cost have been product lisbility claims.

Frogramme overview

Until 31 May 1986, the Liable Entities had in place product and public liability insurance policies
that were placed on a claims occurring basis.

Product liability claims were insured under these insurance policies on an “in the aggregate”
basis whilst public liability claims were insured on an “each and every loss” basis.

From 31 May 1986, the insurance policies were placed on a claims made basis in relation ta
asbestos-related preduct and public liability cowver,

In summary, the insurance policies were placed as follows:

#  For the period up to June 1976, the insurance policies were written on a claims oceurring
basis. The insurance was provided by QBE but the cover provided by these policies was
commuted in June 2000 for a consideration of $3.1m per annum for the following 15
wears (through to 30 June 2014). Therefore we have assumed no future insurance
recoveries from these policies.

= For the period from June 1976 to 31 May 1986, the insurance policies were written on a
claims accurring basis; insured by Lloyds’ of London, London Market insurers, Australian
insurers and HIH entities.

= For the period 31 May 1986 to 31 March 1997, the insurance policies were written on a
claims-made basis. For the purpose of this Report, we have made no allowance for any
Insurance Recoveries arising from these policies.

s on the

Modelling insurance recov

CurTing programme

Our methodology for projecting the future insurance recoveries to be collected by AICFL
involves the following steps:

= Identify the current contract positions for each insurance policy year. This assumes that
all monies due have been collected, and does not allow for the impact of commutations
that have taken place.

»  Allocate the projected future gross cashflows to individual insurance policy years using
an allocation basis that has been determined by reference to the exposure methodology
used to project future claim numbers and also using a “period of exposure” and “time
onrisk” allocation.
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= This gives a projection of how the insurance programme is utilised over time.
This method allows us to:
= evaluate the total insurance recoveries due by payment year;

+  determine how the insurance recoveries due will be assigned to each layer and therefore
to gach insurer; and

= identify and allow for when the individual layers are projected to be fully exhausted.

We then make an additional adjustment to the projected recoveries 1o exclude those
projected future insurance recoveries that are assigned to the participations of insurers who
have already commuted their coverage with AICFL and the Liable Entities or insurers who
have settled their coverage by way of a Scheme of Arrangement.

Commutations, HIH and Schemes of Arrangament

Other commutations have been entered into by AICFL in previous years and these
commutations have typically lother than QBE) involved the payment of a lump sum amount.

In these circumstances, we have assumed that the insurance liabilities of that company to
tha Liable Entities have been fully discharged and no further recoveries will fall due.

‘We have assumed that all monies have been paid in relation to insurance recoveries for the
claims occurring periad from HIH. Any future insurance proceeds from HIH are not expected
to be material.

For the claims occurring period, where a claim filed against a company under a Scherme of
Arrangement has baen accepted and payment made, we have assumed that the insurance
liabilities of that company to the Liable Entities have been fully discharged and no further
racoveries will fall due.

We have made no allowance or adjustment in our wvaluation for any potential future
commutations.
Unpaid insurance recoveries

‘We have not included within our ligbility estimate any allowance for insurance recoveries
under the claims occurring period that are due but have not yet been collected.

We are advised that such menies amount to approximately $1mat 31 March 2018,

These amounts are more appropriately dealt with as being debtors of AICFL.

Bad and doubtful debt allowance on In

ance Recoveries

We have made allowance for bad and doubtful debts on future Insurance Recoveries within
our valuation by use of the default rates as shown in the table below.




Table 3.3: Credit rating default rates by duration

Sowrce: Standard & Poors” 2016 Annual Giobal Corporate Default Study and Rating Transitions, 13 April 2017,
NA relates 1o comparies which are Not Rated
R relates to companies which have been subject to Reguiatory Action regarding solvency.

‘We have considered the credit rating of the insurers (andfor their parent companies) of the
Liable Entities as at March 2018 and applied the relevant credit rating default rates to the
expected future cashflows by year, treaty and insurer.

Cross-claim recoveries

A cross-claim can be brought by, or against, one or more Liable Entities. Cross-claims brought
against a Liable Entity (“Contribution Claims”) are included in our analysis of the claims
axperiance.

Cross-claims brought by a Liable Entity relate to circumstances where the Liable Entity sesks
to join {as a cross-defendant) another party to the claim in which the Liable Entity is already
joined.

Our approach in the valuation has been to separately value the rate of recovery (" cross-claims
recavery rate”) as a percentage of the gross award based on histarical experience of such
recovenes,

Our analysis and assumptions selected are summarised in Section 9.4.

Discounting cashflows

Cashflows are discounted on the basis of yields available at the wvaluation date on
Commonwealth of Australia fixed interest Government Bonds (" Commonwealth Government
Bonds ") of varying coupon rates and durations to maturity,

Our approach to the determination of the discount rates is unchanged from the approach
adopted at 31 March 2017, and is:

»  For years 1 to 16, zero coupon spot rates were determined by reference to the prices,
coupons and durations of Commonwealth Government Bonds;

= For years 19 and onwards, we have selected a uniform long-term discount rate of 5.50%
per annum; and

«  Foryears 17 and 18, we have selected spot rates that "linearly interpolate” between the
wear-16 rate and the year-19 rate (of 5.50%).

Qur selected assumptions are summarised in Saction 9.3,




4. (laims Experience: Mesothelioma

4.1

ClamNumbers

Overview

The following chart shows the number of mesothelioma claims reported by year of
notification.

Figure 4.1: Number of mesaothelioma claims reported annually
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Mote: Throughout Sections 4 10 9, the date convention used in tables and charts is that (for example) 200809
inglicates the financial year running fram 1 Apwil 2008 to 31 March 2009, Furthermore, unless clearly identifying a
calendar year, the lshel “F008" in charts or tebies would indicate the financial year runming from 1 Agnil 2008 10 31
March 2003,

Three successive years of increases in claims reporting after 2011/12 through to 2014/15
were followed by two years of reductions in claims reporting activity through to 2016/17.

For 2017118, there were 392 mesothelioma claims reported. This represented a b% increase
relative to the prior year.




411 Monthly analysis of notifications

‘We have examined the number of mesothalioma claims reported on a monthly basis to better
understand the nature of the claims experience cbserved on an annual basis.
Figure 4.2: Monthly notifications of mesothelioma claims
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= In 201718, four manths of the year had 30 or fewer claims reported.
412 Rolling averages

We have reviewed the number of mesothelioma claims reported on a maonthly basis and
reviewed the rolling 3-manth, 6-month and 12-month averages in recent periods.

Figure 4.3: Ralling annualised averages of mesothelioma claim notifications
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Profile of mesothelioma claims

Claims by State

‘We have analysed the number of mesathelioma claim notfications by the State in which the
claim is filed.

Figure 4.4: Number of mesothelioma claims by State
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MNSW is the largest State in terms of claims reporting activity for mesothelioma claims.
Typically NSW represants between 40% and 45% of all mesothelioma claims,

Direct claims and cross-claims

The following chart shows the number of claims netified by year of notification and separately
as between claims brought by claimants {which we refer to as 'direct claims’) and claims
brought by other defendants, some of which are brought a number of years after the claim
was first notified (these claims we refer to as ‘cross claims’)

Figure 4.5: Number of mesothelioma claims by type of claim
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The increase in claim numbers arising from cross-claims that was observed in 2012/13 has
continued with the number of cross claims reported in the last five financial years remaining
at a similar level to 201213,

NSW is currently the primary source of cross claims (making up approximately 65% of the
total number of cross claims in 2017/18).

In 2017118, the increase in the number of direct claims was primarily attributable to higher
claims reporting in WA and SA.

Source of claims

We have analysed the number of mesothelioma claims according to whether they involve
renovation activity or not.

It should be noted that these claims can involve both short periods and long periods of
exposure and that the definition used in the chart below also includes other family and home
aexposures fe.g. family members involved in washing clothes of people who were using
ashestos products).

The number of non-renovator claims has been broadly stable over the five years from 2013014
to 2017/18.

The chart shows that the number of renovator claims showed a significant increase from
2011/12 to 2014/15 but has since moderated, albeit remaining at levels higher than previously
observed.

Figure 4.6: Number of mesothelioma claims by source of claim
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MNumber of defendants

The following chart shows the number of claims notified by year of notification and by number
of defendants.

Figure 4.7: Number of mesothalioma claims by number of defendants (direct claims only)
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The number of claims reported invelving only the Liable Entities {i.e. single-defendant claims)
showed considerable increases between 2011/12 and 2014/15.

Claims in which the Liable Entities are the only defendants to the claim are typically associated
with higher average claim sizes whilst claims invelving multiple defendants typically involve
the Liable Entities paying 60% or less of the total settlement (see Section 7.2).

This feature is a contributor to the trends in average claim sizes experienced in the last four
years,




Age profile of claimants

The following charts show the numbers and proportions of claims reported for each of the
four age groups of claimants.

Figure 4.8: Proportion of masothelioma claims by age of claimant
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The proportion of claims reported involving claimants over the age of 70 has gradually
increased, evident by the downwards trends in the chart from left to right.

Figure 4.9: Number of mesathelioma claims by age of claimant
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In absolute terms, the number of claims arising from claimants aged 70 years or older rose
by 43% from 189 in 2012113 to 271 in 201718,

By contrast, the number of claims arising from claimants aged less than 70 years has
remained relatively unchanged (115 in 201213 compared to 117 in 2017/18).

There are currently 4 claims notified in 2017/18 where the age of claimant is not yet known
to the Liable Entities.




4.2.6

The growth in overall mesothelioma claim numbers in recent years has therefore primarily
arisen from claimants aged 70 or older.

The higher proportion (and number) of claims involving claimants over 70 years of age has
been & contributor to the trends in average claim sizes experienced in the last ten years
(thareby acting to offset other claims inflation drivers) and in particular the reductions in
average claim sizes experienced in the last five years.

Delay from diagnosis 1o notifics

The chart below measures the time-lag (in days) from diagnosis of mesothelioma to
notification of a claim against the Liable Entities. The chart shows that direct claims are
reported more quickly than cross-claims.

Direct clams have typically taken between 5 months and 7 months to be reported after
diagnosis of mesothelioma.

Figure 4.10: Delay from diagnosis of mesothelioma to notification of claim against the Liable
Entities
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There has been a significant speed up in claims reporting for direct claims in 2016/17 and
200718,

The average time between diagnosis to notification reduced to approximately 4 months in
2017/18, and this represents the lowest level observed by AICF since its formation.




4.3

External statistics on mesothelioma claims incidence

The following chart compares the total number of mesothelioma cases reported (disgnosed)
natienzlly to the number of mesothelioma claims received by the Liable Entities.

It should be noted that the two sets of data correspond to different definitions of year and so
are not directly comparable and some caution should be exarcised.

The "year” is calendar year for the national cases (i.e. 2012 is the year running from 1 January
2012 to 31 Decernber 2012); whilst for the Liable Entities it is the financial year li.e. 2012 is
the year running from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013).

Figure 4.11; Number of mesathelioma cases reported nationally compared to the number of
claims received by the Liable Entities
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Arnnual Report of the Australian Mesothelioma Registry for 2014 and onwards

The annual number of mesothelioma cases diagnesed nationally was relatively stable for the
pericd 2007 to 2011 varying between 667 and 701 cases.

In calendar year 2016, the number of cases diagnosed nationally (as currently reported) fell to
700. It should be noted there may be a considerable degree of under-reporting in the 2016
year and, to a lesser extent, the 2015 year, noting that:

+  The 2013 year was initially reported as 575, and this increased to 676 (as reported in the
2014 Australian Mesotheliomna Registry Report) and is 705 {as reported in the 2016
Australian Mesothelioma Registry Report); and

+  The 2014 year was first reported as 641 and this increased to 732 {as reported in the
2015 Australian Mesothelioma Registry Report) and to 756 {as reported in the 2016
Australian Mesothelioma Registry Report).

These increases in national statistics lead to a lower ratio for the number of Liable Entity
claims as a percentage of the number of national cases of mesothelioma. As a consequence
the currently estimated 54% for 2016/17 may be over-stated and (if pravious experience of




initial under-reporting of the number of national cases were to recur) may be more in the order
of 50%

It should be noted that not all cases of mesothelioma result in a claim being brought in
Common Law. Furthermore, even if a claim is brought, not all claims will involve the Liable
Entities.

In relation to NSW, we have additional information frem the Dust Diseases Tribunal (NSW)
that indicates what proportion of commeon law claims the Liable Entities are joined in for NSW.

For the DDB/DDA data, the "year" is financial year li.e. 2012 is the year running from 1 July
2012 to 30 June 2013), In contrast, in the DDT data, “year” is defined as a calendar year (i.e.
2012 is the year running from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012}, It should be noted that
the four sets of data correspond to different definitions of year and so are not directly
comparable and some caution should be exercised.

Figure 4.12: Mumber of mesothelioma cases reported in NSW
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Sources: NSW Central Cancer Registry Reporting Meduwle, 2012 for 2007-2012,
Australian Mesotheloma Registry for 2013-2078.

Insurance and Care NSW Annual Report 2016-17.

DOT statistics provided by the State of New South Wales

The chart shows that whilst the number of NSW cases of mesothelioma has been relatively
stable, other than the 12% increase in 2016, and that the DDB/DDA has shown a similar trend,
the number of commen law DDT cases has risen by more than 45% between 2007 and 2017,
The Liable Entities have experienced a broadly similar rate of growth.

The data would appear to indicate that the Liable Entities are not being increasingly joined in
commaon law claims in NSW, nor that there is necessarily an increasing prevalence of
mesothelioma in NSW, but rather that the proportion of people being diagnosed who then
bring a comman law claim is the primary factor leading to the increases in claim numbers that
have been observed in the last ten years (i.e. there has been an increase in the propensity to
claim).




4.4

The chart below shows the mix of national cases by age. The data shows a broadly similar
pattern to AICF's own experience (see Figure 4.8), with the proportion of cases relating to
people under 70years of age trending down and currently comprising around 30% of all cases.

Figure 4.13: Age profile of mesothelioma cases nationally
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Base valuation assumption for number of mesothelioma claims

The actual claims reporting experience in 2017/18 has been adverse compared to
expectations for 2017/18 in relation to overall mesothelioma claim numbers.

As a consequence of this, we have increased our valuation assumption for 2018/19 from 3563
claims |as previously assumed for 2018/19, based on an assumption of 372 claims for
201718} 10 390 claims,

The assumption for 2018/19 has been set having regard to the average of the last three years
of claims reparting.

There remain material uncertainties in relation to the base level of claims reporting and 1t is
possible that claims activity could increase next year, or fall next year.

There also remain material uncertainties 4s to the pace at which future claims reporting will
reduce (“the decay rate") as well as the rate of co-joining of the Liable Entities in common
lawy claims.

Depending on the outcome of future experience, further changes to the valuation
assumptions and therefore to the valuation results may be necessary in future periods. Such
changes could be material.

As a consequence of the above noted uncertainties, further volatility in relation to the valuation
result should be anticipated.

Given the application of the new method, the propartion of claims emerging in each of the
four age groups is also a key factor in relation to the valuation of the liabilities at future
wvaluation periods.
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5.3

Claims Experience: Claim
numpoers (non-mesothelioma

Overview

The table below shows the number of claims reported by year of notification and by disease
category.

Table 5.1: Number of claims by disease type

Blglerusrsrabts

All Ygar

Asbestosis claims

For asbestosis, the most recent three years of claims reporting have seen claims reporting
below 100 claims for each year

This is in contrast to the previous three years which averaged 130 claims.

In selecting our assumption for 2018/19, we have {in broad terms) taken the average of the
last three years as a base level.

We have assumed 96 asbastosis claims will be reported in 201819,

Lung cancer claims

The number of lung cancer claims reported has typically been between 25 and 40 claims per
annum.

In 2015/16, the number of claims reported fell to 19 and in 2016/17 it remained at 19 claims.
In 2017/18, there was an increase 1o 26 claims.

We have assumed 24 lung cancer claims will be reparted in 2018/19.
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5.7

ARPD & Other claims
The number of ARPD & Other claims has averaged 31 claims over the last three years. This
is in contrast 1o the previous three years which averaged 42 claims.

In selecting our assumption for 2018/19, we have {in broad terms) taken the average of the
last three years as a base lavel.

‘We have assumed 30 ARPD & Other claims will be reported in 2018/19.

Workers Compensation claims

The number of Workers Compensation claims, including those met in full by the Liable
Entities’ Workers Compensation insurers, has histarically exhibited some degree of volatility.
However claims reporting activity has been relatively stable for the last eight years, albeit
showing a reduction to 20 claims in 2017/18.

‘We have assumed 24 Workers Compensation claims will be reported in 201818,

It should be noted that the financial impact of this source of claim is not substantial to the
Liable Entities given the proportion of claims which are settled for nil liability against the Liable
Entities (typically above 90%), which results from the insurance arrangements in place.

Wharf claims

For \Whart claims, there were 8 claims reported in 2017/18 and 11 claims were reported in
each of the previous three years.

We have assumed 12 claims will be natified in 2018/19,

Again, the financial impact of this source of claim is not currently significant.

Summary of base claims numbers assumptions (including mesotheliorna)

As outlined in Sections 4 and 5, our assumptions as to the number of claims to be reported
in 2018/19 are as folows:

Table 5.2: Claim numbers experience and assumptions for 201819

Mesothelioma ard 380
Asbaslosis T 96
Lung Cancer 19 24
ARPD & Othar iz gl
Wharf 11 12
Worker 24 30 24
Total 557 576 1)

FY18 Expected is the assumption selected for 2017/18 in our previous valuation report,
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Baryulgil

Almost half of the claims settled which relate to asbestos mining activities at Baryulgil (a3
diseussed previously in Section 1.2.3} have been settled with no liability against the Liable
Entities; and for the remaining settled claims, the Liable Entities have typically borme ane-third
to one-half of the settlement amount, reflecting the contribution by other defendants to the
overall settlement lincluding those which have since been placed in liquidation).

For the purposes of our valuation, we have estimated there to be 10 future claims reported,
comprising 7 mesathelioma claims and 3 non-mesothelioma claims.

‘We have assumed averzge claims and legal costs broadly in line with those described in
Section 7

Qur projected liability assessment at 31 March 2018 of the additional provision i(for claims not
yat reported) that could potentially be required is an undiscounted liability of $2.9m and a
discounted liability of $2.5m, all of which is deemed to be a liability of Amaca.




b. Exposure and Latency

6.1

EXperience and Incidence Pattem
Assumptions

Mesothelioma claims experience
E Xposure information from claims notified to date

We have reviewed the actual exposure information available for claims notified to date. This
has been conducted by using the exposure dates stored in the claims database at an individual
claim level and identifying the number of person-years of exposure in each exposure year,

Figure 6.1: Exposure (person-years) of all Liable Entities” mesothelioma claimants to date
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The chart shows that, currently, the peak year of exposure for claims reported to date is in
1972.

It should be recognised that there is a degree of bias in this analysis in that the claimes notified
to date will tend to have arisen from the earlier periods of exposure.

Over time, we expect the right-hand side of this curve to develop and the peak year of
exposure to trend towards the early-1970s to mid-1970s, and an increase in the absolute level
at all periods of exposure as more claims are notified and the associated exposures fram
these are included in the analysis.




The relatively low level of exposure from 1987 onwards (about 5% of the total) is not
unexpected given that all asbestos products ceased being manufactured by the Liable Entities
by 1987. The exposure after that date likely results from usage of products already produced
and sold before that date.

The chart above is a cumulative chart of the position to date and does not show temporal
trends in the allocation of claims to exposure years.

For example, one would expect that more recently reported claims should be associated with,
on average, later exposures; and that claims reported in future years would continue that
trend towards later exposure periods,

To understand better these temperal trends, we have modelled claimants’ exposuras for each
past claim report year.

Figure 6.2: Exposure (person years) of all mesothelioma claimants to date by report year and
exposure period
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As can be seen in the chart above, there has been a general increasing shift towards the
exposure period after 1970, evident by the downwards trends in the chart from left to right
indicating that an increasing proportion of the claimants’ exposure relates to mare recent
axposure periods.

For example, pre-1970 exposures made up approximately 46% of mesothelioma claims
exposures in 2007/08 but less than 32% of claims exposuras in 201718,

We would expect that such a trend should continue for some time to come and that an
increasing proportion of the exposure (in relation to future reported claims) will relate to the
period 1981/82 to 1985/86.

Latency period of reported claims

We have analysed the actual latency period of the reperted claims of the Liable Entities, In
the charts that follow, we have measured the average actual latency period from the average
date of exposure to the date of notification of a claim.




The chart below shows the average latency observed for mesothelioma claims and the 25th
percentile and 75th percentile chservations.

Figure 6.3: Latency of mesothelioma claims
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The above chart indicates that the observed average latency period from the average
exposure is currently approximately 44 years for mesothelioma, and has shown an increase
over time

Figure 6.4: Latency distribution of mesothelioma claims (all years}
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Dur latency model assumes a “normal distribution” and the chart above seems to {in broad
terms) support that assumption at this time, with both the mean latency to date and the
median latency to date being 38 years and the mode of the latency being 40 years.

Over the past ten years, the observed average latency of mesothelioma claims reported in a

report year has increased from 38 years to 44 years, increasing at a rate of about 0.6 years
with every year that passes.




The observed average latency of claims reported in future report years should also be
expected to show a further upward trend in the coming years.

The currently ohserved standard deviation of the latency period is 8 years.

Some of the increase in average reported latencies over time has been a consequence of the
changing mix of claims by age of claimant. Older claimants are typically associated with longer
latencies.

As discussed elsewhere in this report, the propertion of claims arising from older age groups
has been increasing.

The fallowing chart shows how the average reported latencies vary between each of the age
groups.

Figure 6.5: Latency of mesothelioma claims by age of claimant
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The claims experience to date and the assumptions selected ssem to broadly accord with
epidemiological research in relation to mesothelioma, once the relevant adjustments to
standardise onto a consistent terminology are made.

Our revised latency maodel for mesothelioma from first exposure assumes a mean latency of
40 years and a standard deviation of 9 years.

An indication of how different assumptions would affect the incidence curve and therefore
the number of IBNR claims is as follows:

= A higher mean latency period would increase the peak period of claims reporting and
would give rise to a higher number of IBNR claims.

= A lower standard deviation would lead to a faster decay in the number of claims being
reported after the peak period of claims reporting and would give rise to a lower number
of IBNA claims,

The increase in the overall mean latencies that we have adopted at this valuation gives rise to
more claims by number at older ages and also gives rise to a slower rate of decay of the
numbers of claims in future reporting perieds, most notable in the years after 2025,




6.2

6.2.1

Mesothelioma incidence patterns
Overall future incidence pattern and IBNR claim numbers

The following chart shows the pattern of future notifications which have resulted from the
application of our revised methodology (labelled "Model 2). It also shows how the
projections under the previous valuation approach compare, including bath last year's
wvaluation (labelled "FY17 prejection”) and what that would have become by simply applying
the revised view of 2018/19 llsbelled "Model 1: FY17 projection rebased”).

Figure 6.6: Projected future claim notifications for mesothelioma
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The table below summarises the number of future claims projected to be reported for
mesothelioma under the current valuation approach and also compares with the previous
adopted approach.

Table 6.1: Projected future claim notifications for mesothelioma

3520
FY2018 to FY2025 2,256 2,471 2,733 262
Y2026 onwards. 50 1,003 1,795 a6

Note: Figures may notadd “on sight ” due to rounding.

The table shows that the previous valuation approach assumed approximately 3,200 claims
10 be reported from 1 April 2017 onwards.

Taking into account the higher level of claims now being assumed for FY19 and applying that
proportionate increase across all future years would have given rise to an estimate of 3,520
claims to be reported from 1 April 2017 onwards.
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The new approach (which allows for longer latencies and does not assume that recent
experience was one-off in nature) projects a total future number of claims of approximately
4,530

It can be observed that this additional 28% increase is not a uniform increase across all years
but is weighted towards periods after 31 March 2025.

In part, some of this represents the fact that the previous valuation approach had only partly
taken into account the recent high level of claims reporting through 1o 2025 and no adjustment
thereafter (this short-term and medium-term adjustment was discussed in detail in our 31
March 2014 valuation report).

Assumed change in future mix of claims by claimant age

Based on the actual mix of claims by claimant age, we have assumed a mix of claims by
claimant age for 2018/19 as follows:

«  8.5% for ages less than 60,
= 235% for ages B0-70,

*  41% for ages 70-80, and

*  27% for ages over B0,

The following chart shows the change in mix of claims by claimant age over time both
historically and projected into the future periods that arises from our revised approach.

Figure 6.7 Mix of claims by claimant age for mesothelioma
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Inherent uncertainty in future mesothelioma claims reporting

Should mesothelioma claims reporting escalate in future periods, further valuation responses
in future years may be necessary.

Additionally, should the mix of claims by claimant age change relative to that assumed, the
overall average claim sizes emerging would differ from expected and this might lead to further
wvaluation responses.
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6.3.1

Non-mesothelioma experience

Latency period of reported claims

Figure 6.8: Latency of asbestos's claims
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Figure 6.9: Latency of lung cancer claims
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The trend in latency pericds for other disease types is shown in the following charts.
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6.3.2

Figure 6.10: Latency of ARPD & Other claims
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The average observed latency periods for the other disease types show a more surprising
trend, appearing to be longer than epidemiclogical literature has tended to suggest,

A summary of our underlying latency assumptions by disease type are shown below. The
mean and standard deviation values quoted are applied to a normal distribution model for the
latency period.

Table 6.2: Assumed undarlying latency distribution parameters from average date of
exposure to date of notification

Standard
Mean latency  deviation of
(years) latency (years)
Asbestosis

Lung Cancer
ARPD & Other
‘Wharf

Workers compensation

These assumptions are unchanged from the previous valuation.

Modelled assumptions for peak year of claim incidence

Based on the application of our exposure model and our latency model, and the assumptions
contained explicitly or implicitly within those models, the peak year of notification of claims
reporting against the Liable Entities for each disease type lexcluding mesotheliomal is
rmadelled to be as follows:




H

Table 6.3: Modelled peak year of claim notifications

Current valuatio evious valuation
Asbestosis 2008/09 2008/09
Lung Cancer 201011 2010
ARPD & Other 2007/08 2007/08
Wharf 2008/09 2008/09
Workers Compensation 2007/08 200708

These modelled assumptions are unchanged and reflect no changes 1o the exposure data and
no changes to the latency model assumptions at this time

We note that whilst the “modelled peak” derived from our model is as shown above, this
does not automatically translate to, nor does it imply that, the "highest claims reporting year”
will be those years. This is because variation from year to year is expected due to normal
‘statistical variation’ in claim numbers.

Frojacted incidence patterns

We have projected the future number of claim notifications from the curve we have derived
using our exposure model and our latency model. We have applied this curve to the base
number of claims we have estimated for each disease type for 201819 as summarised in
Section 5.7,

The following chart shows the pattern of future notifications which have resulted from the
application of our exposure and latency model and the recalibration of the curve to our revised
axpectations of claims reparting activity for 2018/19.

Figure 6 11: Projected future claim notifications for other disease types
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Claims Experience: Averagde
Claims and Legal GOsts

Overview

We have analysed the average claim awards, average plaintifffother costs and average
defendant legal costs by disease type in arriving at our valuation assumptions.

The table below shows how the average settlement cost for non-nil attritional claims has
waried by client settlernent year. All data have been converted into mid 2017/18 money terms
using a histarical base inflation index of 4% per annum.

We refer to these amounts as “inflated average attritional awards” in the charts and tables
that follow.

The average amounts shown hereafter relate to the average amount of the contribution made
by the Liable Entities, and does not reflect the total award payable to the plaintiff unless this
is clearly stated to be the case.

In particular, for Workers Compensation the average award reflects the average contribution
by the Liable Entities for claims in which they are joined but relates only to that amount of the
award determined against the Liable Entities which is not met by a Workers Compensation
Scheme or Palicy.

Table 7.1: Average attritional non-nil claim award (inflated 10 mid 2017/18 money terms}

Client Setflement Year Mesothelioma  Ash is  Lung Cancer ARPD & Other Wharf




Masothelioma claims

Overall average claim sizes

The chart below shows the average claim size for non-nil, non-large claims inflated to mid
2017/18 money terms.

As discussed earlier in this report, our previous valuation had a single average claim size
assumption for all age groups (being $364,000 in mid 2017/18 money terms). However, at
this valuation, we have derived separate assumptions for four age groups.

Figure 7.1: Average attritional awards {inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms} and number of
non-nil claims settlements for mesothelioma claims {excluding large claims)
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The chart shows the historical variability in average claim sizes for mesothelioma, i.e. from
$235,000 to $380,000 in mid 2017/18 money terms.
The exparience in 201718 was 17% below expectations,

Itis worth noting the variation between the cost of direct claims and cross claims and &lso
the variation in claim sizes based on the number of defendants in a "direct claim™.




Figure 7.2: Average attritional awards (inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms) split between
direct claims and cross claims
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Figure 7.3: Average attritional awards (inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms) by nurmber of
defendants for direct claims
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It can be seen from the above charts that average mesothelioma claim sizes payable by the
Liable Entities have fallen in the last three years for multi-defendant cases (where the Liable
Entities are on average paying around 60% of the total amount awarded ta the claimant).

A similar trend has been observed over the last five years for single-defendant cases (where
the Liable Entities pay 100% of tha award),

The claims experience for single-defendant claims in 2016/17 appeared to be unusually low.
The claims experience in 2017/18 appears to have reverted to previous norms.
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Claim sizes by age of claimant
The following chart shows that there is a significant difference between the average costs of
claims for different age groups.
Figure 7.4: Average attritional awards (inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms) by age of
claimant
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The key factor that has led to claim sizes reducing (as shown in Figure 7.1) has been the
increasing proportion of claims that have emerged from claimants over the age of 80 and the
reduction in the proportion of claims emerging from claimants under the age of 80.

The sharp fall in overall average claim sizes in 2016/17 appears to be primarily a result of fewer
claims over $500,000; claims of this size primarily come fram claimants under the age of 70
years old.

Given the smaller number of claims involved in relation to claimants under the age of 70, itis
possible that the 2016/17 experience was more a function of random variability and specific
characteristics relating to the small number of claimants. As such, we have not given
significant credibility to the 2016/17 experience in setting the valuation assumptions at this
waluation,
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Claim size assumptions by age of claimant

For claimants under the age of 60;

The last three years have averaged $534,000; the last four years have averaged
$563,000; the last five years have averaged $605,000.

The three-year and four-year averages are particularly impacted by the favourable
experience in 2016817,

The average size for 2017/18 was $580,000.

We have taken a longer-term view noting the smaller numbers of claims in this age group
and because it currently appears that 2016/17 was unusually low.

We have therafore selectad an assumption of $800,000.

For claimants aged 60-70:

The last three years have averaged $360,000; the last four years have averaged
$370,000; the last five years have averaged $373,000.

The most recent two years have been particularly favourable relative to the preceding
saven years and it is currently unclear why this is the case.

The average size for 2017/18 was $339,000.

We have taken a longer-term view noting the smaller numbers of claims in this age group
and because it is currently unclear what has given rise to the favourable experience in
2016/17 and 201718.

We have therefore selected an assumption of $375,000.

For claimants aged 70-80;

.

The last three years have averaged $281,000; the last four years have averaged
$280,000; the last five years hawve averaged $285,000.

The average size for 2017/18 was $285,000.

We have therefore selected an assumption of $285,000.

For claimants aged 80+:

.

The last three years have averaged $229,000; the last four years have averaged
$235,000; the last five years have averaged $237,000.

The average size for 2017/18 was $210,000. It is currently unclear what has given rise to
this materially favourable experience.

‘We have therefore selected an assumption of $235,000.
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Asbestaosis claims

For asbestosis, it can be seen from Table 7.1 that the period since 2007/08 has had volatile
average claim size experience, with average claim sizes ranging from $82,000 to $149,000 (in
mid 2017/18 money terms).

Figure 7.5: Avarage awards {inflated to mid 2017/18 maney terms) and numbar of non-nil
claims settlements for asbestosis claims
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The average of the past three years is $98,000; the average of the past four years is $103,000
and the average of the past five vears is $105,000.

In setting an assumption, we also note there has been one asbestosis claim settled for more
than $1.6m in 2016/17 money terms (i.e. it is a "large claim” and is not shown in the above
analysis).

Taking all of the above factors into consideration, we have adopted a valuation assumption of

$105,000 for asbestosis claims in mid 2017/18 money terms. This assumption reprasents an
11% decrease in inflation-adjusted terms,

Table 7.2: Average asbestosis claims assumptions

Claim settlement year

Valuation Report
31-Mar-17
31-Mar-18

Note: 2018/17 settfements are in 2016/17 dollars whilst 2017/18 settlements are in 2017/18 doliars.
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Lung cancer claims

The average award for lung cancer claims has exhibited some volatility in the past five years,
although this s not unexpected given the small volume of claim settlements lapproximately
10 ta 30 claims per annum).

Figure 7.6: Average awards (inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms) and number of non-nil
claims settlerments for lung cancer claims
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The average of the past three years is $98,000; the average of the past four years is $119,000
and the average of the past five vears is $120,000.

Taking all of the above factors inte consideration, we have adopted a valuation assumption of
$120,000. This assumption represents a decrease of 9% in inflation-adjusted terms from our
previous assumption.

Table 7.3: Average lung cancer claims assumptions

31-Mar-17 125,000 131,900

31-Mar-18 n'a 120,000

Note: 2016/17 settiements are in 2016717 dollars wihilst 2017718 settlements are in 2077/18 doliars.
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ARPD & Other claims
The average award size has shown considerable volatility and three of the last four years have
seen some of the lowest average claim sizes historically observed.

Figure 7.7: Average awards (inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms) and number of non-nil
claims sattlernents for ARPD & Other claims
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For ARPD & Other claims, the average of the past three years is $88,000; the average of the
past four years is $88,000 and the average of the past five years is $92,000.

Taking all of the above factors into consideration, we have adopted a valuation assumption of
95,000 for ARPD & Other claims in mid 2017/18 money terms. This assumption represents
a decrease of 10% in inflation-adjusted terms from our previous assumption.

Table 7.4: Average ARPD & Other claims assumptions

Claim settlement year

2016/17 2017118
31-Mar-17 100,000 105,500
31-Mar-18 na 95,000

Note: 2016/17 settlements ara in 2016/17 dollars whilst 2017/18 settlaments are in 2017/18 dollars.
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Workers Compensation claims

The average award for non-nil Workers Compensation claims has shown & large degree of
volatility, reflecting the small number af nan-nil claims.

Figure 7.8: Average awards (inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms) and number of non-nil
claims settlernents for Workers Compensation claims
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It should be noted that the high average claim size in 2011/12 is due 1o one claim of $900,000
(in 2011/12 values). Furthermore, we understand that this claim payment was able to be
recovered from the workers compensation insurer at a later date.

At this valuation, we have adopted an average award size of $137,000. This represents no
material change in inflation-adjusted terms from our previous assumption.

This assumption is not material 1o the overall liability given the high proportion of claims (in
excess of 80%) which are settled with no retained liability against the Liable Entities.

Table 7.5: Average Workers Compaensation claims assumptions

Valuation Report

31-Mar-17 130,000 137,200

31-Mar-18 n'a 137,000

Note: 2016717 settlemants ara in 2016717 dollars whilst 2017/18 settlaments ara in 2017/18 dollars.




77 Wharf claims

For wharf claims, the average of the past three years has been $91,000; the average of the
past four years has been $31,000 and the average of the past five years has been $96,000.

Figure 7.9: Average awards (inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms) and number of non-nil
claims settlernents for wharf claims
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The experience in 200809 was impacted by one large claim of almost $600,000 (in 2008/09
values),

At this valuation, we have adopted a valuation assurmption of $100,000 in mid 2017/18 money
terms. This assumption represents a 14% decrease compared to our previous valuation in
inflation-adjusted terms.

Given the small volume of wharl claims, this assumption is not financially significant to the
overall results.

Table 7.6: Average wharf claims assumptions

31-Mar-17
31-Mar-18

116,100
100,000

Note: 2016717 settlements are in 2016/17 doilars wiilst 2017/18 settlaments are in 2017/18 doilars.
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Masothelioma large claim size and incidence rates
There have been 66 mesothelioma claims settled with awards in excess of $1m in 2006/07
maney terms. All of these claims are produet and public lisbility claims.

In aggregate these claims have been settled at an average cost of approximately 52.29m.
There have been two claims of more than $5.0m each in mid 2017/18 money terms.

In selecting & large claim incidence rate, or expected annual number of large claims, we have
analysed the number of large claims by year of notification, separately for each of the four age
groups.

‘We have also shown the incidence rate of large claims for each of the age groups.
Figure 7.10: Number of large claims by year of notification
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Figure 7.11: Large claims incidence rate by age of claimant
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There have been no large claims for claimants over the age of 80,




7.9

We have assumed a future large claim incidence rate of 9.00% for claimants under B0 years
of age, 1.00% for claimants between 60 and 70 years of age, and 0.10% for claimants
between 70 and 80 years of age. These assumptions produce an overall number of large
claims of 4 claims assumed for 2018/19.

For the average large claim size, we have adopted a valuation assumption of $2.23m in mid
2017/18 money terms and we have adopted the same average claim size for all age groups.
This is based on analysis that shows minimal variation between claimants under 60 and those
batween 60 and 70 years of age; noting the small number of large claims in the B0-70 age
group.

In relation to legal costs, we have made an additional allowance for plaintiff legal costs to
allow for those instances where such costs are made additional 10, rather than included with,
the claims award and also for defence costs,

The actual incidence of, and sattlemeant of, large claims is not readily predictable and therefore
deviations will occur from year to year due to random fluctuations becsuse of the small
numbers of large claims (between 1 and 8 large claims per annum).

For other disease types, we observe that there has been lin 2014/15) one asbestosis claim
which exceeds the “large claims threshold”. We have made implicit allowance for this claim
in setting our attritional claim size assumption for that disease type.

Summary average claim cost assumptions

The following table provides a summary of our average claim cost assumptions at this
valuation, and those assumed at the previous valuation,

Table 7.7: Summary average claim cost assumptions

Mescthelioma: <80 600,000
Mesothelioma: 60-70 375,000 364,000

Mesothelioma: 70-80 285,000

Mesothelioma: 80+ 235,000
Asbestosis 105,000 118,200
Lung Cancer 120,000 131,900
ARPD & Other 45,000 105,500

Wharf 100,000 116,1L
Waorkers Compensation 137,000 137,200
Awerage Size:
$2.23m. Average Size:
Mesothelioma Large Frequency: $2.332m,
Claims (award anly) 9.00% (<60), Frequency:
1.00% (60- 1.50%
T0)0.1% (70-80)

Note: Both the current waluation assumgption and the previous valugtion assumption are expressed in
mid 201718 money terms.




Defence legal costs
MNar-nil claims

The average defence legal costs for non-nil claims by settlament year have been relatively
stable over the last ten years for mesothelioma, asbestosis and ARPD & Other.

The average defence costs for lung cancer have shown a greater degree of variability,
although this is not unexpected given the small volume of claim settlements (approximately
10 to 30 claims per annum}.

Figure 7.12: Average defence legal costs {inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms) for non-nil
claims settlements by settlement year
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Note: The chart does not include average defence costs for Wharf and Worker claims due to the
smalier number of daims involved and the venability that exists as & consequence.

Large claims

The average defence legal costs across all 66 large claims has been $157,000 although this
has generally been trending downwards over time.

We have allowed for defence legal costs of $100,000 per large claim having regard to mare
recent experience.
il claims

The average defence legal costs for nil claims by settlement year has been volatile for all
disease types.

For mesothelioma, the volatility is a consequence of low nil settlement rate, meaning that
there may be 20 to 30 nil daims in any year.

For the other disease types, the number of nil claims might typically be of the order of 10
claims per annum for each disease typa.




Figure 7.13: Average defence legal costs (inflated to mid 2017/18 money terms} for nil
claims settlements by settlement yaar
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Note: The chart does not inciude average defence costs for Vharf and Worker claims due to the
smalier number of caims involved and the vanability that exists as 8 consequence.

Summary average defendant legal costs assumptions
The following table provides a summary of our defendant legal costs assumptions at this
wvaluation, and those assumed at the previous valuation.

We have adopted different legal cost assumptions for mesothelioma for the four age groups,
based on analysis which indicates there is variation twhich in part will be related to the average
size of claims in each age group).

Table 7.8: Summary average defendant legal costs assumptions

Current Valuation

Mescihelioma: 80-70 22,000 11,000 18,600 18,600
Mesathelioma: 70-80 18,000 11,000
Mesothelioma: 80+ 17,000 11,000

Asbestosis 17,500 9,000 18,100 10,400

Lung Cancer 25,000 15,000 25,500 6,800

ARPD & Other 18,000 8,000 20,700 12,800

Wharf 15,000 5,000 20,700 2,600

Workers Compensation 15,000 1,000 16,000 1,600

Mesothelioma Large 100,000 96,300

Nate: Both the current valuation assumption and the previous valuation assumplion are expressed in
mid 2017/18 money terms.




8. Clams Experience: Nil settiement

8.1

RABS

Overview

‘We have analysed the nil settlement rates, being the number of nil settlements expressed as
a percentage of the total number of settlements (nil and non-nil).

The table below shows the observed nil settlement rates by disease type and by settlement
wear.

Table 8.1: Nil settlerment rates

A Wharf

2007 1% % % %% 5% B5%
2008 9% 24% 13% 0% 95%
2009 e B 2%% 2% 4% B3%
200 6% B 1% W 0% 100%
20m 10% T 2% 1% 0% 67%
mz o 16% 23% A% 4% a5
203 Fr B Erd 1% 2% 9%
04 % 11% 12 B 0% ark
2015 % Bl 25% B% B 100%
06 A% 13% 5B% 16% B 100%
207 [ 18% 50% T 9 B8%




8.2

Masothelioma claims

The following chart shows the number of claims settled for nil cost, the total number of claims
settled and the implied nil settlement rate for each settlement year.

Figure 8.1: Mesothelioma nil claims experience
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In considering the future nil settlemant rate assumption, we note the following:

= The nil settlement rate for the past three years has averaged 11%, for the past four years
has averaged 11% and for the past five years has averaged 9%. Each of these is
significantly impacted by the 20% rate observed in 2016/17,

#  The nil settlement rate for the 2016/17 year of 20% was due to 54 Queensland statutory
recovery claims being closed at nil cost in December 2016.

«  Excluding the 54 Queensland Statutory nil claims, the nil settlement rate for 2016017 was
7.9%.

= The nil settlement rate for 2017/18 was 7.7% compared to our assumption of 7.0%.

Taking all of these factors into consideration, we have assumed a future nil settlement rate

of 7.0%, unchanged from our previous valuation.

‘We have applied this assumption to all age groups. We have done this because analysis by
age group did not seem to indicate materially differant nil settlemant rates for the four age
groups over time, and because the number of nil claims annually (typically around 25 across
all ages) is guite small, meaning that sub-division of experience into four age groups results
in reduced credibility and greater volatility.




8.3 Asbestaosis claims
As with mesothelioma, the historical asbestosis nil settlement rate has been volatile.

Figure 8.2: Asbestosis nil claims experience
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In considering the future nil settlement rate assumption, we note the following:

= The nil settlerent rate for the past three years has averaged 12%, for the past four years
has averaged 12% and for the past five years has averagad 11%.

«  The nil settlement rate for 2016/17 was 13%. Excluding 2 Queensland Statutory nil
claims, the nil settliement rate was 11%.

*  The nil settlement rate for 2017/18 was 18%.

Taking all of these factors into consideration, we have assumed a future nil settlement rate
of 11.0%, an increase from our previous valuation assumption of 9.0%.




8.4

Lung cancer claims

Given the small volumes of claims, valatility in the nil settlement rate for lung cancer claims
is 1o be expected.

Figure 8.3: Lung cancer nil claims experience
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In considering the future nil settlement rate assumption, we note the following:

= The nil settlement rate for the past three years has averaged 48%, for the past four years
has averaged 37% and for the past five years has averaged 28%.

= The nil settlement rate for 2017/18 was 59%. the highest nil settlement rate cbserved
historically, and this compares with our assumption (at 31 March 2017} of 23%.

Taking all of these factors into consideration, we have assumed a future nil settlement rate
of 25%, an increase from our previous assumption of 23%.
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ARPD & Other claims

As with other disease types, there has been significant volatility in the historical nil settlement
rate, given the low numbers of claims for this disease

Figure 8.4: ARPD & Other nil claims experience
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The nil settlernent rate for the past three years has averaged 10%, for the past four years has
averaged 10% and for the past five years has averaged 10%.

We have selected 10% as our nil settlernent rate assumption, a decrease from our previous
assumption of 13%.
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Workers Compensation claims

The nil settlement rates for Workers Compensation claims have been high and reflect the
portion of claims whose costs are fully met by a Warkers Compensation Scheme or Policy.
The proportion of such claims which are fully met by insurance has been relatively stable since
1997/98, typically varying between 80% and 100%.

The nil settlement rate has been in excess of 90% for seven of the past ten years, and it has
been above B0% for nine out of the past ten years.

Figure 8.5: Workers Compensation nil claims experience
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‘We have selected 97% as our nil settlement rate assumption, unchanged from our previous
waluation.

The overall financial impact of this assumption is not material .




8.7
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Wharf claims
During the past eight years, the nil settlement rate has exhibited considerably volatility for
wharf claims, varying between 0% and 40%,

The nil settlement rate for the past three years has averaged 9%, for the past four years it
has averaged 9% and for tha past five years it has averaged 11%.

Figure 8.6: Wharf nil claims experience
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Wa hava selactad a nil settlement rate assumption of 10%, a decrease from our previous
valuation assumption of 15%.

Given the low volume of claims activity for wharf claims, this assumption is highly subjective
but is also not material to the overall liability assessment,

Surnmary assumptions

The following table provides a summary of our nil settlement rate assumptions at this
valuation, and those assumed at the previous valuation.

Table 8.2: Summary nil settlement rate assumptions

Current Previous

Valuation Valuation
Mesothelioma 7.0% 7.0%
Asbestosis 11.0% 9.0%
Lung Cancer 25.0% 23.0%
ARFPD & Other 10.0% 13.0%
Wharf 10.0% 15.0%

Workers Compensation | 97.0% 97.0%
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9.2
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EConomic and Other
Assumptions

Overview
The two main economic assumptions required for our valuation are:

#»  The underlying claims inflation assumptions adopted to project the future claims
settlement amounts and related costs.

= The discount rate adopted for the present value determinations.
We also discuss the basis of derivation of other valuation assumptions, being:
»  The cross-claim recavery rate; and

+  The pattern of settlement of future reported claims and pending claims.

Claims inflation

‘We are required to make assumptions about the future rate of inflation of claims costs.

‘We have adopted a standard Australian actuarial claims inflation model for liabilities of the
type considered in this report that is based on:

= Anunderlying, or base, rate of general economic inflation relevant to the liabilities, in this
case based on wage/salary (earnings) inflation; and

= A rate of superimposed inflation, i.e. the rate at which claims costs inflation exceeds
base inflation.

Base inflation

We have adopted a long-term base (wage) inflation assumption of 4.00% per annum. This is
unchanged from the previous valuation assumption.

With the current prevailing economic conditions, including lower yields and implied lower
outlook for inflation measures, we consider it appropriate to select lower short term
assumptions for base inflation.

In the short to medium term, we have adopted 3.75% as the base assumption for 201818
and 4,00% for 2019/20. We have assumed that the long-term rates of base inflation (4.00%
per annum} will apply from 2020/21 onwards

The following table summarizes the base inflation assumptions we have selected for the

current and previous valuations.




9.2.2

Table 9.1: Base inflation assurnptions

Current

Valuation
201718 nia 3.50%
201819 3.75% 3.75%
2019720 4.00% 4.00%
Long-term 4.00% 4.00%

These assumptions apply both to claims awards and legal costs.

Superimposed inflation

Supermposed inflation is a term commanly used by Australian actuaries to measure the rate
at which average claims costs escalate in excess of a base (usually wagel inflation measure,

As a result, superimposed inflation is a8 “catcheall” for a range of potential factors affecting
claims costs, including (but not limited to):

= Courts making compensation payments in relation to new heads of damage;
«  Courts changing the levels of compensation paid for existing heads of damage;

»  Advancements in medical treatments — for example, this could lead to higher medical
treatment costs (e.g. the cost of the use of new drug treatments};

»  Allowance for medical costs to rise faster than wages because of the use of enhanced
medical technologies;

= Changes in life expectancy;

*  Changes in retirement age - this would have the potential to increase future economic
loss awards;

. Changes in the relative share of the liability to be borne by the Liable Entities’ fwhich we
refer to as “the contribution rate”) and which might result from changes in the number
of defendants joined in claims;

=  Changes in the mix of claims costs by different heads of damage; and
«  Changes in the mix of claimants by age of claimant.

Additionally, superimposed inflation also captures those characteristics of claims experience
which might have different relative claim sizes but which are currently modelled in aggregate
(rather than explicitly and separately modelled). This includes factors such as:

= Changes in the mix of claims between direct and cross claims;
#  Changes in the mix of claims between renowvator and non-renovator claims; and
#  Changes in the mix of claims by the numbers of defendants to each claim.

Whilst the future rate of superimposed inflation is uncertain, and not predictable from ona
year to the next, itis of note that the average claim costs appear to have been relatively stable
in recent years (after adjusting for wage inflation) and that, if anything, average claim sizes




have trended downwards in recent years. As discussed elsewhere in this report, this reflects
the changing mix of claimants by claimant age (shifting towards older claimants).

Furthermore, the emergence of new or expanding heads of damage does not tend to proceed
smaoothly but progresses in “steps”, depending on the outcome of legislative and other
developments,

We have reviewed the rate of inflation of claims costs by settlement year for the past 18 years
for mesothelioma claims, We have assessed this by analysing inflated claim costs and
therefore the following chart measures the trend in the rate of superimposed inflation.

We have separately considerad each of the four age groups to detect whether superimposed
inflation is emerging in some or all of the age groups.

Figure 9.1: Average mescthelioma awards of the Liable Entities (inflated to mid 201718
money terms) by age of claimant
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For claimants under 60 years of age, the rate of superimposed inflation:
*  Averaged (0.2)% per annum for 2000/01 to 2017/18;

+  Averaged (0.81% per annum for 2002/03 to 2017/18;

= Averaged 1.2% per annum for 2004/05 to 2017/18;

+  Averaged 0.1% per annum for 2007/08 to 2017/18.

For claimants 60-70 years of age, the rate of superimposed inflation:
= Averaged {0.7)% per annum for 2000/01 to 2017/18;
«  Averaged {1.61% per annum for 2002/03 to 2017/18;

= Averaged 0.4% per annum for 2004/05 to 2017/18;

*  Averaged 0.2% per annum for 2007/08 to 2017/18.




For claimants 70-80 yvears of age, the rate of superimposed inflation:
*  Averaged 0.1% per annum for 2000/01 to 2017/18;

= Averaged (0.8)% per annum for 2002/03 ta 2017/18;

*  Averaged 0.2% per annum for 2004/05 to 2017118;

«  Averaged 0.9% per annum for 2007/08 to 2017/18.

For claimants 80+ years of age, the rate of superimposed inflation:
*  Avaeraged 1.0% per annum for 2000/01 to 2017/18;

=« Averaged (2.51% per annum for 2002/03 to 2017/18;

*  Averaged (1.3)% per annum for 2004/05 to 2017/18;

= Averaged 10.31% per annum for 2007/08 to 2017118,

The actuarial approach for this report is to take an average view for superimpesed inflation to
be apphed over the long-term, noting that there will necessarily be dewiations from this
average on an annual basis and that cashflows are projected for the next 50 or more years.

Weighing all of the evidence together, and in particular recognising that the period since
2000/01 has generally been benign, we have adopted an assumed long-term rate of future
superimposed inflation of claims awards of 2.00% per annum.

This assumption is applied to the claim awards for each of the four age groups for
mesothelioma and is alse applied to the claim awards for other disease types.

There is no superimposed inflation applied to legal costs.
The assumption for superimposead inflation is unchanged from the previous valuation.

The outcermne of this assumption is a "superimposed inflation allowance” of approximately
$250m on & discounted central estimate basis and approximately $380m on an inflated and
undiscounted central estimate basis.




9.3

Discount rates: Commonwealth bond zero coupon yields

We have calculated the zero coupon vield curve at 31 March 2018 underlying the prices,
coupons and durations of Commonwealth Government Bonds for the purpose of discounting
the liabilities for this repart.

The use of such discount rates is consistent with standard Australian actuarial practice for
such liabilities, is in accordance with the Institute of Actuaries of Australia’s Professional
Standard PS300 and is also consistent with our understanding of the Australian accounting

standards.
The chart below shows the assumptions for the current valuation and the previous valuation.
Figure 9.2: Zero coupon yield curve by duration
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‘We observe that the long-term discount rate assumption that we have adopted (5.50% per
annum) does not materially affect the overall Discounted Central Estimate. This is because
the vast majority of the future cashflows (more than 85% are projected to be paid over the
next 18 years,

By way of illustration, if we selectad a long-term discount rate of 5.00% per annum, the
Discounted Central Estimate would increase by approximataly $4m (0.2%).

The long-term discount rate we have selected (5.50% per annum) has been set to be broadly
consistent with our selected long-term wage inflation assumption (4.00% per annum}




94 Cross-claim recovery rates

The following chart shows how the experience of cross-claim recoveries has varied over the
last seven years, both in monetary terms and expressed as & percentage of gross payments.

Figure 9.3: Cross-claim recovery experience
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Cross claim recoveries reduced year on year from 2012/13 10 2015/16, both in absolute terms
and as a percentage of gross payments. In 2016/17, there was a material increase in the level
of cross-claim recoveries. There was a further increase in 2017/18.

Ower the seven-year period, cross claim recoveries have been approximately 3.0% of claims
awards.

In light of the additicnal year of experience, we have now increased our assumption for cross-
claim recoveries to be 2.5% of claims awards (31 March 2017: 1.5%).




9.5

Settlement Patterns

Trigngulation methods are used to derive the past pattern of setlement of claims and are
used in forming a view on future settlement patterns.

The following triangles provide an illustrative example of how we perform this:

Figure 9.4: Settlement pattern derivation for mesothelioma claims: paid as % of ultimate
cost
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Figure 8.5: Settlement pattern derivation for non-mesathelioma claims: paid as % of
ultimate cost
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We have estimated the sattlement pattern for future claim reporting as follows:

Table 9.2: Settlement pattern of claims awards by delay from claim reporting

Delay (years) Mesothelioma

0 60.0%

1 35.0%

2 3.0%

3 1.0% 5.0%
4 0.5% 1.0%
5 0.3% 0.5%
6 0.2% 0.5%
7 0.0% 0.5%
8 0.0% 0.5%
9 0.0% 0.0%

These assumed settlements patterns have been modified slightly since our previous
wvaluation, resulting in an assurmption of a slight speeding-up for both mesothelioma claim and
non-mesothelioma claim settlements.

For mescthelioma, we have adopted one pattern (for all four age groups) because analysis of
the average time to settlement for each of the four age groups was not materially different to
the overall average time to settlement aggregated across all age groups ithere was less than
one maonth's variation).




10 Valuation ResLIts

10.1

Central estimate liability

At 31 March 2018, our projected central estimate of the liabilities of the Liable Entities the
Discounted Central Estimate) to be met by the AICF Trust is §1,852.9m (March 2017
$1,740.1m).

‘We have not allowed for the future Operating Expenses of the AICF Trust or the Liable Entities
in the liability assessment.

The following table shows a summary of our central estimate liability assessment and
compares the current assessment with our previous valuation,

Table 10.1: Comparison of central estimate of liabilities

Gross of Met of
insurance Insurance insurance insurance
recoveries | recoveries | recoveries | recoveries
Total uninflated and
e S 15173 744 14429 13857
Inflation allowance 9727 37 8380 a0
[Total Inflated and 24800 108.1 23808 21897
;undlswuntsﬂ cash-flows
Discounting allowance (551.8) (237) (528.0) (459.6)
fist prasent yalus 19282 854 18529 1,740.1
|liabilities




Comparison with previous valuation

In the absence of any change to the claim projection assurnptions from our 31 March 2017
waluation, other than allowing for the changes in the discount rate, we would have projected
a Discounted Central Estimate liability of $1,657.1m as at 31 March 2018,

This is a decrease of $83.0m relative to the valuation result at 31 March 2017, and this is due

o

A reduction of $119.9m, being the net impact of expected claims payments (which
reduce the liability} and the "unwind of discount” (to reflect the fact that cashflows are
now One year nearer).

Anincrease of $36.9m resulting from changeas to the yield curve between 31 March 2017
and 31 March 2018,

Our liability assessment at 31 March 2018 of $1,852 9m represents an increase of $195.8m,
which arises from changes to the actuarial assumptions. The increase is principally a
consequence of:

.

The revised modelling approach for mesothelioma which has allowed for higher numbers
of claims after 2025 partially offset by reductions in average sizes by allowing for the
impact of claimant age; and

An increase to the base level of mesothelioma claims for 2018/19 and the consequential
impact this has on the number of claims in all future years;

offset by

Removal of the allowance for Sullivan vs Gordon in Victoria {see Section 1.3.3 of this
Report);

Increased allowance for cross-claim recoveries: and

Reductions for average claim sizes and defence legal costs for other disease types.




The following chart shows an analysis of the change in our liability assessments from
31 March 2017 to 31 March 2018 on a discounted basis.

Figure 10.1: Analysis of change in central estimate liability (discounted basis)
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signal that this factor has given rise 1o a reduction in the liability,




Comparison of valuation results since 30 September 2006

We have analysed how our valuation results have changed since the Initial Report (as defined
in the Amended Final Funding Agreement) at 30 September 2006.

The table below shows the results over time.

We have used the inflated and undiscounted results as the comparison. We consider this to
be the most appropriate assessment as it removes the impacts of changes in discount rates
and the “unwind of the discount”.

Table 10.2: Comparison of valuation results since 30 September 2006
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Note: For FY2007, the starting valuation (83, 169m) is the valuation at 30 September 2008, not the
valuation at 31 Mareh 2006.

The table shows that whilst there have been some years where there have been increases
and some years where there have been decreases arising from changes to actuarial valuation
assumptions, over the period from 30 September 2006 to 31 March 2018 the valuation has
increased by approximately $200m (6% of the valuation contained in the Initial Report).

In terms of net cashflows, actual net payments of $989m have been made since 30
September 2006. This compares with an estimate of $1,203m projected for the same period
(1 October 2006 to 31 March 2018) in the valuation at 30 Septernber 2008,

After allowing for removal of the beneficial impact of HIH, Equitas and other commutations
(5183m), actual net cashflows have been approximately 531m (2 6%) below those projected
in the valuation at 30 September 2006.

Gross cashflows over the same period have been $32m (2.3%) below those projected in the
wvaluation at 30 September 2006 {$1,364m vs $1,396m).




10.4  Cashflow projections
10.41  Historical cashflow expenditure

The following chart shows the historical expenditure by the Liable Entities relating to
ashestos-related claim settlements since the formation of AICFL.

Figure 10.2: Historical claim-related expenditure of the Liable Entities
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Gross cashflow payments in the 12 months to 31 March 2018 were $139.7m (FY17:
$125.0m}

Gross cashflow was lower than expectations by $15m, primarily due to the lower average
claim size of mesothelioma claims which were 17% below expectations, together with lower
expenditure on large mesothelioma claims, which were $11m favourable to expectations,
partially offset by higher numbers of claims settlements compared with expectations.

Actual net cashilow in 201718 was $23m lower than the net cashflow projected for 2017118
($146.7m) in our 31 March 2017 valuation report.
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Key changes in cashflow projections by peried of cashflow

The following table summarises how the projected cashflows compare batween the current
and previous valuation.

Table 10.3: Comparizon of projected cashflows by period

FY2018 47
Fraoa 164
Fran 164
FY1-F¥15 20
450
421

F¥26- FYi0
FY31-Frag
FYal - Fyas 8
1 April 2045 onwards. 33
Total 2,200 2,505 305
FY2018 to FY2025 1,194 1,167 -27
FY2026 anwards Loos 1.337 3R

Note: Figures may not add “on sight " due ta rounding

It can be seen that the impact of the revised valuation modelling approach has most
substantially impacted the period from 1 April 2025 and onwards. By way of illustration:

*  Projected cashflows for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2025 have decreased by
$27m (2.5% of the pravious valuation cashflows),

*  Projected cashflows for the period from 1 April 2025 onwards have increased by $332m
133% of the previous valuation cashflows).
Future cashflow projections

The fallowing chart shows the projected net cashflows underlying our current valuation and
the projected net cashflow projection underlying our previous valuation at 31 March 2017,

Figure 10.3: Annual cashflow projections - inflated and undiscounted ($m}
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Given the extremely long-taled nature of asbestos-related liabilities, a small change in an
individual assumpticn can have a significant impact upon the cashflow profile of the liabilities.




Amended Final Funding Agreement calculations

The Amended Final Funding Agreement sets out the basis on which payments will be made
to the AICF Trust.

Additionally, there are a number of other figures specified within the Amended Final Funding
Agresmant that we are required to calculate. These are:

*  Discounted Central Estimate;

+  Term Central Estimate; and

*  Period Actuarial Estimate.

Table 10.4: Amended Final Funding Agreement calculations

Discounted Central Estimate {net of cross-claim recoveries,
Insurance and Other Recoveries)

Period Actuarial Estimate (net of cross—claim recoveries,
gross of nsurance and Other R ) comprising:

Discounted value of cashflowin 2018119 1471

Discounted value of cashflowin 2018/20 159.4

Discounted value of cashflowin 202021 156.2

Term Central Estimate (net of cross-claim recoveries,

Insurance and Other Recoveries) 18355

The actual funding amount due at a particular date will depend upon a number of factors,
including:

« the net asset position of the AICF Trust at that time;

#  the free cash flow amount of the James Hardie Group in the preceding financial year;
and

= the Period Actuarial Estimate in the latest Annual Actuarial Report.




Insurance Recoveries

Our liability valuation has made allowance for a discounted central estimate of Insurance
Recoveries of $85.4m.

This estimate is comprised as follows:

Table 10.5: Insurance recoveries at 31 March 2018

Discounted

Bad and doubtiul dabt allpwance (product) (1.5) (1.1)

Public liability recoveres 108 &0
Bad and doubtful debt (public) (0.1) (0.1

Insurance recovery asset 109.1 854

2,380.9 1,852.9
4.4% 4.5%
1.5% 1.3%
alue of Insurance Policies
77.5

The combined bad and doubtful debt rate is 1.3% on a discounted basis (2017:2.5%)

The AICF Facility Agreement requires the Approved Actuary to calculate the discounted
central estimate value of certain Insurance Policies, being those specified in Schedule 5 of
the AICF Facility Agreement.

At 31 March 2018 the discounted central estimate of the Insurance Folicies, as specified in
Schedule 5 of the AICF Facility Agreement, is $77.5m {March 2017: $82.3m).




11 Uncertanty

i |

Overview

There is uncertainty involved in any valuation of the liabilities of an insurance company or a
seli-insurer. The sources of such uncertainty include, but are not limited to:

-

Paramater arror - this is the risk that the parameters and assumptions chosen ultimataly
prove not to be reflective of future experience

Medel error - this is the risk that the model selected for the valuation of the liabilities
ultimately proves not to be adequate for the projection of the liabilities.

Legal and social developments —this is the risk that the legal environment in which claims
are settled changes relative to its current and historical position thereby causing

significantly different awards.
Future actual rates of inflation being ditferent from that assumed.
The general economic environment baing different from that assumed.

Potential sources of exposure — this is the risk that there exist sources of exposure which
are as yet unknown or unguantifiable, or for which no liabilities have yet been observed,
but which may trigger future claims,

In the case of asbestos liabilities, these uncertainties are exacerbated by the extremely long

latency period from exposure to onset of disease and notification of a claim, Asbestosrelated
claims often take in excess of 40 years from original exposure to become notified and then
settled, compared with an average delay from exposure to settlerment of 4-5 years for many
other compensation-type liabilities such as Comprehensive Third-Party injury liabilities or other
‘Workers Compensation iabilities

Specific forms of uncertainty relating to asbestos-related disease liabilities include:

The difficulty in quantifying the extent and pattemn of past asbestos exposures and the
number and incidence of the ultimate number of lives that may be affected by asbestos
related diseases arising from such past asbestos exposures;

The timing of the peak level and future pattern of incidence of claims reporting for
mesothelioma;

The propensity of individuals affected by disesses arising from such exposure to file
common law claims against defendants;

The extent to which the Liable Entities will be joined in such future common law claims;

The mix of claimants by age. in particular noting the shift towards older claimants and
which has had a downwards effect on average claim sizes in recent years;




= The fact that the ultimate severity of the impact of the disease and the quantum of the
claims that will be awarded will be subject to the outcome of events that have not yet
oceurred, including:

- medical and epidemiological developments, including those relating to life
expectancy in general;

- court interpretations;
legislative changes;

- changes to the form and range of benefits for which compensation may be awarded
("heads of damaga");

- public attitudes to claiming;

- the potential for future procedural reforms in NSW and other States affecting the
legal costs incurred in managing and settling claims;

- potential third-wave exposures; and

social and economic conditions such as inflation.

Sensitivity testing

As we have noted above, there are many sources of uncertainty, Actuaries often perform
"sensitivity testing” to identify the impact of different assumptions on future experience,
thereby providing an indication of the degree of parameter error risk to which the valuation
assessment is exposed,

Sensitivity testing may be considered as being a mechanism for testing “what will the
liabilities be if instead of choosing [x] for assumption lal we choose [vI?” It is also a
mechanism for identifying how the result will change if experience turns out different in a
particular way relative to that which underlies the central estimate expectations. As such, it
provides an indication of the lavel of variability inherent in the valuation.

‘We have performed some sensitivity tests of the results of our central estimate valuation. We
hava saensitivity tested the following factors:

=  number of claims notified: 10% sbove and below our central estimate assumption.

« average claim cost of a non-nil ¢laim: 5% above and below our central estimate
assumption.

+ nil settlement rate: 2 percentage points sbove and below our central estimate
assumptian,

+  superimposed inflation: being 0% per annum or 4% per annum over all future years.

. heli incid F we have tested the impact of shifting out the pattern
of incidence by two further years.




There are other factors which influence the liability assessment and which could be sensitivity
tested, including:

*  The cross-Claim recavery rate:

= The variation in timing of claim notifications (but with no change in the overall number of
notifications); and

=  The pattern and delay of claim settlements frem claim notification.

We have not sensitivity tested these factors, wiewing them as being of less financial
significance individually.

Ve have not sensitivity tested the value of Insurance Recoveries as uncertainties typically
relate to legal risk and disputation risk, and it is not possible to parameterise a sensitivity test
in an informed manner.

We have not included a sensitivity test for the impact of changes in discount rates although,
as noted in this Report, changes in discount rates can introduce significant volatility to the
Discounted Central Estimate result reported at each year-and.

Results of sensitivity testing

The chart below shows the impact of various individual sensitivity tests on the Discounted
Central Estimate of the liabilities, and of a combined sensitivity test of a number of factors.

Although we have tested multiple scenarios of each assumption, one cannot gauge an overall
potential range by simply adding these tests together, Accordingly, we have prepared a range
based on a combination of factors.

Figure 11.1: Sensitivity testing results — Impact around the Discounted Central Estimate {in
$mi)
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Figure 11.2: Sensitivity testing results - Impact around the undiscounted central estimate (in
$m)
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The single most sensitive assumption shown in the chart is the incidence pattem of
mesothelioma claims reporting against the Liable Entities. Shifting the pattern of incidence by
2 years could add approximately $325m (18%) on a discounted basis to our valuation (as
shown in Figure 11.1 by the scenario labelled "mesothelioma incidence pattern™)

Table 11.1: Summary results of sensitivity analysis ($m)

Central estimate 23809 1,8529
Low Scenario 1.681.3 1,347.2
High Scenario 4,209.8 3,062.0

Whilst the table above indicates a range around the discounted central estimate of liabilities
ot -$506m to +81,209m, the actual cost of liabilities could fall outside that range depending
on the actual experience.

We further note that these sensitivity test ranges are not intended to correspond to a specified
probability of sufficiency nor are they intended to indicate an upper bound or & lower bound
of all possible outcomes
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[ Glossary of terms used inthe
Amended Final Funding
Adreement

The following provides a glossary of terms which are referenced in the Amended Final Funding
Agreement and upan which we have relied in preparing our report.

The aperation of these definitions cannot be considered in isolation but instead need to be considered
in the context of the totality of the Amended Final Funding Agreement.

AICF means the trustes of the Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund from time to time, in its capacity
as trustee, initially being Asbestos Injuries Cormpansation Fund Limited.

These terms also need to be read in conjunction with the Deed of Amendment dated 19 December
2017 which added a new clause (13.4A) and which is effective from 1 January 2018

AICF Funded Liability means:
(@) any Proven Claim;
(bh Qperating Expenses;
(c) Claims Legal Costs;

(dh any claim that was made or brought in legal proceedings against a Former James Hardie
Company commenced before 1 December 2005,

(e} Statutory Recoveries within the meaning and subject to the limits set out in the
Amended Final Funding Agreement;

(f) a claim or category of claim which James Hardie and the NSW Government agree in
writing is a "AICF Funded Liability"” or a category of "AICF Funded Liability".

but in the cases of paragraphs (al, (c) and (di excludes any such liabilities or claims to the extent that
they have been recovered or are recaverable under & Worker's Compensation Scheme or Palicy.

Claims Legal Costs means all costs, charges, expenses and outgoings incurred or expected to be
borne by AICF or the Former James Hardie Companies, in respect of legal advisors, other advisors,
experts, court proceedings and other dispute resolution mathods in connection with Personal Asbestos
Claims and Marlew Claims but in all cases excluding any costs included as a component of calculating
a Proven Claim.




Concurrent Wrongdoer in relation to a personal injury or death claim for demages under comman law
or other law (excluding any law introduced or imposed in breach of the restrictions on adverse regulatory
or legislative action against the James Hardie Group under the Amended Final Funding Agreement, and
which breach has been notified to the NSW Government in accordance with Amended Final Funding
Agreement), means a person whose acts or omissions, together with the acts or omissions of one or
mare Former James Hardie Companies or Marlew or any member of the James Hardie Group (whether
or not together with any other persons) caused, independently of each other or jointly, the damage or
loss to another person that is the subject of that claim.

Contribution Claim means & cross-claim or other claim under comman law or ather |aw (excluding any
law introduced or imposed in breach of the restrictions on adverse regulatory or legislative action
against the James Hardie Group under the Amended Final Funding Agreement, and which breach has
been netified to the NSW Government in accordance with Amended Final Funding Agresment)

fa) for contribution by a Concurrent Wrongdoer against a Farmer James Hardie Company
or a member of the James Hardie Group in relation to facts or circumstances which
give rise to a right of a person to make a Personal Asbestos Claim or a Marlew Claim;
or

(b) by another person who is entitled under common law lincluding by way of contract) to
be subrogated to such a first mentioned cross-claim or other claim;

Di i Central E means the central estimate of the present value {determined using the
discount rate used within the relevant actuarial report) of the liabilities of the Former James Hardie
Companies and Marlew in respect of expected Proven Claims and Claims Legal Costs, calculated in
accordance with the Amended Final Funding Agreement.

Excluded Claims are any of the following liabilities of the Former James Hardie Companies:
(i} persanal injury or death claims arising from exposure to Asbestos outside Australia;

(i) personal injury or death claims arising from exposure to Asbestos made outside
Aystralia:

(i} claims for economic loss (other than any economic loss forming part of the calculation
of an award of damages for personal injury or death) or loss of property, including those
relating to land remediation and/or Asbestos or Asbestos products removal, arising out
of or in connection with Asbestos or Asbestos preducts manufactured, sold, distributed
or used by or on behalf of the Liable Entities;

(i} any Excluded Marlew Claim;
() any liabilities of the Liable Entities other than AICF Funded Liabilities.
Excluded Marlew Claim means a Marlew Claim:

(1] coveraed by the indemnities granted by the Minister of Mineral Resources under the
deed between the Minister, Fuller Earthmoving Pty Limited and James Hardie
Industries Limited dated 11 March 1996; or

(bh by a current or former employee of Marlew in relation to an exposure to Asbestos in
the course of such employment to the extent;

{il the loss is recoverable under a Worker's Compensation Scheme or Policy; or




ib the Claimant is not unable to recover damages from a Marlew Joint Tortfeasor
in accordance with the Marlew Legislation;

o) by an individual who was or is an employee of a person other than Marlew arising from
exposure to Asbestos in the course of such employment by that other person where
such loss is recoverable from that person or under a Worker's Compensation Schame
or Policy; or

(d) in which anather defendant (orits insurer) is a Marlew Joint Tortfeasor from whom the
plaintiff is entitled 10 recover compensation in proceedings in the Dust Diseases
Tribunal, and the Claimant is not unable to recover damages from that Marlew Joint
Tortfeasor in accordance with the Marlew Legislation.

Former James Hardie Companies means Amaca, Amaba and ABN 80

Insurance and Other Recoveries means any proceeds which may reasonably be expected to be
recovered or recoverable for the account of a Former Jarmes Hardie Company or to result in the
satisfaction (in whale or part) of a liability of a Farmer James Hardie Carnpany (ot any nature) to a third
party, under any product liability insurance policy or public liability insurance policy or commutation of
such policy or under any ather contract, including any contract of indemnity, but excluding any such
amount recovered or recoverable under a Worker's Compensation Scheme or Policy.

Liable Entities see Former Jameas Hardie Companies.

Marlew means Marlew Mining Pty Ltd (in liquidation), ACM 000 049 650, previously known as Asbestos
Mines Pty Ltd.

Marlew Claim means, subject to the limitation on Statutory Recoveries, a claim which satisfies one of
the following paragraphs and which is not an Excluded Marlew Claim:

fa) any present or future personal injury or death claim by an individual or the legal personal
representative of an individual, for damages under common law or other law (excluding
any law introduced or imposed in breach of the restrictions on adverse regulatory or
legislative action against the James Hardie Group under the Amended Final Funding
Agreement, and which breach has been notified to the NSW Government in accordance
with the Amended Final Funding Agreement) which:

{il arose or arises from exposure to Asbestos in the Baryulgil region from
Asbestos Mining Activities at Baryulgil conducted by Marlew, provided that:

A the individual's exposure to Asbestos occurred wholly within Australia;
or
E. where the individual has been exposed to Asbestos bath within and

cutside Australia, the amount of damages included in the Marlew Claim
shall be limited to the amount attributable to the proportion of the
exposure which caused or contributed to the loss or damage giving rise
to the Marlew Claim which occurred in Australia;

iy is commenced in New South Wales in the Dust Diseases Tribunal; and




i} is or could have been made against Marlew had Marlew not been in external
administration or wound up, or could be made against Marlew on the
assumption (other than as contemplated under the Marlew legislation) that
Iarlew will nat be in the future in external administration;

(b} any claim made under compensation to relatives legislation by a relative of a deceased
individual {or personal representative of such a relative) or {where permitted by law) the
legal personal representative of a deceased individual in each case where the individual,
but for such individual’s death, would have been entitlad to bring a claim of the kind
described in paragraph (a); or

(c) a Contribution Claim relating to a claim described in paragraphs (al or {b).

Marlew Joint Tortfeasor means any person who is or would be jointly and severally liable with Marlew
in respact of a Marlew Claim, had Marlew not been in external administration or wound up, or on tha
assumption that Marlew will not in the future be, in external administration or wound up other than as
contemplated under the Marlew Legislation.

Payable Liability means any of the following:
fa) any Proven Claim (whether arising before or after the date of this deed);
(bl Operating Expenses;
lc) Claims Legal Costs;

(dh any liability of & Former James Hardie Company to the AICFL, however arising, in
respect of any amounts paid by the AICFL in respect of any liability or otherwise on
behalf of the Former James Hardie Company;

[=1] any claim that was made or brought in legal proceedings against a Former Jamas Hardie
Company commenced before 1 Decemnber 2005,

(f} if regulations are made pursuant to section 30 of tha Transaction Legislation and if and
to the extent the AICFL and James Hardie have notified the NSW Government that any
such liability is to be included in the scope of Payable Liability, any liability of a Former
James Hardie Company to pay amounts received by it from an insurer in respect of a
liability to & third party incurred by it for which it is or was insured under a contract of

insurance entered into befere 2 December 2008; and

lah Statutory Recoveries within the meaning and subject to the limits set out in the

Amended Final Funding Agreement,

but in the cases of paragraphs (a), (c] and {el excludes any such liabilities or claims to the extent that
they have been recovered or are recoverable under & Warker's Compensation Scheme or Policy.

Period Actuarial Estimate means, in respect of a period, the central estimate of the present valus
(determined using the discount rate used in the relevant actuarial report) of the lisbilities of the Former
James Hardie Companias and Marlew in respect of expected Proven Claims and Claims Legal Costs
(in each case which are reasonably expected to become payable in that period), before allawing for
Insurance and Other Recoveries, calculated in accordance with the Amended Final Funding Agreement.




Personal Asbestos Claim means any present or future personal injury or death claim by an individual
or the legal personal representative of an individual, for damages under common law or under other
law (excluding any law introduced or imposed in breach of the restrictions on adverse regulatory or
legislative action against the James Hardie Group under the Amended Final Funding Agreement, and
which breach has been notified to the NSW Government under the Amended Final Funding Agreement}

which:
(a) arises from exposure to Asbestos occurring in Australia, provided that:

{ih the individual's exposure 1o Asbestos occurred whally within Australia; or

b where the individual has been exposed to Ashestos both within and outside
Australia, damages included in the Marlew Claim shall be limited to the amount
attributable to the propartion of the exposure which caused or contributed to
the loss or damage giving rise to the Parsonal Asbastos Claim which ococurred
in Australia;

(b} is made in proceedings in an Australian court or tribunal; and

[1&1] is made against:

{it all or any of the Liable Entities; or
iy any member of the James Hardie Group from time to time;

(dh any claim made under compensation to relatives legislation by a relative of a deceased
individual for personal representative of such a relative) or (where permitted by law) the
lagal personal representative of a deceased individual in each case where the individual,
but for such individual's death, would have been entitled to bring & claim of the kind
described in paragraph {a); or

(e} a Contribution Claim made in relation to a claim described in paragraph (a) or (b)

but excludes all claims covered by a Worker's Compensation Scheme ar Policy.

Proven Claim means a proven Personal Asbestos Claim in respect of which final judgment has been
given against, or & binding settlernent has been entered inta by, a Former James Hardie Company, ta
the extent to which that entity incurs lisbility under that judgment or settlement, or a Praven Marlew
Claim,

Statutory Recoveries means any statutory entitlement of the NSW Government or any Other
Government or any governmental agency or authority of any such government {"Relevant Body") to
impose liability an or to recover an amount or amounts from any person in respect of any payments
made or to be made or benefits provided by a Relevant Body in respect of claims lother than as a
defendant or in settlement of any claim, including & cross-claim or claim for contribution)

Term means the period

(it from the date on which the principal obligations under the Amended Final Funding
Agreement will commence to 31 March 2045,

(i) as may be extended in accordance with the terms of the Amended Final Funding
Agreement.




Term Central Estimate means the central estimate of the present value (determined using the
discount rate used in the relevant Annual Actuarial Reportl of the liabilities of the Former James Hardie
Companies and Marlew in respect of expected Proven Claims and Claims Legal Costs (in each case
reasonably expected to become payable in the relevant period) after allowing for Insurance and Other
Recoveries during that period, from and including the day following the end of the Financial Year
preceding that Payment Date up to and including the last day of the Term (excluding any automatic or
potential extension of the Term, unless or until the Term has been extended).

‘Work C ion Sch or Policy maeans any of the following:
(a) any worker's compensation scheme established by any law of the Commonwealth or
of any State or Teritory;
(b} any fund established to cover liabilties under insurance policies upon the actual or

prospactive insolvency of the insurer (including without limitation the Insurar Guarantes
Fund astablished under the Worker's Compensation Act 1987 (NSW)); and

(el any policy of insurance issued under or pursuant to sueh a scheme.
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9 MNatification of dividend [ distribution Exhibit 99.7

Notification of dividend / distribution

Announcement Summary

Entity name
JAMES HARDIE INDUSTRIES PLC

Security on which the Distribution will be paid
JHX - CHESS DEPOSITARY INTERESTS 1:1

Announcement Type
New announcement

Date of this announcement
Tuesday May 22, 2018

Distribution Amount
UsD 0.30000000

Ex Date
Wednesday June 6, 2018

Record Date
Thursday June 7, 2018

Payment Date

Friday August 3, 2018

Refer to below for full details of the announcement

Announcement Details

Part 1 - Entity and announcement details

1.1 Name of +Entity
JAMES HARDIE INDUSTRIES PLC

Registration Number
1.2 Registered Number Type
ARBN 097820885

1.3 ASX issuer code
JHX

1.4 The announcement is
New announcement
1.5 Date of this announcement

Tuesday May 22, 2018

1.6 ASX +Security Code
JHX

Notification of dividend / distribution 174




0 Matification of dividend / distribution

ASX +Security Description
CHESS DEPOSITARY INTERESTS 1:1

Part 2A - All dividends/distributions basic details

2A.1 Type of dividend/distribution

Ordinary

2A.2 The Dividend/distribution:

relates to a period of six months

2A.3 The dividend/distribution relates to the financial reporting or payment period ending
ended/ending (date)

Saturday March 31, 2018

2A_4 +Record Date
Thursday June 7, 2018

2A.5 Ex Date
Wednesday June 6, 2018

2A.6 Payment Date
Friday August 3, 2018

2A.7 Are any of the below approvals required for the dividend/distribution before business day 0
of the timetable?

* Security holder approval

Court approval

Lodgement of court order with +ASIC

ACCC approval

FIRB approval

Another approvalicondition external to the entity required before business day 0 of the
timetable for the dividend/distribution.

- & ® ® °

No

2A.8 Currency in which the dividend/distribution is made ("primary currency”)
USD - US Dollar

2A.9 Total dividend/distribution payment amount
per +security (in primary currency) for all
dividends/distributions notified in this form

UsSD 0.30000000
2A.9a AUD equivalent to total

dividend/distribution amount per +security

2A.9b If AUD equivalent not known, date for
information to be released

Friday June 8, 2018

Estimated or Actual?
Actual
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0 Notification of dividend / distribution

2A.10 Does the entity have arrangements
relating to the currency in which the
dividend/distribution is paid to securityholders
that it wishes to disclose to the market?

Yes

2A.11 Does the entity have a securities plan for
dividends/distributions on this +security?

We do not have a securities plan for
dividends/distributions on this security

2A.12 Does the +entity have tax component
information apart from franking?

No

2A.13 Withholding tax rate applicable to the dividend/distribution
20.000000

Part 2B - Currency Information

2B.1 Does the entity default to payment in certain currencies dependent upon certain attributes
such as the banking instruction or registered address of the +securityholder? (For example NZD
to residents of New Zealand and/or USD to residents of the U.S.A.).

No
2B.2 Please provide a description of your currency arrangements

The dividend is payable in Australian currency unless the securityholder elects otherwise,

Part 3A - Ordinary dividend/distribution

3A.1 Is the ordinary dividend/distribution 3A.1a Ordinary dividend/distribution estimated
estimated at this time? amount per +security

No ush

3A.1b Ordinary Dividend/distribution amount per
security
USD 0.30000000

34.2 |s the ordinary dividend/distribution
franked?
No

3A.3 Percentage of ordinary
dividend/distribution that is franked

0.0000 %

3A.4 Ordinary dividend/distribution franked 3A.5 Percentage amount of dividend which is
amaunt per +security unfranked

UsSD 0.00000000 100.0000 %

Motification of dividend / distribution




0 Notification of dividend / distribution

3A.6 Ordinary dividend/distribution unfranked
amount per +security excluding conduit foreign
income amount

USD 0.30000000

Part 5 - Further information

5.1 Please provide any further information applicable to this dividend/distribution

5.2 Additional information for inclusion in the Announcement Summary

Motification of dividend / distribution
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